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Request for Proposals #2023-0058 
Auditing & Tax Services 

PART 1 – GENERAL INFORMATION  

 

1.1 About Atlanta Housing 

 

The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia (“Atlanta Housing” or “AH”) is the largest housing authority 
in Georgia and one of the largest in the nation. AH provides and facilitates affordable housing resources for over 

23,000 low-income households. These affordable housing resources include AH-owned residential communities, 

AH-sponsored mixed-income, mixed-finance residential communities, tenant-based vouchers, HomeFlex 

Program (formerly Project Based Rental Assistance Program), supportive housing arrangements, and 

homeownership opportunities.  

 

Atlanta Housing has broad corporate powers including, but not limited to, the power to acquire, manage, own, 

operate, develop and revitalize affordable housing. AH’s programs are funded and regulated by the U.S. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”). Using its Moving to Work flexibility, AH has 
implemented a variety of innovations that benefit low-income families and expand housing choice. AH’s 
approach to providing quality affordable housing and human development services is based on the belief that 

people can do better when given access to quality living environments and the tools they need to become self-

sufficient. To learn more about AH and its history, mission and business plan, Respondents are encouraged to 

visit AH’s website www.atlantahousing.org. 

 

1.2 Solicitation Purpose 

 

It is the intention of The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia (“AH”) to enter into a contract with 
one (1) qualified independent certified public accounting firm to provide audit, tax and related services for AH 

and its component units, as specified in this Request for Proposals (“RFP”).  Audit services shall include: (i) an 
Independent Auditors’ Report on AH’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report and Independent Auditors’ 
Report (“ACFR”) and (ii) Reports of Independent Certified Public Accountants in Accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards and Uniform Guidance (Single Audit) for the contract period. Respondent must also provide 

tax return preparation and related services for AH’s not-for-profit and for-profit affiliate corporate entities. 

 

1.3 Schedule of Events 

 

The following is the Schedule of Events and is AH’s estimate of the timetable for this solicitation:   

 

EVENTS DATE AND/OR TIME 

RFP 

Released 
Thursday, February 23, 2023 

Deadline 

for 

Questions 

and/or 

Comments 

Wednesday, March 01, 2023 by 12:00 P.M., EDT 

Proposal 

Due Date 

and Time  

Thursday, March 23, 2023 by 5:00 P.M., EDT 

 

 

http://www.atlantahousing.org/
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1.4  Communications 

 

In order to maintain a fair and impartial competitive process, AH and any outside consultants assisting AH with 

this solicitation, shall avoid private communication concerning this procurement with prospective Respondents 

during the entire procurement process. From the issue date of this RFP until the final award is announced, 

Respondents are not allowed to communicate about this RFP for any reason with any AH staff and/or outside 

consultants assisting AH with this solicitation except: 

 

• through the RFP Point of Contact named below; 

• as otherwise specified in this RFP; and / or 

• as provided by existing work agreement(s) (if any) 

 

Prohibited communication includes all contact, including but not limited to, telephonic communications, emails, 

faxes, letters, or personal meetings, such as lunch, entertainment, or otherwise. AH reserves the right to reject 

the quote of any Respondent violating this provision. 

 

A. Questions must be submitted via the Q&A Board on AH’s Business Management Portal. AH will receive 

requests for additional information and/or clarification relative to this solicitation between Thursday, 

February 23, 2023 and 12:00 P.M. EDT, Wednesday, March 01, 2023. 

 

B.  Responses to these questions will be addressed in writing via the AH’s electronic procurement system. 
AH will not respond to requests for information after the date stated above. It is the responsibility of 

the Respondent to monitor AH’s website for any addenda issued. All Respondents are encouraged to 

frequently check AH’s website/portal for additional information. 
 

All requests for information or clarification pertaining to this solicitation must be addressed in writing. 

 

RFP Point of Contact 

LaTasha Cole 

Purchasing Analyst 

The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia 

Contracts & Procurement Department  

230 John Wesley Dobbs Avenue, NE  5th Floor 

Atlanta, Georgia 30303-2421 

 

1.5 Contract Period 

 

The initial contract term shall be for three years from the contract execution date, with options to renew for up 

to four (4) one-year terms.   
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PART 2 – SCOPE OF WORK 

2.1 Scope of Work and Specific Requirements 

 

AH intends to enter into a contract with one (1) qualified independent certified public accounting firm to provide 

audit, tax and related services specified in this RFP for AH and its seven (7) not-for-profit and one (1) for-profit 

affiliate corporate entities as further described below: 

 

• The successful firm must prepare an ACFR for AH’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2023 (“Financial Audit”).  AH 
received an unmodified opinion in the report issued for the fiscal years ended on June 30, 2021 and June 30, 

2020, as well as the preceding years.  

 

• The Financial Audit must be conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 

United States of America (“GAAS”) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 

Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, as the same may be amended 

from time to time. The auditor’s report must express an opinion on whether AH’s basic financial statements 
are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 

the United States of America (“GAAP”), as applicable to governmental entities. 
 

• AH’S basic financial statements are comprised of financial statements, namely Statements of Net Position, 
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position and Statements of Cash Flows, as well as the 

accompanying notes to the financial statements. The basic financial statements include the combined net 

position and results of operations of AH and its blended component units. No separate audited financial 

statements are issued for the individual component units or affiliate corporate entities.  Please refer to Note 

A of financial statements in AH’s ACFR for additional information on AH’s organization and nature of 
operations and Note B for a summary of significant accounting policies followed by AH in the preparation of 

its financial statements. 

 

• While not part of the basic financial statements, the successful Firm must apply certain limited procedures 

on Required Supplemental Information (“RSI”) required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

(“GASB”) as a supplement to the basic financial statements. The RSI includes the Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis (“MD&A”). The successful firm must address the fairness of the RSI when considered in relation 

to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

 

• Additionally, while not part of the basic financial statements, Other Supplementary Information is presented 

in AH’s ACFR for purposes of additional analysis and subject to certain limited procedures to be conducted 

by the successful Firm to ascertain its fairness when considered in relation to basic financial statements 

taken as a whole. These include schedules of program completion – costs and advances program certification 

required by HUD upon completion of each federal award. Please refer to AH’s ACFR for the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2021 and 2020 for additional details on other information provided. 

 

• AH’s basic financial statements, as well as the required and other supplementary information, are prepared 

by AH’s finance and supported by necessary analysis and documentation. AH’s finance department is 
comprised of 22 (twenty-two) staff members who perform Accounting/Reporting, Treasury Management 

and Budget/Forecasting functions.  

        

• The successful Firm must also prepare Reports of Independent Certified Public Accountants in Accordance 

with Government Auditing Standards and Uniform Guidance (Single Audit).  The initial audit will be for AH’s 
fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. AH received no findings, and there were no internal control issues identified 

in the last completed report for the fiscal years ending June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020. 
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• The successful Firm must issue a report on internal control over financial reporting. In order to do so, the 

successful Firm must demonstrate an understanding of AH and its environment necessary to assess the risks 

of material misstatement of the basic financial statements and design the structure, timing and extent of 

further audit procedures, where necessary.  

 

• In addition, as required by HUD Single Audit (2CFR 200) Compliance Supplement, the successful Firm must 

issue an opinion on AH’s compliance for each major federal program identified by the auditors. The 

successful Firm must perform tests of controls over compliance to evaluate the effectiveness of the design 

and operation of selected controls relevant to preventing or detecting material noncompliance with 

requirements applicable to each major federal award program. The successful Firm must also ascertain the 

fairness of the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (“SEFA”) in all material respects in relation to the 
basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

 

• The successful Firm must review and provide reports and recommendations to AH regarding AH’s internal 
control systems, the adequacy of corrective actions taken by AH in response to previous year audits (there 

have been no corrective actions identified for the last several years), and any other recommendations 

related to AH’s financial compliance and financial operations, including, but not limited to, 
recommendations related to testing of systems, compliance testing, financial auditing and report 

generation.  

 

• HUD provides Uniform Financial Reporting Standards (“UFRS”) for Federal housing programs and requires 
Public Housing Agencies to submit their unaudited Financial Data Schedules (“FDS”) by no later than August 
31 (60 days after fiscal year-end) and their audited FDS by no later than March 31 (9 months after fiscal year-

end) to HUD electronically through their PIH REAC online system. A summary of the basis of presentation of 

the FDS, including a description of the main programs under which AH conducts its operations, is provided 

in Note A of the ACFR in the Other Supplementary Information section.  The successful Firm must follow all 

reporting guidelines issued by HUD.   

 

• The successful Firm must prepare tax returns for AH’s seven (7) not-for-profit and one (1) for-profit affiliate 

corporate entities. The initial returns will be for AH’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. Copies of prior year 
tax returns are available upon request. 

 

Audit History and Location of Records 

 

AH received unmodified auditor’s opinions in prior years. AH’s Financial Audit for fiscal years ended June 30, 
2012 through June 30, 2021 are available on AH’s website.  
 

AH maintains its financial records at its office located at 230 John Wesley Dobbs Avenue NE, Atlanta, Georgia 

30303. Records related to property operations, including tenant files, are located at various property 

management offices in the City of Atlanta. 

 

PART 3 – PROPOSAL EVALUATION 

 

3.1 Clean Hands Policy 

 

Procurement actions shall be conducted only with responsible contractors who have the technical and financial 

competence to perform, who have the fiscal responsibility in business dealings, and who have a satisfactory 

record of integrity.  Before awarding a contract, AH shall review the proposed contractor’s ability to perform the 
contract successfully, considering factors such as the contractor’s integrity, compliance with public policy, record 
of past performance on AH and other jobs (including contacting previous clients of the contractor), and financial 
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and technical resources. AH shall not award a new contract or conduct new business with a bidding contractor, 

vendor or applicant who (i) has past due financial obligations or indebtedness to AH pursuant to a contract or 

other transaction and has not fulfilled the obligation prior to submission of a bid, proposal or application for a 

contract, (ii) has an existing claim, demand, litigation action, investigation, hearing, or other legal, administrative, 

arbitral or similar proceeding or dispute against AH, whether civil or criminal (including any appeal or review of 

any of the foregoing) or (iii) in AH’s reasonable discretion, has taken action that may give rise to or threatened 
to assert a claim, demand, litigation action, investigation, hearing, or other legal, administrative, arbitral or 

similar proceeding or dispute against AH, whether civil or criminal (including any appeal or review of any of the 

foregoing) or other dispute against AH.  The President and Chief Executive Officer may waive the requirements 

of this paragraph for good cause shown as determined by the President and Chief Executive Officer and if it is 

otherwise in AH’s best interests. 
 

3.2 Evaluation Process, Evaluation Factors (Questions) and Award 

 

The proposal evaluating process is designed to award the contract, not necessarily to the Respondent(s) of least 

cost, but rather to the Respondent(s) whose proposal represents the best overall value as determined by an 

evaluation of the best technical score (a combination of qualifications and experience) and price/costs.  

Evaluations are based upon the evaluation factors and weights specifically established within this RFP. 

 

Respondent(s) must provide all information outlined in the Evaluation Factors (as defined below) for the 

Respondent’s proposal to be considered responsive. The quality of answers rather than length of responses to 
this RFP is important.   

 

After evaluations, the Evaluation Committee will determine a competitive range. The competitive range includes 

the proposals that have a reasonable chance of being selected for award considering all aspects of the RFP. AH 

will negotiate with the Respondent(s) who fall within the competitive range.  If required, only those Respondents 

within the competitive range may be selected for an oral presentation and/or interview.  

 

The presentation/interview process will be arranged to assist the evaluation committee in differentiating those 

Respondents within the competitive range. Points may be added or deducted from the Respondent’s preliminary 
score as deemed necessary by the evaluation committee.  AH reserves the right to negotiate the final scope of 

services, price, schedule and any and all aspects of this solicitation with all Respondents in the competitive range.  

 

Once negotiations are complete, AH shall establish a date and time for the submission of best and final offers. If 

a Respondent does not submit a notice of withdrawal of its offer, or a best and final offer, the Respondent’s 

immediate previous offer shall be construed as its best and final offer.  The best and final offers shall be 

evaluated in essentially the same manner as the initial offers unless otherwise specified. The contract shall be 

awarded to the responsible Respondent whose qualifications, price and other factors considered are the most 

advantageous to AH. 

 

The maximum points that shall be awarded for each of the Evaluation Factors are detailed and described below.    
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Evaluation 

Factor 

(Question) 

Items Points 

A 
Industry, Experience, & Demonstrated 

Expertise 
25 Points 

B Firm’s Qualifications 20 Points 

C Methodology 20 Points 

D Organizational Structure and Staffing 20 Points 

E Fee Proposal 10 Points 

E Commitment to Diversity 5 Points 

 Maximum Point Value 100 Points 

 

The establishment, application and interpretation of the above Evaluation Factors (Questions) shall be solely 

within the discretion of AH.  AH reserves the right to determine the suitability of proposals on the basis of all of 

these factors. 

 

EVALUATION FACTORS (QUESTIONS) DESCRIPTIONS 

 

The maximum points that shall be awarded for each of the Evaluation Factors are detailed and described below.    

 

Evaluation Question A 

Industry, Experience, & Demonstrated Expertise ............................................................................. 20 Points 

 

• Firms shall demonstrate a minimum of five (5) years successful experience in providing audit services for 

government, not–for–profit and public clients (e.g., large public housing authorities, MTW housing 

authorities and public housing authorities with large real estate portfolios) and multi-family mixed-financed 

entities (e.g., entities financed with low-income housing tax credits) similar to the Scope of Work and 

Specific Requirements identified in this RFP. (10 Points) (10 Points)  

  

Provide information on at least five (5) current or former clients for whom your Firm currently provides, or 

has provided, similar services within the last three years, including the client’s name, contact person, 
summary of applicable services performed, website address, telephone number and e-mail address. Please 

note that AH cannot be used as a reference. Points will not be given for providing AH as a reference.  (5 

Points) 

 

• Demonstrate the Firm’s experience, in addition to industry expertise, in providing audit services for 
government and not-for-profit entities in compliance with the requirements of the Single Audit Act of 1984, 

as amended, Single Audit (2 CFR 200), the most recent OMB Compliance Supplements for the Single Audits 

of State and Local Governments and the laws of the State of Georgia.  Describe additional expertise and 

expertise the firm possesses in relation to information outlined in (i) above (10 Points) 

 

Based on the Firm’s submission, AH may verify one or more of the Firm’s past and present projects, which 
may include projects not identified by the Firm.  Among other things, AH will determine the Firm’s ability to 
perform the RFP’s scope of work based upon the results of AH’s due diligence related to the Firm’s 
experience. 
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Evaluation Question B 

Firm’s Qualifications……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..20 Points 

Firm must provide certification duly notarized attesting that it: 

• Is properly licensed for public practice as a certified public accountant; 

• Meets the auditor qualifications of Government Auditing Standards; 

• Is not now, and has never been, debarred from performing work for HUD or any other government 

agency; and 

• Is in compliance with applicable requirements for peer review and professional continuing education 

 

Evaluation Question C 

Methodology …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….20 Points  

 

i. Describe the Firm’s methodology/approach for preparing AH's audits based on the Scope of Services and 

other requirements of this RFP by preparing a work-plan which details the major segments of anticipated 

work (e.g., testing of systems, compliance testing, financial auditing and audit and other report generation, 

etc.).  Include innovative approaches, if any, which were successfully used in previous projects of a similar 

nature and describe the Firm’s leadership and proactivity in conducting audit mandate, including issuance 
of audit reports. (3 Pages Maximum) 

   

ii.  Provide a schedule showing the completion of the milestones, deliverables and projected completion dates 

for the audits and tax returns. Each Firm should assume that AH is ready for the Firm to commence 

preliminary financial and compliance work on or before June 1 for the initial term and any option term (if 

exercised by AH). The auditing schedule must be designed to ensure AH’s receipt of final audit, financial and 
compliance reports no later than October 31 of each year. (1 Page Maximum) 

 

Evaluation Factor D 

Organizational Structure and Staffing………………………………………………………………………………………………20 Points 

 

Firms shall address their overall staffing approach and its management capabilities in providing auditing services 

relevant to this RFP. 

 

Firms shall provide an organizational chart reflecting partner(s) and staff members who will be involved in the 

performance of this RFP.  The following information must be provided for each individual: 

 

• Name and title and/or classification 

• Length of service with firm 

• Role/Function as part of the Audit Team 

• Relevant educational background, degrees, major and minor studies, certifications, licenses, etc. 

• Relevant work experience  

• Relevant work experience in providing audit services to MTW Housing Authorities and/or Public 

Housing Authorities with large real estate portfolios.  

• Relevant work experience in providing audit services for government and not-for-profit entities 

in compliance with the requirements of the Single Audit Act of 1984, as amended, Single Audit, 

the most recent OMB Compliance Supplements for Single Audits of State and Local 

Governments, and the laws of the State of Georgia and information regarding each individual’s 
experience in providing audit services for multifamily mixed-financed entities, if any. 

• Any specialized skills, training or credentials that are relevant to the required services 
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Provide a narrative detailing if the members of the team have previously worked together on similar projects 

and thoroughly describe the projects and roles. Identify the project manager who will be the day-to-day point 

person for AH. Identify the most senior individual who will participate in the annual audit, their role and 

estimated time of involvement each year. (2 Page Maximum) 

 

Evaluation Factor E 

Fee Proposal ..................................................................................................................................... 10 Points 

 

Utilizing the attached form, Firm shall include a lump sum fixed priced costs for audit services utilizing the Fee 

Proposal Form. Fees shall include all labor, administrative expenses, travel expenses, equipment, materials, 

profit and overhead necessary to perform work under the terms and conditions of this solicitation. Fees, nominal 

printing costs and other reimbursable items are the responsibility of the Firm.  

 

Additionally, provide fully loaded hourly rate amounts (included, but not limited to, all labor, equipment, 

materials, transportation, general administration, mileage/travel expenses, and printing, etc.) for each staff 

position noted, if applicable. Although AH has identified three positions for providing consulting services, Firms 

are free to add positions as they see fit and as best fit their respective proposals. 

 

Evaluation Factor F 

Commitment to Diversity ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………5 Points 

 

This evaluation factor will be used to score Respondent’s commitment to diversity. Respondent should indicate 

any past or current successes and/or proposed activities relating to Section 3 (see 24 CFR 135 for more 

information) and MBE/WBE initiatives. (2 Page Maximum) 

 

MAXIMUM TOTAL POSSIBLE POINTS………………………………………………….…....….………………………….………………100  

 

3.3 Responsibility Determination  

 

The responsibility determination includes consideration of a Respondent’s record of integrity and business 
ethics, compliance with public policy, past performance with AH (if any) and other entities, financial capacity, 

and eligibility to perform government work (e.g., debarment/suspension from any Federal, State, or local 

government). AH reserves the right to perform whatever research it deems appropriate in order to assess the 

merits of any Respondent’s proposal and utilize the information gathered in the final evaluation of those firms 
in competitive range.  

 

a)  Financial Capacity Determination  

AH reserves the right to assess the Respondent’s financial capacity, that is, whether in the sole opinion 
of AH, the Respondent is capable of undertaking and completing the RFP scope of work delineated within 

this RFP in a satisfactory manner. AH will award a contract only to the responsible Respondent who, in 

AH’s sole opinion, has the financial ability to successfully perform under the terms of this RFP. AH’s 
determination will include an assessment of the Respondent’s financial resources/ability to perform the 
scope of work in accordance with the RFP requirements.  

 

Respondents who make the competitive range may be asked to submit financial information. Failure by 

the Respondent to provide such information within the allotted time will render the Respondent 

ineligible for award.  

 

b) Technical Capacity Determination  

AH will conduct a survey relating to the Respondent’s record of performance on past and present 
projects that are similar to the scope of work identified in this RFP, which may include services/projects 
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not identified by the Respondent. AH reserves the right to perform whatever research it deems 

appropriate in order to assess the merits of any Respondent’s proposal. Such research may include, but 
not necessarily be limited to, discussions with outside Respondents, interviews and site visits with the 

Respondent’s existing clients and analysis of industry reports. AH will make a finding of the Respondent’s 
Technical Resources/Ability to perform the RFP scope of work based upon the results of the survey.  

 

A Respondent will be determined responsible if AH determines that the results of the Technical 

Resources/Ability survey reflect that the Respondent is capable of undertaking and completing the RFP 

scope of work in a satisfactory manner. 

 

AH reserves the right to award this contract to one Respondent, to make multiple awards and to award without 

discussions. AH may reject any or all offers if such action is in AH’s interest, award contract other than to the 
lowest Respondent, waive informalities and minor irregularities in offers received, and award all or part of the 

requirements stated. 

 

Proposals that are considered nonresponsive will not receive consideration. AH reserves the right at any time 

during the evaluation process to reconsider any proposal submitted. It also reserves the right to meet with any 

Respondent at any time to gather additional information. Furthermore, AH reserves the right to delete, add or 

modify any aspect of this procurement through competitive negotiations up until the final contract signing. 

 

PART 4 – TERMS SHEET 

 

4.1 Compliance with E-Verify 

  

In compliance with O.C.G.A. §§ 13-10-90 and 13-10-91, effective July 1, 2013, before AH can consider 

Respondent’s proposal for the services requested, Respondent must register and participate in the federal work 
authorization program operated by the United States Department of Homeland Security, commonly known as 

E-Verify, to verify employment eligibility information of newly hired employees and must continue to participate 

in E-Verify during the term of the contract. Such participation is evidenced by submitting to AH a signed affidavit 

in the form of the affidavit either provided by Georgia Department of Audits and Accounts or approved by AH 

(“E-Verify Affidavit”) – see Prerequisites – State of Georgia Contractor E-Verify Affidavit.  The E-Verify Affidavit 

is Respondent’s certification that it has registered with, is authorized to use and uses the federal work 
authorization program.  

  

Respondent further certifies that all tiers of contractors and subcontractors hired by Respondent to perform the 

services under the agreement are compliant with E-Verify; that Respondent will continue to use E-Verify 

throughout the term of the contract; that Respondent and all tiers of its contractors and subcontractors will only 

contract with other contractors and subcontractors who present an E-Verify Affidavit, or the appropriate 

documentation in lieu of the E-Verify Affidavit; and that Respondent will submit the appropriate affidavits and 

other documents to AH from it and all tiers of contractors and subcontractors, as required.  

 

4.2 Licenses, Permits and Certifications 

 

Before a contract pursuant to this RFP is executed, the apparent successful Respondent(s) must hold all 

necessary, applicable professional licenses required by the State of Georgia and all other regulatory agencies 

necessary to complete the Services.  The Respondent shall obtain, at the Service Provider’s expense, any permits, 
certificates and licenses as may be required in the performance of the work specified.  All required licenses shall 

remain active and valid during the entire duration of the subsequent contract.  AH may require any or all 

Respondents to submit evidence of proper licensure. 
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4.3 Atlanta Housing Opportunity Inclusion Policy (OIP) 

 

It is the policy of Atlanta Housing that Minority, Women and Small Business Enterprises (MBE/WBE/SBE) as 

defined in regulations developed by the Secretary of the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 

and promulgated in 2 CFR 200, the National Affordable Housing Act 42 U.S.C 12703, and HUD Procurement 

Handbook for Public Housing Agencies No. 7460.8 Rev.2, the United States Small Business Administration and 

other governmental and professional industry association certifying agencies) shall have the maximum 

opportunity to participate in the performance of contracts financed in whole or in part with federal funds and 

that bidders, proposers or contractors and their subcontractors or suppliers shall take all necessary and 

reasonable steps to ensure that MBE/WBE/SBEs shall have the maximum opportunity to compete for and 

perform contracts financed in whole or in part by federal funds. 

 

MBE/WBE/SBE economic participation shall be implemented through Atlanta Housing’s Opportunity Inclusion 
Policy via an MBE/WBE/SBE Utilization Plan that is submitted by entities seeking to do business with Atlanta 

Housing or its partners who utilize federal funding in whole or in part. 

 

Respondents who, as a result of a robust, timely and documented process of solicitation to the marketplace to 

meet this requirement, find that it is not possible to secure that level of participation, may augment their 

MBE/WBE/SBE participation goal with a comprehensive detail of good faith efforts. Documented good faith 

efforts will be considered on their merits and in light of other respondents and their plans regarding 

impracticability of meeting the published goals. In RFQ submissions of qualifications, an affidavit of future 

compliance will evidence intended compliance. For proposals submitted as a response to RFP’s a written plan to 
achieve the published aspirational goal will be required with initial proposal or subsequent task orders. RFP 

respondents may submit partial plans to comply with aspirational goals so long as they are accompanied with a 

detail of best efforts that support the impracticability of the aspirational goal with a request for partial waiver.  

 

4.4 Atlanta Housing Section 3 Policy 

 

Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended (12 U.S.C. 1701 u) requires that AH 

ensure that employment and other economic and business opportunities generated by HUD financial assistance, 

to the greatest extent feasible, are directed to public housing residents and other low-income persons, 

particularly recipients of government housing assistance, and business concerns that provide economic 

opportunities to low and very-low income persons. 

 

AH is committed to utilizing residents and other Section 3 eligible persons and businesses in contracts partially 

or wholly funded with funds from HUD.  It is the responsibility of contractors, vendors and suppliers to 

implement progressive efforts to attain Section 3 compliance. The Respondent will be required to submit with 

their proposal either a Contract Compliance Affidavit (Schedule A) or a measurable Section 3 Action Plan via 

MWBE & Section 3 Business Utilization Plan (Schedule B) to include training, employment, contracting and other 

economic opportunities throughout all phases of the development work, if required. The Action Plan should 

include a brief description of the job opportunities, business opportunities and/or training for Section 3 eligible 

participants. Some examples of opportunities include word processing, payroll, research, accounting, 

landscaping, painting, carpentry, and catering, to name a few.  As contractors, Respondents will be expected to 

report on the progress of its Section 3 Action Plan on a quarterly basis, or as otherwise requested by AH. All 

Respondents to this RFP are required to comply with the requirements of Section 3, (Schedule A) - Contract 

Compliance Affidavit, as applicable. 
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4.5 Certification Regarding Debarment 

 

The Respondent certifies by submission of its offer, that neither it nor its principals is presently debarred, 

suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 

transaction by a Federal department or agency.  All Respondents are required to submit a Disclosure Statement 

if this is not the case.  

 

4.6 Respondents’ Status 

 

The Respondent and its agents will be held to be an independent contractor, and will not be an employee of AH. 

 

4.7 Funding Limitations 

 

This procurement may be funded, in whole or in part, by grant funds provided by the U. S. Department of 

Housing and Urban Development. AH will not be bound to any contract if funding has been disallowed by HUD. 

 

4.8 Government Restrictions 

 

In the event any governmental restrictions may be imposed which would necessitate alteration of the material, 

quality, workmanship or performance of the goods or the material, quality, workmanship or performance of the 

goods or services offered, it shall be the responsibility of the successful Respondent to immediately notify AH in 

writing specifying the regulation which requires an alteration.  AH reserves the right to accept any such 

alteration, including any reasonable price adjustments occasioned thereby, or to terminate the contract at no 

expense to AH. 

 

4.9 Insurance 

 

Contractor will be required to obtain and maintain the following insurance coverages during the entire contract 

period: 

 

A.       Minimum Limits and Coverage 

 

I. Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability with the following minimum limits and coverage:  

 

a. Workers Compensation- Statutory Limit in accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia  

b. Employer’s Liability: 
        $500,000 bodily injury for each accident 

$500,000 bodily injury by disease for each employee 

$500,000 bodily injury disease aggregate  

 

II.    Commercial General Liability with the following minimum limits and coverage: 

 

a. $1,000,000 combined single limit for each occurrence for bodily injury/property damage 

b. AH must be listed as an additional insured 

 

III.   Automobile Liability with the following minimum limit and coverage: 

 

a. $1,000,000 combined single limit each accident. 

b. Coverage shall be for any auto (including owned, hired, and non-owned autos) 

c. AH must be listed as an additional insured 
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IV.   Professional Liability / Errors & Omissions (if required) 

 

a. Professional Liability / Errors & Omissions insurance in the amount of not less than $1,000,000 

per claim, unless otherwise required by AH. 

 

V.    Cyber-Liability Insurance Requirements  

 

In addition to having favorable cyber-risk controls and processes in place, Consultant shall have Cyber 

Liability Insurance with coverage to protect Atlanta Housing, including both first and third party 

coverage, with limits not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence or claim and $3,000,000 aggregate. 

Coverage shall be sufficiently broad to respond to the duties and obligations as are undertaken by 

Consultant in this agreement and shall address network security wrongful acts; privacy wrongful acts; 

crisis/breach management expenses; regulatory proceedings expenses; media/content liability 

expenses; digital asset expenses; business interruption costs; and cyber extortion and reward payments. 

The policy shall cover, but not be limited to, claims involving infringement of intellectual property, 

infringement of copyright, invasion of privacy or breach of privacy violations, release of private or 

personally identifiable information, breach of data, cost of data recovery, unauthorized access to data 

or systems, information theft, damage to or destruction of electronic information, alteration of 

electronic information, electronic theft, telecommunications fraud, computer fraud, social engineering 

fraud, cyber deception, fraudulently induced transfers, ransomware, malware, extortion, and network 

security. The policy shall provide coverage for breach response costs, regulatory fines and penalties, and 

credit monitoring expenses, with limits sufficient to respond to these obligations. 

 

Contractor shall provide certificates of insurance to AH prior to execution of the contract and at the beginning 

of each option term. 

 

B.        Additional Requirements 

 

AH reserves the right to require the Contractor to provide certified copies of such policy or policies. Each such 

policy will not be canceled or materially changed or altered without first giving 30 days' written notice thereof 

to AH’s SVP, Contracts & Procurement, 230 John Wesley Dobbs Avenue, NE, 5th Floor, Atlanta, Georgia 30303-

2421, sent by certified mail, return receipt requested. 

 

Certificate(s) of Insurance shall be provided to AH evidencing that all coverage, limits and endorsements required 

herein are maintained and in full force.  AH shall be listed on the Certificate as an additional insured as noted in 

the above coverage requirements. 

 

The insurance carrier shall be licensed to transact business in the State of Georgia and shall carry a current A.M. 

Best’s rating of no less than B+ VI.  
 

Contractor agrees, and hereby authorizes its insurer, to notify AH of any substantial change in such insurance 

coverage described herein.  Substantial change includes, but is not limited to, events such as cancellation, non-

renewal, reduction in coverage, or receipt of a claim against such coverage with a potential recovery in excess 

of 20% of available coverage.             

 

The premium cost of all insurance purchased by the Contractor for protection against risks assumed by virtue of 

the contract shall be borne by the Contractor and is not reimbursable by AH. 

 

AH reserves the right, but not the obligation, to review and revise any insurance requirements, including limits, 

coverages and endorsements, based upon insurance market conditions affecting the availability and affordability 
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of coverage.  Additionally, AH reserves the right, but not the obligation, to review and reject any insurance 

policies, certificates of insurance or insurer failing to meet the criteria stated herein. 

 

4.10 Indemnification  

 

AH is defined in this section to include AH Commissioners, employees, agents and/or assigns. Contractor agrees 

to indemnify AH and hold it harmless from and against any and all claims, liabilities, damages, losses, costs or 

expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorney fees arising out of or related to (a) a breach of the 

contract by Contractor or (b) the performance of the Services, whether by Contractor, a subcontractor, or 

anyone directly or indirectly employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, regardless of 

whether or not such claim, liability, damage, loss, cost or expense is caused by the gross negligence or willful 

misconduct of a party indemnified hereunder. Contractor’s indemnification obligation shall not be limited by a 

limitation on amount or type of damages, compensation or benefits payable by or for Contractor or 

subcontractor under any insurance required by the contract, including workers’ compensation acts, disability 
benefit acts, other employee benefit acts, or any other insurance. Contractor shall not settle or compromise any 

indemnifiable claims hereunder without the prior written consent of AH.  

 

AH cannot and does not agree to indemnify, hold harmless, exonerate or assume the defense of Contractor or 

any other person or entity whatsoever, for any purpose whatsoever.  

 

4.11  Compliance with Laws 

 

a) AH is legally obligated, as applicable, to require these provisions in its contract.  

 

Contractor and its employees, agents, and subcontractors shall comply with all applicable Federal, State, and 

local laws, rules, ordinances, regulations and orders applicable to the work described herein, including, but not 

limited to, those applicable laws, regulations and requirements governing equal employment opportunity 

strategies, subcontracting with small and minority firms, women's business enterprise, and labor surplus area 

firms, equal opportunity for businesses and unemployed and underemployed persons (as referenced in Section 

3 of The Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended, 12 U.S.C. 1701u (“Section 3”), the Americans 
with Disabilities Act, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Davis-Bacon Act, and those laws and 

regulations concerning the abatement and remediation of asbestos and lead-based paint, and shall provide for 

such compliance in the contract documents. To the extent the work required under this contract is related to 

development, Contractor shall further comply with the applicable Annual Contributions Contract (“ACC”) related 
to such development. To the extent such work is related to a mixed finance development, Contractor shall 

comply with the provisions of 24 CFR § 941.208.  

 

b) HUD Section 3 Compliance:  

 

1) The services to be performed under the contract are subject to the requirements of Section 3 of the Housing 

and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended, 12 U.S.C. 1701u (“HUD Section 3”). The purpose of HUD 
Section 3 is to ensure that employment and other economic opportunities generated by HUD assistance or HUD-

assisted projects covered by HUD Section 3, shall, to the greatest extent feasible, be directed to low and very 

low-income persons, particularly persons who are recipients of HUD assistance for housing.  

 

2) The Parties hereby agree to comply with HUD's regulations in 24 CFR Part 135, which implement HUD Section 

3 (the “Implementing Regulations”). As evidenced by their execution of this contract, the parties to the contract 

certify that they are under no contractual or other impediment that would prevent them from complying with 

the implementing Regulations.  
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3) Contractor agrees to send to each labor organization or representative of workers with which Contractor has 

a collective bargaining agreement or other understanding, if any, a notice advising the labor organization or 

workers' representative of Contractor's commitments under this HUD Section 3 clause, and will post copies of 

the notice in conspicuous places at the work site where both employees and applicants for training and 

employment positions can see the notice. The notice shall describe the HUD Section 3 preference, shall set forth 

minimum number and job titles subject to hire, availability of apprenticeship and training positions, the 

qualifications for each; and the name and location of the person(s) taking applications for each of the positions; 

and the anticipated date the Services shall begin.  

 

4) Contractor will certify that any vacant employment positions, including training positions, that are filled one 

(1) after Contractor is selected but before the contract is signed, and (2) with persons other than those to whom 

the Implementing Regulations require employment opportunities to be directed, were not filled to circumvent 

the contractor's obligations under the Implementing Regulations.  

 

5) Noncompliance with HUD's regulations in 24 CFR part 135 may result in sanctions, termination of this contract 

for default, and debarment or suspension from future HUD assisted contracts.  

 

6) With respect to work performed in connection with Section 3 covered Indian housing assistance, section 7(b) 

of the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act (25 U.S.C. 450e) also applies to the work to be 

performed under this contract. Section 7(b) requires that to the greatest extent feasible (i) preference and 

opportunities for training and employment shall be given to Indians, and (ii) preference in the award of contracts 

and subcontracts shall be given to Indian organizations and Indian-owned Economic Enterprises. Parties to this 

contract that are subject to the provisions of Section 3 and section 7(b) agree to comply with Section 3 to the 

maximum extent feasible, but not in derogation of compliance with section 7(b).  

c) Energy Efficiency  

Contractor will comply with all standards and policies relating to energy efficiency which are contained in the 

energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and Conservation Act (Pub.L. 94-163) for 

the State in which the Services are performed.  

 

d) Clean Air and Clean Water  

For contracts in excess of $100,000, Contractor must comply with all applicable standards, orders, or 

requirements issued under section 306 of the Clean Air Act (42 USC 1857 (h)), section 508 of the Clean Water 

Act (33 USC 1368), Executive Order 11738, and Environmental Protection Agency regulations 40 CFR part 15.  

 

e) Equal Employment Opportunity  

Contractor, during the performance of the contract, shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 

employment because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. Contractor shall comply with applicable 

federal and state non-discrimination and equal opportunity laws, rules, regulations and executive orders.  

 

f) Anti-Lobbying  

1) Contractor will not use federally- appropriated funds that have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of 

Contractor, for the purpose of influencing or attempting to influence any officer or employee of any agency, a 

Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in 

connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any 

Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, or the extension, continuation, renewal, 

amendment or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan or cooperative agreement.  

2) Contractor agrees to disclose any conflict as soon as such conflict becomes known or should have become 

known.  
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3) Contractor agrees to include the language of this subsection in the award documents for sub-awards at all 

tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants, loans and cooperative agreements) and 

that all sub recipients and subcontractors shall acknowledge and disclose accordingly.  

 

4.12  Termination for Convenience and Default  

 

a) AH may terminate the contract, in whole or in part, for AH's convenience by delivering to Contractor a written 

notice of termination specifying the nature, extent, and effective date of the termination. Upon receipt of the 

notice, Contractor shall: (i) immediately discontinue all Services affected (unless the notice directs otherwise); 

and (ii) deliver to AH all information, reports, papers, and other materials accumulated or generated in 

performing the Services, whether completed or in process.  

 

b) Either Party may terminate the contract upon the material breach of the contract by the other Party, which 

breach is not cured within 30 calendar days following written notice thereof; provided, however, that if such 

breach is not susceptible to cure the non-breaching Party may terminate the contract immediately upon written 

notice thereof to the breaching Party. For avoidance of doubt, any materially false, deceptive, incorrect or 

incomplete statement, representation or certification by Contractor in connection with the contract or in the 

RFP process shall constitute a material breach that is not susceptible to cure by Contractor. Upon the termination 

of the contract by AH pursuant to this subsection, Contractor shall: (i) immediately discontinue all Services 

affected (unless the notice directs otherwise); and (ii) deliver to AH all information, reports, papers, and other 

materials accumulated or generated in performing the Services, whether completed or in process.  

 

c) If the termination is for the convenience of AH, then AH shall be liable only for payment for Services rendered 

before the effective date of the termination. In arriving at the amount due Contractor for a termination for 

convenience, in no event shall the payment to Contractor exceed the aggregate price set forth in the contract 

and there shall be deducted:  

 

(i) all progress payments to Contractor under the terminated portion of the contract, and  

(ii) any claim which AH has against Contractor under the contract.  

 

d) If the termination is due to breach by Contractor, AH may (i) require Contractor to deliver to it, in the manner 

and to the extent directed by AH, any work as described in subparagraph (b) above; (ii) take over the work and 

prosecute the same to completion by contract or otherwise, and Contractor shall be liable for any additional 

cost incurred by AH; and (iii) withhold any payments to Contractor, for the purpose of off-set or partial payment, 

as the case may be, of amounts owed to AH by Contractor.  

 

e) If, after termination for breach by Contractor, it is determined that Contractor had not in fact breached the 

contract, the termination shall be deemed to have been effected for the convenience of AH, and Contractor shall 

be entitled to payment as described in subparagraph (c) above.  

f) Contractor agrees that upon termination of the contract for any reason, it shall provide sufficient efforts and 

cooperation to ensure an orderly and efficient transition of the Services to AH or another contractor. Contractor 

shall provide full disclosure to AH and the third-party contractor about the equipment, software, or services 

required to perform the Services for AH.  

 

4.13  Disputes  

 

a) The Parties agree to attempt to resolve all disputes and misunderstandings that may arise under or relating 

to the contract by agreement of the Parties or through amicable negotiations.  

b) All claims by Contractor shall be made in writing and submitted to AH. AH shall, with reasonable promptness, 

but in no more than 30 calendar days, render a decision concerning any claim hereunder. Unless Contractor, 
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within 20 calendar days after receipt of AH's decision, shall notify AH in writing that it takes exception to such 

decision, the decision shall be final and conclusive. Contractor shall proceed diligently with performance of the 

contract, pending decision from AH concerning any claim hereunder.  

 

c) If Contractor does not agree with the decision of AH, Contractor may pursue other legal means to resolve such 

claim. The venue of any action brought under the contract shall be in the Superior Court of Fulton County, 

Georgia.  

 

4.14  Examination and Retention of Contractor’s Records  
 

a) Contractor shall maintain, during the performance of the contract, and for a period of at least three years 

following the date of final payment under the contract, all of Contractor’s books, documents, papers and other 

records, including electronic records, involving transactions related to the contract for the purpose of making 

audit, examination, excerpts, and transcriptions. AH, the United States Department of Housing and Urban 

Development (“HUD”), or Comptroller General of the United States, or any of their duly authorized 

representatives, shall, until three years after final payment under the contract, have access to and the right to 

examine all such books, documents, papers and other records, including electronic records.  

 

b) Contractor agrees to include in first-tier subcontracts under the contract a clause substantially the same as 

subsection (a) above. “Subcontract,” as used in this section, excludes contracts not exceeding $10,000.  
 

c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this section, the periods of access and examination in 

subsection (a) above shall continue until final disposition of any appeals, litigation, claims or exceptions related 

thereto that were commenced prior to the expiration of such three-year period.  

 

4.15  Ownership Rights in Works  

 

All data, materials, documentation, computer programs, inventions (whether or not patentable) and works of 

authorship created or developed in whole or in part by Contractor during the contract period in connection with 

the performance of the Services hereunder (collectively, “Works”) shall be considered work made for hire by 
Contractor and owned by AH. Works shall not be reproduced or used by Contractor without the express written 

consent of AH. Contractor shall execute all documents and take all actions necessary to vest ownership of the 

Works in AH. 

  

4.16  Intellectual Property 

 

Contractor agrees it will not use the name or any intellectual property of AH, including but not limited to, AH 

copyrights, trademarks or logo in any manner, including commercial advertising or use as a business reference, 

without the prior written consent of AH.  

 

4.17  Confidential Information  

 

AH may provide Contractor with information owned by or relating to AH and its business, including, without 

limitation, its operations, business plans, personnel, or financial matters, all of which is hereby designated as 

confidential and proprietary by AH (“Confidential Information”). Contractor agrees to only use AH’s Confidential 
Information to the extent necessary to perform the Services as contemplated herein. During the Contract Period 

and for two years following the expiration or earlier termination thereof, Contractor shall keep confidential and 

shall not publish or otherwise disclose, or permit its employees, subcontractors and assigns to publish or 

otherwise disclose, any of AH’s Confidential Information without AH’s prior written approval; provided that to 

the extent such Confidential Information constitutes a trade secret under applicable law, such covenants shall 

continue for so long as such Confidential Information so constitutes a trade secret. At a minimum, Contractor 
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shall carry out its obligations hereunder using the degree of care that it uses in protecting its own confidential 

and proprietary information of similar importance. All Confidential Information is and shall remain AH’s property 
and Contractor shall return such Confidential Information, and all embodiments thereof, to AH upon expiration 

or termination of the contract or upon the earlier request of AH. Contractor agrees that all of its employees and 

subcontractors will, upon AH’s request, sign a confidentiality statement, in a form approved by AH in its 

reasonable discretion, in which such employees and subcontractors agree to be bound by the restrictions set 

forth in this section. The following types of information shall not be subject to the requirements of this section: 

(a) information which is or becomes known to the public through no act or omission of Contractor; (b) 

information which Contractor can demonstrate was in its possession prior to the execution of the contract (and 

was provided by a source other than AH); (c) information which Contractor developed independently from any 

relationship with AH; and (d) information which Contractor acquired from a third party which did not violate any 

obligation of confidentiality or trust by disclosing such information.  

 

4.18  Conflicts of Interest  

 

AH is contractually obligated to ensure compliance with this provision. Contractor agrees to notify AH if any of 

the following persons enter into an agreement with Contractor while such persons are in the roles listed below 

or within one year after termination of such roles and further certifies that Contractor is not:  

 

a) A member or officer of AH's Board of Commissioners or an *immediate family member of an officer 

of AH’s Board of Commissioners. This prohibition does not include any present or former resident 

commissioner who does not serve on the governing body of a resident corporation, and who otherwise 

does not occupy a policymaking position with the resident corporation, AH, or a business entity.  

 

b) Any AH employee who formulates policy or who influences decisions with respect to AH’s projects, 
or any member of the employee's *immediate family, or the employee's partner.  

 

c) Any public official, member of the local governing body, or State or local legislator  (including members 

of the City of Atlanta City Council, Fulton County Board of Commissioners, DeKalb County Board of 

Commissioners, or Georgia legislator), or any member of such individuals' *immediate family, who 

exercises functions or responsibilities with respect to AH’s projects.  
 

d) A member of or delegate to the Congress of the United States of America or a resident commissioner 

(defined as an individual appointed to oversee a territory or possession of the United States of America, 

such as Guam).  

 

* "Immediate family member “means the spouse, mother, father, brother, sister, or child of a covered 
class member whether related as a full blood relative, or as a "half" or "step" relative (e.g., half-brother 

or stepchild).  

 

Contractor agrees to notify AH in writing if it has, during the course of the contract, any organizational 

conflict of interest, which is defined as a situation in which the nature of work under the contract and a 

Contractor's organizational, financial, contractual or other interests are such that award of the contract 

may result in an unfair competitive advantage or Contractor's objectivity in performing the Services may 

be impaired.  

 

The terms of this section shall be included in all subcontracts entered into by Contractor in connection 

with the contract.  

 

At all times while Contractor is conducting business with AH, it is required to disclose in writing, any 

direct or indirect conflicts of interest and any organizational conflicts of interest as soon as such conflict 
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becomes known or should have become known. If Contractor has a conflict of interest, it must provide 

a full and complete disclosure, in writing, to AH’s Vice President, Acquisition & Management Services. 
The Disclosure Statement must be presented on Contractor’s letterhead, notarized and signed by the 
individual making the disclosure.  

 

 

4.19  Prohibition against Gifts/Favors/Anything of Monetary Value  

 

No AH employee can accept or solicit for themselves or for others, anything of value from Contractor or any 

person, corporation, or other entity doing business with or attempting to do business with AH. The term 

“anything of value” includes, but is not limited to, gifts, money, property, meals, favors, personal benefit, 

entertainment, loans, or promises. Contractor shall report any violation of this prohibition immediately to the 

SVP, Contracts and Procurement, 230 John Wesley Dobbs Avenue, 5th Floor, Atlanta, Georgia 30303-2421.  

 

4.20 Assignment  

 

Contractor may not assign the contract or any part thereof, or assign any of the monies to be paid thereunder, 

or assign or delegate any of its rights, duties or obligations under the contract to any other party, whether by 

operation of law or otherwise, without the prior written consent of AH. In the event Contractor subcontracts 

the performance of any of the Services to a third party approved by AH in accordance with this section, 

Contractor and each subcontractor shall enter into a subcontracting agreement in such form as approved by AH 

in its sole discretion, which form shall include, without limitation, all required provisions set forth in the contract. 

Any purported assignment in violation of this section shall be null and void. In its sole discretion, AH reserves 

the right to refuse approval of any assignment. During the contract term, Contractor is obligated to notify AH if 

the name or corporate structure changes, including any merger, acquisition, sale, restructuring or other 

transaction that renders the legal entity name or federal employer identification number different. Contractor 

agrees to provide sufficient documentation to AH to document such change in the legal entity name or federal 

employer identification number.  

 

4.21  Non-Exclusive Rights  

 

The resulting contract is not exclusive. AH reserves the right to select other contractors to provide services 

similar to the Services described in the contract during the contract period.  

 

4.22  Contract Modification  

 

AH reserves the right to increase or delete any scheduled items, and/or increase or reduce the quantity of any 

scheduled item as deemed necessary, and to make other changes and modifications consistent with AH’s policies 
and applicable local, State and Federal laws.  

 

4.23  Governing Law  

 

The contract will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia, without 

giving effect to principles of conflict of laws. 

 

4.24 Required AH Vendor Registration 

 

In order to do business with AH, Respondent must be a registered vendor prior to submitting a response. 

Please refer to the following Internet URL for more information about Vendor Registration and to register on-

line – http://www.atlantahousing.org/business/vendors. If Respondent has already registered with AH, the 

Respondent’s (Vendor) profile must be up-to-date. Respondent is responsible for contacting their local city and 
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county authorities (usually the Clerk of the Superior Court’s Office) and the State of Georgia (Secretary of State’s 
office – www.sos.georgia.gov) to ensure that Respondent has complied with all laws and is authorized and/or 

licensed to do business in Georgia. All applicable fees associated therewith are the responsibility of Respondent 

now or hereafter in effect during the contract. Respondent and its employees, agents and subcontractors shall 

also comply with all Federal, State and local laws regarding business permits and licenses that may be required 

to carry out the services performed under the contract. 

 

SECTION 5 – FORM OF CONTRACT 

 

5.1 Exceptions to Contract 

 

Respondents’ proposed exceptions to the Form of Contract must be identified and submitted with the 
Respondents’ proposal.   Proposed exceptions must not conflict with or attempt to preempt mandatory 
requirements and required HUD terms and conditions.  

 

Prior to award, and if necessary, the apparent winning Respondent will be required to enter into discussions 

with AH to resolve any contractual differences before an award is made. These discussions will be finalized and 

all exceptions resolved within the timeframe specified by AH after notification of potential award.  Failure to 

resolve contractual differences, including failure to return signed documents within time frames specified by 

AH, will lead to rejection of the Service Provider’s proposal. 
 

5.2 Contract Terms and Conditions 

 

The contract that AH expects to award as a result of this RFP will be based upon the RFP, the contract terms and 

conditions, the Proposal submitted by the successful Respondent and any subsequent revisions to the 

Respondent’s Proposal and the contract terms and conditions due to negotiations, written clarifications or 

changes made in accordance with the provisions of the RFP, and any other terms deemed necessary by AH, 

except that no objection or amendment by a Respondent to the RFP requirements or the contract terms and 

conditions shall be incorporated by reference into the contract unless AH has explicitly accepted the Service 

Provider’s objection or amendment in writing. 
 

EXCEPTIONS OR OBJECTIONS TO THE PROPOSED CONTRACT TERMS MUST BE IDENTIFIED AND SUBMITTED 

WITH THE RESPONDENT’S PROPOSAL.  AH WILL NOT ACCEPT PROPOSED EXCEPTIONS OR OBJECTIONS THAT 
CONFLICT WITH OR ATTEMPT TO PREEMPT MANDATORY REQUIREMENTS.   

 

PRIOR TO AWARD, AND IF NECESSARY, THE APPARENT WINNING RESPONDENT MAY BE REQUIRED TO ENTER 

INTO DISCUSSIONS WITH AH TO RESOLVE ANY CONTRACTUAL DIFFERENCES BEFORE AN AWARD IS MADE. 

THESE DISCUSSIONS WILL BE FINALIZED AND ALL EXCEPTIONS RESOLVED WITHIN THE TIMEFRAME SPECIFIED 

BY AH AFTER NOTIFICATION OF POTENTIAL AWARD.  FAILURE TO RESOLVE CONTRACTUAL DIFFERENCES WILL 

LEAD TO REJECTION OF THE RESPONDENT’S PROPOSAL. 
 

AH RESERVES THE RIGHT TO REJECT OFFERS OR END DISCUSSIONS WITH RESPONDENTS THAT ARE NOT 

FORTHCOMING WITH EXCEPTIONS IN THE PROPOSAL SUBMISSION.  GENERALIZED EXCEPTIONS ARE NOT 

ACCEPTABLE (E.G., RESPONDENT IS AMENABLE TO REACHING NEGOTIATED TERMS WITH AH). 
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July 27, 2022 
 
Members of the Board of Commissioners 
The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia 
 

Introduction 
 
We are pleased to present The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia (referred to as 
“Atlanta Housing,” “AH” or “Authority”) Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR” or 
“Report”) and Independent Auditor’s Report for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 
2020. This Report was prepared by the Authority’s Finance staff and the Authority’s financial 
statements included in this CAFR were audited by the public accounting firm CohnReznick LLP. The 
Independent Auditor’s Report of CohnReznick LLP is presented as the first component of the 
Financial Section starting on page 19. 
 
The independent audit of the financial statements of the Authority is part of a broader, federally 
mandated “Single Audit” designed to meet the special needs of federal grantor agencies. The 
standards governing Single Audit engagements require an independent auditor to report not only on 
the fair presentation of the financial statements, but also on the Authority’s internal controls and 
compliance with federal program requirements. 
 
The data presented in this Report is the responsibility of the management of the Authority. To the best 
of our knowledge and belief, the information as presented is accurate in all material respects, is 
presented in a manner designed to fairly state the financial position and the results of operations of 
the Authority, and includes all necessary disclosures to enable the reader to gain a thorough 
understanding of the Authority’s financial affairs. To provide a reasonable basis for making these 
representations, management of the Authority has established internal controls that are designed to 
protect its assets and the integrity of its operations, and to obtain reasonable, rather than absolute, 
assurance that the Authority’s financial statements are free of any material misstatements, and 
presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) as promulgated by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”). 

 
For a complete overview and analysis of the Authority’s financial position and 
results of operations, please review the Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
(“MD&A”) located immediately following the report of the independent public 
accountants, in tandem with this transmittal letter. We invite the public to review 
AH’s CAFR on its website, www.atlantahousing.org. 

 
  

http://theinsider.hq.atlantahousing.org/2014%20Image%20Gallery/AH%20Building%20Images/IMG_6948.JPG
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Profile of the Authority 
 
Independent Public Jurisdiction: AH is a public body corporate and politic created by the City of 
Atlanta in 1938 pursuant to the Housing Authorities Laws of the State of Georgia. AH has broad 
corporate powers including, but not limited to: the power to acquire, manage, own, operate, develop 
and renovate housing; invest and lend money; create for-profit and not-for-profit entities; administer 
Housing Choice Vouchers (“HCV”s); issue bonds for affordable housing purposes; and acquire, own 
and develop commercial, retail and market-rate properties that benefit affordable housing. 
 
AH has created affiliate entities to implement and execute a number of the Authority’s program 
activities and initiatives. The financial statements of these affiliates are included in AH’s financial 
statements as blended component units. AH has one affiliate that is not a component unit, but is 
considered a related entity; therefore, the financial activities for this entity have been excluded from 
the Authority’s financial statements (see Note A of Notes to the Financial Statements, page 57, for 
further details). 
 
Moving to Work (“MTW”) Housing Authority: AH is one of the original 39 housing authorities 
(out of more than 3,400 in the country) designated as a Moving to Work housing authority. An MTW 
agency is one that is part of a demonstration created in the 1996 Congressional appropriation for the 
United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”). MTW agencies have three 
statutory objectives: 

1. Reduce costs and achieve greater cost-effectiveness in federal expenditures. 

2. Give incentives to families with children where the head of household is working, 
seeking work or is preparing for work by participating in job training, educational 
programs or programs that assist people to obtain employment and become 
economically self-sufficient. 

3. Increase housing choices for low-income families. 
 
Having moved from “troubled agency” status in 1994 to “high performer” status in 1999, and 
sustaining that status thereafter, AH applied for and received the MTW designation in 2001. After 
extensive negotiations with HUD, AH executed its MTW Agreement with HUD on September 23, 
2003, effective as of July 1, 2003. AH was able to retain the unique provisions under its original 
agreement when it negotiated and executed a 10-year extension of this agreement effective 
November 13, 2008, and further amended it on January 16, 2009, which extended the MTW 
Agreement until June 30, 2018. The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2016 further extended the 
MTW status of all MTW agencies until the end of their fiscal year 2028. 
 
AH’s MTW Agreement provides substantial statutory and regulatory relief under the U.S. Housing 
Act of 1937, as amended. AH’s program design for implementing its MTW Agreement is reflected 
in AH’s multi-year strategic plan, known as Vision 2022, which was prepared leveraging the statutory 
and regulatory relief under its MTW Agreement combined with the guiding principles, the lessons 
learned and best practices from AH’s Revitalization Program. Under its MTW Agreement, AH has 
the flexibility to develop policies and procedures that differ from those prescribed in regulations 
implementing Section 8 and 9 of the Housing Act of 1937. It also provides the flexibility to innovate 
and create new programs, and to create and implement local solutions to address local challenges in 
providing affordable housing opportunities to eligible low-income households in Atlanta. The success 
that AH has achieved as an innovator, fulfilling the promise of the MTW program envisioned by 
Congress, is apparent in a review of AH’s many initiatives. For more details, see the Approved MTW 
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Activities section of AH’s FY 2021 MTW Annual Report on AH’s website at 
https://www.atlantahousing.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/HA-GA006-FY2021-Ann.-MTW-
Report.pdf. 
 
While statutory and regulatory flexibility are foundational elements of the MTW program, the Single 
Fund authority is essential to AH’s financial viability. AH’s MTW Agreement permits AH to combine 
its HCV funds, Public Housing Operating Subsidy and Capital Fund Program grants into an MTW 
Single Fund which may be used for MTW-eligible activities set forth in AH’s MTW Annual Plan that 
best meet local low-income housing needs. The funding flexibility provided to AH under the MTW 
Agreement is essential to AH’s continued success and long-term financial viability. 
 
Governing Body and Strategic Guidance: Housing Authorities are unique in that state governments 
usually create them, the Federal government usually funds them through operating subsidies, and 
local government usually appoints their governing body. Atlanta Housing’s governing body, the 
Board of Commissioners (the “Board”) is comprised of seven members, including two resident 
members, appointed by the Mayor of the City of Atlanta, and confirmed by the Atlanta City Council. 
The Board appoints the President and Chief Executive Officer to administer the affairs of the 
Authority, including staff management of the Authority. AH is not considered a component unit of 
the City of Atlanta; therefore, AH’s financial statements are not included in the City’s financial 
statements. 
 
The Board provides strategic guidance and oversight of AH’s operations. AH’s programs and actions 
are further guided by its business plan, as modified, refined and updated in its MTW Annual Plans, 
which are adopted by the Board. The underpinnings for the business plan are AH’s Vision and 
Mission statements: 

Our Vision: “Healthy Mixed-Income Communities; Healthy Self-Sufficient Families.” 

Our Mission: “Provide quality affordable housing in amenity-rich, mixed-income 
communities for the betterment of the community.” 

 
AH’s business model positions it to achieve three goals: 

Quality Living Environments — Provide quality affordable housing in healthy mixed-
income communities with access to excellent quality-of-life amenities. 

Self-Sufficiency — (a) Facilitate opportunities for families and individuals to build 
economic capacity and stability that will reduce their dependency on rental subsidy and help 
them, ultimately, to become financially independent; (b) facilitate and support initiatives and 
strategies to support great educational outcomes for children; and (c) facilitate and support 
initiatives that enable the elderly and persons with disabilities to live independently with 
enhanced opportunities for aging well, and to improve health and wellness for all residents. 

Economic Viability — Maximize AH’s financial soundness and viability to ensure 
sustainability of its investments and portfolio of properties. 
 

In approaching its work, regardless of the funding source, strategy or programmatic initiative, AH 
applies the following five guiding principles: 

1. End the practice of concentrating low-income families in distressed and isolated 
neighborhoods. 

2. Create healthy mixed-use, mixed-income (children-centered) communities using a 
holistic and comprehensive approach to assure long-term market competitiveness and 

https://www.atlantahousing.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/HA-GA006-FY2021-Ann.-MTW-Report.pdf
https://www.atlantahousing.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/HA-GA006-FY2021-Ann.-MTW-Report.pdf
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sustainability of the community, and to support successful outcomes for families 
(especially children), with emphasis on excellent, high-performing neighborhood 
schools and high quality-of-life amenities, including first-class retail and green space. 
Create mixed-income communities with the goal of developing market-rate 
communities with a seamlessly integrated affordable residential component. 

3. Develop communities through public/private partnerships using public and private 
sources of funding, private sector expertise and real estate market principles. 

4. Support AH-assisted families with strategies and programs that help them achieve their 
life goals, focusing on financial self-sufficiency and educational advancement of the 
children with expectations and standards for personal responsibility benchmarked for 
success. 

 
In addition to these strategic directions, and creatively using the tools and flexibility afforded by its 
MTW Agreement to implement housing policy reforms across all programs, during FY 2021 AH 
focused on the following priorities as articulated in Vision 2022. 
 

Vision 2022 

In the latter part of FY 2017, AH introduced its new strategic goals under the umbrella of the MTW 
Plan known as Vision 2022. AH strongly believes in the potential of the individual. Therefore, 
Vision 2022 takes a people-centered, holistic approach that creates opportunities for those we serve 
to live, work and thrive in innovative, safe and healthy communities. These three thrusts are the 
building blocks of our strategy: 

• Live: AH will redefine its approach to affordable housing development to emphasize 
community development, alongside the creation of live-work-thrive innovation spaces. 

• Work: AH will invest agency funding toward the agency’s self-sufficiency programs, 
with a focus on family independence, student achievement, digital literacy/connectivity, 
health and volunteerism. 

• Thrive: AH will streamline its service delivery approach by updating financial policies 
and protocols, continuing to reduce operational overhead, and identifying areas to 
preserve and increase quality affordable housing in the City of Atlanta. 

 
AH believes that people, not buildings, are the heartbeat of a community. Thus, as we strive to 
increase access to quality housing for all, we also consider the needs of those we serve and ways in 
which we can improve their lives and the surroundings. That is the core of Vision 2022. It is a strategy 
about people and community — people living well and working toward total self-reliance in 
communities that thrive. 
 

Vision 2022 is fully described on AH’s website at 
https://www.atlantahousing.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/03/Vision2022_3.23.17.pdf. 
 

Housing Profile: AH chartered a new course and embarked on an important and ambitious mission: 
to transform its delivery of affordable housing by ending the practice of concentrating low-income 
families and by abandoning the traditional 100% public housing model through implementation of a 
comprehensive and strategic Revitalization Program. Under AH’s Revitalization Program, public-
housing-assisted households were relocated to housing of their choice, primarily to private housing 

https://www.atlantahousing.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Vision2022_3.23.17.pdf
https://www.atlantahousing.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Vision2022_3.23.17.pdf
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(using tenant-based HCVs). After relocation, distressed and obsolete housing projects were 
demolished, and the sites remediated and prepared for development. 
 
Through partnerships with excellent private-sector developers, market-rate, quality, mixed-use, 
mixed-income communities continue to be developed using public and private resources. AH’s 
Revitalization Program is designed to intentionally de-concentrate poverty and create communities 
of choice, where Atlanta’s families from every socio-economic status can live, learn, work, and play 
as they pursue their version of the American dream. 
 
As of June 30, 2010, AH successfully completed the relocation of all affected public-housing-assisted 
households and, by December 31, 2010, AH had completed the demolition of the 12 remaining 
properties. With the completion of the relocation and demolition phases, AH no longer owns or 
operates any large-family public housing projects, thereby ending the era of warehousing low-income 
households in distressed and obsolete developments in isolated and depressed areas. 
 
In 2012, AH used its MTW authority to design a reformulation demonstration by which HUD would 
replace public housing funding with HCV funding for selected communities in AH’s real estate 
portfolio. Chosen communities would secure private financing for revitalization and HUD would 
provide sufficient HCV funding to pay for operating expenses as well as covering debt service. AH 
and HUD used the reformulation demonstration to convert Centennial Place I, II, III and IV to HCV 
funding in 2013. 
 
At the same time, however, HUD created a program with similar aims known as the Rental Assistance 
Demonstration (“RAD”) and notified AH that future conversions would use the RAD model. In 2017, 
Juniper & Tenth High-rise became AH’s first conversion to HCV funding under RAD. Its tenants 
were temporarily relocated and the property remodeled with re-occupancy essentially completed by 
the end of FY 2018. HUD subsequently approved several more AH communities for RAD conversion 
and invited AH to convert the rest of its AH-Owned and AH-supported mixed-income, mixed-finance 
(“MIXED”) properties, which AH plans to accomplish in the coming years. By June 30, 2021, AH 
had converted four AH-Owned communities and nine MIXED communities, and was working on the 
conversion of 10 additional communities, all projected to be closed in FY 2022 and FY 2023. 
 
Choice Atlanta is Atlanta Housing’s initiative as part of HUD’s Choice Neighborhoods (“CN”) 
program.  AH as lead applicant, and the City of Atlanta as co-applicant, received a 2010 $250,000 
Choice Neighborhoods Planning Grant and in 2015 a $30 million Choice Neighborhoods 
Implementation Grant (“CNIG”) from HUD to create and implement a Neighborhood 
Transformation Plan for the former University Homes public housing site.  Using HUD’s Housing, 
People, and Neighborhood focus, the $30 million grant is being utilized to create 519 new housing 
units, provide supportive services and resources targeting affected AH-assisted households, and 
support critical neighborhood improvements.    
 
As a result of the above-described strategic initiatives and leveraging more than $300 million in 
HOPE VI, other public housing development funds and MTW funds, which resulted in a total 
financial investment and economic impact of more than $2 billion, AH’s portfolio of housing 
opportunities has changed dramatically since 1995. In 1994, AH owned and operated 14,300 public-
housing-assisted units in 43 conventional public housing communities, and administered 
approximately 4,500 certificates and vouchers. As of June 30, 2021, AH’s housing profile and 
operating activities have evolved into the following: 
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• Public-housing-assisted communities (seven senior high-rise buildings and two small-
family developments) owned and operated through professional property management 
firms, with 1,261 housing units, all of which are well-located in economically integrated 
neighborhoods (referred to as AH-Owned residential communities); 

• Operating subsidy for 1,562 Annual Contribution Contract (“ACC”) (HUD-subsidized) 

units in 25 AH-Sponsored MIXED rental communities owned and operated by related 
public/private Owner Entities; 

• Tenant-based HCV rental assistance for 11,359 units owned and operated by private 
rental property owners; 

• HomeFlex (AH’s project-based rental assistance program) for 1,521 units at 20 of the 
AH-Sponsored MIXED rental communities owned and operated by related public/private 
Owner Entities; 

• Rental assistance for 4,841 HomeFlex units in 58 Stand Alone HomeFlex and Supportive 
Housing (HAVEN) communities owned and operated by unrelated private owners; 

• Rental assistance for 1,340 HomeFlex units in the 13 communities that converted under 
HUD’s RAD program; 

• Additional rental assistance to 295 participants in a local short-term housing assistance 
program for homeless prevention; 

• Mortgage assistance to 18 participants, who used their tenant-based HCVs for 
homeownership; and 

• Down Payment Assistance (“DPA”) loans to 261 new homeowners during FY 2021, 

bring the total to 1,432 first-time homebuyers since the inception of the program in 2005. 
 
The implementation of these initiatives has also changed the mix of AH’s revenue from HUD being 
primarily comprised of Section 9 Public Housing operating funds and capital funds in 1995 to being 
primarily comprised of HCV funds in FY 2021. During FY 2021, approximately 96% of AH’s funds 
received from HUD were attributable to HCV funds. 
 
Moreover, as a result of the strategic Revitalization Program and other initiatives, and the shift from 
a primarily Public Housing operating fund platform to the HCV fund platform, AH’s operations are 
more stable and its financial position is stronger. 
 
In addition to the above operating profile, AH is one of the 11 founding member organizations of 
National Housing Compliance, Inc. (“NHC”), a Georgia not-for-profit 501(c)(4) corporation that 
performs contract administration services as HUD’s Performance Based Contract Administrator 
(“PBCA”) for the states of Illinois and Georgia. NHC makes periodic contributions to members based 
on NHC’s earned PBCA revenue in excess of NHC’s operating expenses. As a member, AH receives 
non-federal contributions from NHC activities in Illinois and Georgia, which are included in AH’s 
financial statements as operating revenue. 
 
Budget Process and Monitoring: The annual budget for the Authority is prepared with significant 
involvement from the CEO and the executive and senior leadership staff, and the support and analysis 
of AH Financial Planning and Analytics staff. At the beginning of the budget process, the CEO and 
executive staff establish the key areas of focus for the coming year based on the agency’s Strategic 
Plan and the MTW Annual Plan. AH then develops an annual budget to accomplish the goals and 
priorities of that plan. 
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On an annual basis, the Board approves the Authority’s Comprehensive Operating and Capital Budget 
after the CEO has presented both the MTW Annual Plan and the Authority’s proposed budget for 
public review and comment. Throughout the fiscal year, the Board-approved budget becomes the 
primary management tool to plan, control and evaluate spending for major activities and programs. 
Monthly actual-to-budget performance reports are reviewed by the Financial Planning and Analytics 
staff and the Authority’s departments. Monthly actual-to-budget reviews are conducted at the 
management and executive levels, and budget revisions and actions to address variances against the 
budget are taken, as needed, to ensure appropriate budget control. A quarterly report is also submitted 
to the Board with a complete analysis and explanations of significant actual-to-budget variances. 
 
Financial and Operational Oversight: There are several ways the Authority is ensuring financial 
and operational oversight. The key mechanisms are as follows: 

• Three standing Board Committees which meet periodically with AH’s senior 
management: Audit and Finance Committee; Operations Committee; and Real Estate 
Committee. Each committee has its own charter and is comprised of at least two 
Commissioners. 

• An expanded Strategy, Policy and Regulatory Affairs department role and responsibility 
to ensure continued regulatory compliance, operational performance monitoring and 
productivity of real estate development, asset portfolio and HCV management. 

• Financial and operational compliance audits (Business Process Review) conducted at 
least once a year at each of the communities where the Authority-assisted participants 
reside. 
 

Economic Conditions and Financial Outlook 

 
Our MD&A on page 23 provides a comprehensive analysis of national and local economic conditions 
and financial outlook, including the status and outlook of federal funding. 
 
FY 2021 Accomplishments and Program Highlights 

 
AH comprehensively operates the entire agency pursuant to its MTW Agreement, which was 
successfully extended to 2028 during 2016, and utilizes fungibility of its MTW Single Fund in 
operating and administering its programs. In cases where there are statutory requirements or grant 
provisions, AH complies with these terms as required. Each AH program is designed to economically 
and efficiently leverage all AH resources where possible, inclusive of finances and funding flexibility, 
knowledge and experience, grant funds, rental subsidies, partner relationships and land. Through its 
various housing solutions and programs, all supported by human development services, AH is able to 
meet a broad spectrum of housing needs for low-income families in the City of Atlanta. 
 
Below are some of AH’s FY 2021 major accomplishments and milestones, which demonstrate AH’s 
continued strategic focus and commitment to its Vision and three primary statutory goals. 
 
Real Estate Development and Public Housing 

• As part of the University Choice Neighborhoods Program, in FY 2021, lease-up was 

completed at Ashley Scholars Landing I, a multifamily rental community of 135 units 
(54 replacement/affordable, 54 workforce and 27 market units) that was developed in 



 

10 

2019. Ashley Scholars Landing I C, a 72-unit multifamily rental community (25 
replacement/affordable, 25 workforce and 22 market units) financial closing occurred 

in July 2021. Planning for the development of the last rental phase, Ashley Scholars 
Landing II, a 212-unit multifamily rental community, is well underway with financial 
closing planned for CY 2022. 

• Herndon Senior, the first phase of the development of Herndon Square, closed in 
December 2019 with construction completion in April 2021, providing 97 homes for 
independent seniors. Lease-up continued throughout the remainder of FY 2021. 

• In December 2020, AH was awarded a $450,000 Choice Neighborhoods Planning Grant 
to advance the master planning of the 74-acre Bowen Homes and develop a community-
driven Neighborhood Transformation Plan for the former Bowen Homes public housing 
site, the adjacent Carey Park neighborhood and a portion of the Donald Lee Holloway 
commercial corridor. 

• AH has 107 acres at 6 sites actively in various stages of development with procured 
development partners and will issue Requests for Proposal for development partners in 
FY 2022 – FY 2023 for 5 sites to develop an additional 112 acres. 

• Continued efforts to convert the public housing portfolio from Section 9-funded public 
housing to Section 8-funded HomeFlex under HUD’s RAD program. At the end of 
FY 2021, AH had converted 1,340 units at 13 communities. 

• Positioned eight communities comprised of 650 affordable units for RAD 

conversion in FY 2021; however, the projects were delayed and are on track to 

close in FY 2022, which include: Barge Road High-rise; Hightower Manor High-rise; 
Villages of Castleberry Hills II; and four Columbia MIXED communities. 

• Added 130 assisted units through its private, multifamily HomeFlex program. 

• 261 eligible and first-time homebuyers received Down Payment Assistance from AH. 
 

Supportive Housing 

• Increased Households Served to 26,507, a 3.0% increase over FY 2020 Households 
Served. 

• 295 families at risk of homelessness were stabilized through short-term rental 
assistance under the Home Again program. 

 
Human Development 

• $3.2 million invested to provide human development services to help families 
overcome barriers to work. 

• Provided human development and case management services to more than 2,115 

Housing Choice participants. 

• 29 students were awarded scholarships valued at more than $60,000 through AH’s 
James Allen Community Scholars Award and University Choice Neighborhoods. 

• AH’s annual Summer Internship Program hosted 15 students residing in AH-
assisted units, encouraging them to explore career options and opportunities. 
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Administration 

• Again awarded the Distinguished Budget Presentation Award by the Government 

Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (“GFOA”) for its 
FY 2021 Budget. 

• Again awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 
from GFOA for its FY 2020 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 

 
We take our responsibility to serve the community and Atlanta’s low-income families very seriously. 
Our MTW Agreement has allowed us to be innovative, engaging our partners and stakeholders in 
local problem-solving. We believe we are transforming the business of helping people. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

 
 
To the Board of Commissioners 
The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Housing Authority of the City of 
Atlanta, Georgia as of and for the years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, and the related notes 
to the financial statements, which collectively comprise The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, 
Georgia’s basic financial statements, as listed in the Table of Contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia as of June 30, 2021 and 
June 30, 2020, and the changes in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 

 

Required Supplementary Information 

 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis on pages 23 to 48 and the Schedule of Changes in Net Pension 
Liability and Related Ratios and Schedule of Pension Plan Contributions on pages 90 and 91, 
respectively, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not 
a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, 
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements 
in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited 
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audits of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 

 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia’s basic financial 
statements. The introductory section, the Financial Data Schedules required by the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) and notes thereto, the Schedules of Related-Party 
Development Loans, the Schedules of Related-Party Other Loans and Fees Receivable, the Schedules 
of Related-Party Transactions, the Schedule of HUD-Funded Grants, the Schedule of RHF Program 
Completion Costs and Advances Program Certification, the Schedule of ROSS Program Completion 
Costs and Advances Program Certification, and the statistical information are presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
 
The HUD Financial Data Schedules and notes thereto, Schedules of Related-Party Development Loans, 
Schedules of Related-Party Other Loans and Fees Receivable, Schedules of Related-Party Transactions, 
Schedule of HUD-Funded Grants, Schedule of RHF Program Completion Costs and Advances Program 
Certification, and Schedule of ROSS Program Completion Costs and Advances Program Certification 
are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying  
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accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the HUD Financial Data Schedules and related 
notes thereto, Schedules of Related-Party Development Loans, Schedules of Related-Party Other Loans 
and Fees Receivable, Schedules of Related-Party Transactions, Schedule of HUD-Funded Grants, 
Schedule of RHF Program Completion Costs and Advances Program Certification, and Schedule of 
ROSS Program Completion Costs and Advances Program Certification are fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
The introductory section and statistical information have not been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on them. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 
29, 2022, on our consideration of The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia’s internal 
control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to 
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of The Housing Authority of 
the City of Atlanta, Georgia’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is 
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 
 

 
Charlotte, North Carolina 
September 29, 2022 
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The management of The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia (referred to as “Atlanta 

Housing,” “AH” or “Authority”) is providing this Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) 

as an analytical overview of AH’s financial performance for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 

(“FY 2021”) and June 30, 2020 (“FY 2020”). This document should be read in conjunction with the 

Letter of Transmittal, AH’s Financial Statements and accompanying Notes. 

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
AH is pleased to present its Financial Statements for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021, and June 30, 
2020, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP”) as applied to governmental entities. GAAP requires the inclusion of three basic financial 
statements: statement of net position (balance sheet); statement of revenues, expenses and changes in 
net position; and statement of cash flows. In addition, GAAP requires the inclusion of this MD&A as 
required supplementary information. 

The financial statements provide both short- and long-term information about the Authority’s financial 
condition. The financial statements also include notes that provide additional information, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies applied consistently in the preparation of the financial 
statements. As provided under GAAP, the Authority uses the accrual basis of accounting to prepare its 
financial statements. Under this basis of accounting, revenue is recognized in the period in which it is 
earned, and expense, including depreciation and amortization, is recognized in the period in which it is 
incurred. All assets and deferred outflows and liabilities and deferred inflows associated with the 
operations of the Authority are included in the statements of net position. 

AH’s results of operations are presented in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net 
position, where activities are categorized between operating and non-operating items. AH defines its 
operating revenues as income derived from operating funds received from HUD, tenant dwelling 
revenue, development and other grants used for operating expenses, as well as fees earned in 
conjunction with development activities under AH’s development and revitalization program. 
Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of housing assistance to low-income families, 
operating housing units and providing tenant services, revitalization, demolition and remediation, 
administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. Non-operating revenues and expenses 
include interest and investment income, gain from the sale of assets, adjustments to valuation 
allowances and interest expense. Capital contributions include MTW Single Fund and development 
grants used for capitalized expenditures, including loans, in connection with modernization, 
development and revitalization activities. See Note B.13 of the Financial Statements for further 
information. 
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FY 2021 OPERATION HIGHLIGHTS 

 
Advancing Affordable Housing Opportunities 
 
Using its available programs, AH continued to advance and facilitate quality affordable housing 
opportunities in a variety of healthy mixed-income communities for low-income families as follows: 
 
Tenant-based Housing Choice Voucher Program 

Under the HCV program, AH supported 10,704 households at the end of FY 2021 compared to 11,122 
at the end of FY 2020, which includes in-jurisdiction participants, as well as participants who: (a) moved 
from AH’s service area to a residence outside of AH’s service area; (b) moved into AH’s service area 
from other public housing agencies’ service areas; (c) are searching for a new unit; or (d) received 
mortgage assistance for their homes in AH’s service area. Significant FY 2021 accomplishments 
include: 

• A total of $123.7 million provided in payments under the HCV program. 

• 738 new households, before attrition, housed from the Housing Choice waiting list and for 
special programs. 

 
HomeFlex Program 

At the end of FY 2021, 7,702 households were supported under AH’s HomeFlex program, including 
RAD converted units, compared to 7,664 at the end of FY 2020. This program includes payments to 
related Owner Entities (private-sector owners) of AH-Sponsored MIXED communities, unrelated 
private-sector owners of mixed-income communities and unrelated owners of Stand Alone HomeFlex 
and HAVEN communities. Significant FY 2021 accomplishments include: 

• A total of $53.4 million provided in payments under this program. 

• HomeFlex rental assistance provided to 4,841 households at 58 unrelated Stand Alone 

HomeFlex and Supportive Housing (“HAVEN”) communities 

• HomeFlex rental assistance provided to 1,521 households at 20 AH-Sponsored MIXED 
communities. 

• RAD rental assistance provided to 1,340 households at 13 AH-Sponsored MIXED 
communities. 
 

Operating Subsidy Provided to Owner Entities of AH-Sponsored MIXED Communities 

AH closed out FY 2021 serving 1,562 families in public-housing-assisted units in 25 AH-Sponsored 
MIXED rental communities. In FY 2021, AH provided $7.8 million in operating subsidy to Owner 
Entities, in accordance with regulatory and operating agreements, to cover the operating costs of AH-
assisted units in MIXED communities not covered by tenant rents. 
 
Operating Expenses and Capital Improvements at 

AH-Owned Residential Communities 

At the end of FY 2021, AH owned nine communities: 
seven senior high-rises which are dedicated to advancing 
the strategic goals of independent living and improving the 
quality of life for elderly and disabled persons; and two 
small-family communities.  
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FY 2021 OPERATION HIGHLIGHTS — continued 

 

During FY 2021, AH: 

• Funded $9.9 million in operating expenses, inclusive of site-based human development 
services, which were not covered by tenant rents, to support a total of 1,261 households. 

• Invested $3.2 million for modernization and renovation construction projects designed to 
maintain AH’s properties and to continue to improve the quality of life at AH-Owned senior 
high-rises and multifamily communities. 

• Continued to realize substantial benefits from the energy and efficiency improvements 
completed during FY 2014 and funded under the Energy Performance Contract (“EPC”) 
capital lease secured during FY 2012. 

 

Achieving Our Vision: 

Healthy Mixed-Income Communities; 

Healthy Self-Sufficient Families 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Real Estate Development and Revitalization Activities 
 
AH funded $28.9 million in development and revitalization activities during FY 2021 as AH continued 
acquisitions and planning efforts to enhance its development capacity and continued to advance Master 
Plans for the redevelopment of its former public housing properties into MIXED communities. 
 
FY 2021 development and revitalization activity highlights include: 
 
University Homes Choice Neighborhoods Implementation Grant 

(community is now known as Scholars Landing) 

Pursuant to its $30 million University Homes Choice Neighborhoods Implementation Grant (CNIG) 
award in 2015, AH continued to administer CNIG activities designed to redevelop the former University 
Homes public housing site and revitalize the University Choice Neighborhood (UCN). Collectively, 
UCN is now comprised of Ashview Heights, Atlanta University Center and Vine City. Choice 
Neighborhoods Atlanta is a neighborhood transformation initiative focused on people, housing and 
neighborhood. 
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FY 2021 OPERATION HIGHLIGHTS — continued 

 
During FY 2021, AH continued work on the CNIG Housing 
Component to redevelop the 26 acres of the former University 
Homes public housing community (Scholars Landing) with AH’s 
development partner. AH also made investments in Neighborhood 
and People programs, and conducted activities toward the 
achievement of the UCN Transformation Plan milestones. 

Working with its development partner to advance the housing 
component of the University Homes CNIG program, progress 

continued on the Scholars Landing buildout in FY 2021as follows: 

Ashley I A/B (Ashley at Scholars Landing) 

• The 135-unit multifamily rental community includes 54 
HomeFlex, 54 Choice Neighborhoods workforce and 27 
market-rate rental units 

• Construction was completed in December 2019; lease-up 
activities continued in FY 2021 and it is now currently fully 
occupied. 

Ashley I C 

• Planning/predevelopment continued for the development of a 72-unit multifamily rental 
community, to be comprised of 25 low-income, 25 CN workforce and 22 market-rate rental 
units. 

• Financial closing occurred and construction is ongoing. 

Ashley II 

• Planning/predevelopment continued for the development of a 212-unit multifamily rental 
community, to be comprised of 90 low-income, 24 Low Income Housing Tax Credit-only and 
98 market-rate rental units. 

• Financial closing is anticipated for CY 2022 with construction to immediately follow. 

Roosevelt Hall 

Design was completed, permits approved and construction started in FY 2021 on this innovative 
adaptive reuse of the original commercial and community building that supported the former residents 
of University Homes. With a $10 million investment, this building will be preserved to support future 
Choice Neighborhoods initiatives, community activities and the community engagement work of the 
adjacent Atlanta University Center schools. Construction is scheduled for completion in CY 2022. 
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FY 2021 OPERATION HIGHLIGHTS — continued 

 

HUD’s Rehabilitation Assistance Demonstration (“RAD”) Program 

During FY 2021, AH continued its efforts to convert its public housing portfolio from Section 9-funded 
public housing to Section 8-funded Project Based Voucher communities under HUD’s RAD program. 

• Work continued to convert Columbia Village, Hightower Manor, Barge Road and Villages at 
Castleberry Hills II to Section 8 funding sources and rehabilitation; and four Columbia properties 
for subsidy conversion only. Columbia Village and Hightower Manor closed in FY 2022. 
However, due to delays, Barge Road and Castleberry Hills II are now planned to close in 
FY 2023. 

AH Co-investment Program 

In addition to development on its vacant land, with a total $60 million planned investment, AH is 
partnering with the Atlanta BeltLine Inc., Invest Atlanta and development partners through AH’s Co-
Investment Program to increase the supply of affordable housing throughout the City of Atlanta. This 
innovative program allows AH to support shovel-ready affordable housing projects throughout the 
City of Atlanta that require gap financing. 

• The program guidelines and activities were submitted to HUD as part of the MTW annual 
planning process for FY 2022 and final approval was received on September 29, 2021. 

• In order to support the preservation of existing affordable housing and as a demonstration 
program, AH closed on London Townhomes, an investment of $7.4 million, with HUD approval 
in August 2020 for the renovation of 200 townhomes, providing 150 HomeFlex vouchers. 

• Planning and predevelopment work was completed on a co-investment project known as 872 
Memorial Drive or Madison Reynoldstown, in partnership with Atlanta BeltLine Inc. and its 
development partner. Financial closing occurred in December 2021. 

• Deal negotiations and partnership discussions were initiated with private sector developers to 
secure co-investment funds for gap financing and, in some cases, for AH to acquire the land for a 
future ground lease. It is anticipated that approximately 1,100 affordable units will be created in 
FY 2022 and beyond through these unique partnerships. 

Atlanta Civic Center 

In FY 2021, AH performed due diligence on the 19.5-acre site and existing structures, and developed 
a revised development program that envisions a dense mixed-use, mixed-income urban development 
that will integrate mixed-income housing, diverse retail and commercial uses with preservation of the 
existing civic structures in order to create an economic and equitable development center for the Old 
Fourth Ward area. 

AH issued a Request for Qualifications for development partners in late FY 2021, followed by a 
Request for Proposals to qualified developers who responded to the RFQ. Final selection of a 
development partner is planned for FY 2023. 

Centennial Place (Techwood/Clark Howell Homes Revitalization) 

Public improvement construction work funded by the City of Atlanta commenced in June 2019 on a 
road to accommodate the final phase of the Centennial development, Centennial Park North II and 
GA Tech. Construction was completed in FY 2022. 
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FY 2021 OPERATION HIGHLIGHTS — continued 

 

CollegeTown at West End (Harris Homes Revitalization) 

During FY 2020, AH worked with HUD to approve the disposition of approximately three acres of AH-
Owned land to Truly Living Well (“TLW”) Center for Natural Urban Agriculture in support of the 
existing TLW urban farm and educational center for commensurate benefits to the community and low-
income families of CollegeTown. The financial closing to dispose of the land to TLW occurred in 
July 2020 (FY 2021). 

Englewood Manor 

• AH is advancing the redevelopment of the 30-acre former Englewood Manor public housing site, 
working with two development partners. 

• In FY 2021, AH worked collaboratively with the developers on a final master and infrastructure 
plan to create an innovative green storm water/infrastructure plan that is designed to meet the 
stringent requirements of SITES certification for sustainable and resilient landscapes. 

• In FY 2021, AH and its development partners worked with an architectural firm to develop the 
civil engineering drawings for construction with the goal to begin construction in FY 2023. 

• In late FY 2021, AH initiated the entitlement process to rezone the site consistent with the master 
plan and to receive approval from the Atlanta Regional Commission for a Development of 
Regional Impact study focusing on transportation impacts of this large-scale development on a 
surrounding neighborhood. 

• Community engagement continued throughout FY 2021. 

• AH is working to finalize negotiations on an acquisition from the City of Atlanta of land parcels at 
1111 and 360 Hill Street, located north of the former 
public housing site. The proposed transaction 
contemplates AH disposing of Jonesboro South to the 
City of Atlanta, purchasing 1111 and 360 Hill Street, 
with a lease-back agreement with the City of Atlanta 
for ongoing operations on 360 Hill Street through 
2023. 

Herndon Square (Herndon Homes Revitalization) 

• Public improvements and infrastructure construction for Phase I started on the 12-acre site in 2019 
and were completed in late FY 2021, with coverage of approximately 50% of the site. 

• The first phase of development, Herndon Senior, closed in December 2019, for 97 affordable 
rental units for independent seniors and was completed in April 2021. The former residents of 
Herndon Homes were offered the first units to support their ability to return to the site if desired. 
Lease-up continued through the balance of FY 2021. 

• Work continued on the development plan for the future phases of development with Phase II to 
include mixed-income multifamily rental units and potentially retail, depending on market 
conditions. Financial closing is expected in FY 2023. 

• AH continued outreach activities to former Herndon Homes residents and community engagement 
with the neighborhood. 
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FY 2021 OPERATION HIGHLIGHTS — continued 

 

Magnolia Park (part of Choice Neighborhoods) 

• Following a request for proposals issued for the disposition and development of 30 scattered site 
properties on approximately 4 acres within the Vine City neighborhood with the University 
Choice Neighborhoods Program boundaries, three local developers were selected. 

• Negotiating final business terms with two of the developers was put on hold in FY 2021 due to 
concerns about the effects of the pandemic upon the sale of homes. Negotiations continued with 
the third developer who proposed affordable rental housing; however, a final decision was 
withheld pending the acquisition of a parcel of land by the developer that was critical to the 
development plan. Construction is planned to begin in FY 2023. 

West Highlands at Perry Boulevard (Perry Homes Revitalization) 

• Based on a HUD approval in 2018, in FY 2021 AH continued to work on the land conveyance to 
the Homeowner Association related to the development of greenspace, parks, storm water 
management system and, with the City of Atlanta, public infrastructure. 

• AH continued negotiations with the homeowner developer for West Highlands to purchase 
additional former Perry Homes land and off-site land that AH had purchased to support the 
redevelopment — with plans to develop an additional 499 for-sale homes on approximately 25 
acres. 

• The homeownership developer continued to construct for-sale affordable and market-rate housing 
on former Perry Homes land conveyed to the developer, selling 5–9 homes per month. 

Bowen Homes 

In December 2020, AH received a $450,000 Choice Neighborhood Planning Grant from the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development with the goal of creating a Neighborhood 
Transformation Plan (“Bowen NTP”) for the 74-acre former Bowen Homes public housing site, the 
surrounding Carey Park neighborhood and a portion of the Donald Lee Hallowell Parkway. 
Implementation of this grant is made possible through partnerships with leveraged funding and in-
kind investments from the City of Atlanta, Councilmember Hillis’ office, Invest Atlanta, Atlanta 
Public Schools, Georgia Conservancy, The Trust for Public Land, Center for Hard to Recycle 
Materials, NPU-G, the community, and former residents of Bowen Homes. 

In FY 2021, AH initiated the planning and design process with the procurement of two consultants to 
support the work related to master planning, civil design, community engagement and drafting the 
Bowen NTP. To support community outreach and engagement, AH established 8 neighborhood focus 
groups, a former Resident Advisory Committee and a neighborhood stakeholder Steering Committee. 
AH submitted a draft of the Neighborhood Transformation Plan in June 2022, with the final plan due 
in December 2022. 

Mechanicsville (McDaniel Glenn Revitalization) 

In FY 2021, AH advanced discussions with its development partner to complete the final phases of 
development of approximately 10 acres of the former McDaniel Glenn public housing land, currently 
vacant. Predevelopment work was initiated with start of construction on approximately 136 for-sale 
homes to begin in FY 2023. 

 

  



 
 

The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

30 

FY 2021 OPERATION HIGHLIGHTS — continued 

 

RFPs for Future Development of AH-Owned Vacant Land 

In FY 2021, AH initiated planning and due diligence on 3 AH-Owned vacant land sites with plans to 
issue a Request for Proposal(s) for development partners in FY 2023: North Avenue (4 acres); Palmer 
House (1 acre); and Johnson Road (13 acres). 

Homeownership Down Payment Assistance 

Using its MTW flexibility, AH partnered with local lenders to provide $5.6 million in down payment 
assistance to 261 low-income, first-time homebuyers purchasing homes throughout the City of 
Atlanta. Homebuyers qualify for this program by earning 80% or less of the Area Median Income, or 
less than $68,960, for a family of four as of June 2021. 

Wildwood 

In January 2020, HUD approved the disposition of 15 acres and a non-dwelling building to a nonprofit 
educational organization that provides youth with an environmental and agricultural-focused learning 
experience. The property closed in March 2021. 
 

      

Fulfilling our Mission: 

To provide quality affordable housing in 

amenity-rich, mixed-income communities for the 

betterment of the community. 
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FY 2021 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 
AH’s financial position remained strong with a net position of $507.6 million at June 30, 2021. 

• Total assets exceeded total liabilities at June 30, 2021, by $507.6 million (net position), 
representing a $22.4 million or 4.6% increase from the prior year. Unrestricted net position 
of $147.0 million at the end of FY 2021 consisted primarily of unrestricted cash and 
investments available primarily for MTW-authorized activities, as well as a working capital 
reserve to support liquidity for AH public housing operations. In addition to its $147.0 
million unrestricted net position at June 30, 2021, AH had $119.3 million in funds held at 
HUD from unused HCV subsidy, which is available to AH for future uses, and for which 
AH has commitments in place with affordable-housing-related projects. 

• The $22.4 million increase in net position year-over-year resulted primarily from the receipt 

of $26.0 million in HUD funds for development and modernization expenditures, offset 
primarily by a net operating loss of $3.0 million. In addition, the net increase was also 
partially offset by $0.4 million in net non-operating expenses, primarily caused by $5.2 
million in valuation allowances and interest expense as well as $4.8 million in interest and 
investment income, and gain from the sale of lots for homeownership at West Highlands. 

• AH’s current ratio (ratio of current assets over current liabilities) that measures AH’s 
liquidity decreased from 6.3 to 3.5 at the end of FY 2021. This was the result of investment 
in long-term government bonds which have since been called. 

• Related-party development loans, receivables and investments in partnerships, net of 
allowance, increased by $4.9 million primarily due to new loans issued as part of Herndon 
Homes and London Townhomes developments, as well as property sales under RAD 
conversions and other homeownership land conveyance, which were partially offset by 
increased loan valuation allowances. 

• Capital assets increased by $6.8 million primarily due to a $13.3 million increase in assets, 

including $6.9 million in building improvements and $2.7 million in furniture and 
equipment purchases for AH Headquarters and AH-Owned properties, $1.7 million for the 
acquisition of Harmony at Bakers Ferry, $0.9 million in site improvements, as well as other 
capital assets. This was offset by a $6.6 million in depreciation. 

• Other non-current assets increased by $52.7 million due to the increase in investment of 
surplus cash in long-term bonds due to the low rates offered for short-term bonds in the 
market. 

• The $0.7 million decrease in total liabilities reflects a $2.3 million increase in current 

liabilities offset by a reduction of $1.6 million in long-term debt due to payoff of EPC loans 
and a reduction of $0.6 million in net pension plan liabilities. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

 
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION* 

As of June 30, 

(in millions) 

 

2021 2020 2019 

2021 vs. 

2020 

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

2020 vs. 

2019 

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS      

Current assets $     69.5 $   112.1 $   110.5 $   (42.7) $      1.6 
Related-party development loans, receivables and 
investments in partnerships, net of allowance 216.5 211.6 187.0 4.9 24.6 

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 139.2 132.4 143.5 6.8 (11.1) 
Other non-current assets and deferred outflows 113.4 60.7 48.7 52.7 12.0 

Total non-current assets and deferred outflows 469.2 404.7 379.2 64.5 25.5 

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS $   538.6 $   516.9 $   489.7 $     21.8 $     27.2 

LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS      
Current liabilities $20.1 $     17.8 $     17.3 $2.3 $       0.5 

Long-term debt, net of current portion 1.6 3.2 3.3 (1.6) (0.1) 
Net pension plan liability 0.2 0.8 0.9 (0.6) (0.1) 
Other non-current liabilities and deferred inflows 9.1 9.9 9.1 (0.8) 0.8 

Total liabilities and deferred inflows 31.0 31.7 30.6 (0.7) 1.1 
      

NET POSITION      

Net investment in capital assets 137.6 129.2 140.1 8.4 (10.9) 
Restricted–Notes receivables, HUD and program 

reserves 
 

223.0 
 

215.1 
 

252.5 
 

8.0 
 

(37.4) 
Unrestricted 147.0 140.9 66.5 6.1 74.4 

Total net position 507.6 485.2 459.1 22.4 26.1 

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS AND NET 

POSITION 
$   538.6 $   516.9 $   489.7 $     21.8 $     27.2 

 

* As a result of rounding, the sum of individual line items may deviate slightly from the actual total. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS — continued 

 

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 

 

June 30, 2021 vs. June 30, 2020 
 
Total assets and deferred outflows increased by $21.8 million year-over-year primarily due to the 
following: 

• Current assets decreased by $42.7 million year-over-year primarily due to changes in 

AH’s investment portfolio as a response to market conditions. While many previous short-
term investments matured and are held as cash, AH re-invested others in longer-term 
callable instruments to gain higher rates. The majority of these have been called since 
June 30, 2021. 

• Total non-current assets increased by $64.5 million year-over-year primarily due to the 
following items: 

• An increase in Related-party development loans, receivables and investments in 

partnerships, net of allowance of $4.9 million primarily resulting from $6.4 
million in new loans and development-related fees related to London Townhomes, 
as well as existing and prior year development at Herndon Homes Senior. These 
were partially offset by $1.5 million in loan repayments. 

• An increase in Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation of $6.8 million is 

primarily due to a $13.3 million increase in assets, including $6.9 million in 
building improvements and $2.7 million in furniture and equipment purchases for 
AH Headquarters and AH-Owned properties, $1.7 million for the acquisition of 
Harmony at Bakers Ferry, $0.9 million in site improvements, as well as other 
capital assets. This was offset by a $6.6 million in depreciation (see also Note H). 

• An increase of Other non-current assets and deferred outflows of $52.7 million 

resulted from the increase in longer-term callable investments, as discussed above. 

 
June 30, 2020 vs. June 30, 2019 

 
Total assets and deferred outflows increased by $27.2 million year-over-year primarily due to the 
following: 

• Current assets increased by $1.6 million year-over-year primarily due to funds being re-

invested in shorter term maturity instruments as the interest rate environment continued to 
be uncertain, in addition to meeting HUD’s cash management policy requiring AH to hold 
only minimal MTW Single Fund cash. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS, Total Assets and Deferred Outflows — continued 

 

• Total non-current assets and deferred outflows increased by $25.5 million year-over-year 

primarily due to the following items: 

• An increase in Related-party development loans, receivables and investments in 

partnerships, net of allowance of $24.6 million primarily resulting from $35.4 
million in new loans and development-related fees related to RAD conversions for 
Peachtree Road and Marietta Road highrises and Villages at East Lake, as well as 
existing and prior year development and homeownership projects, namely, Herndon 
Homes Senior, Ashley 1 at Scholars Landing, Oasis at Scholars Landing and West 
Highlands. These were partially offset by $4.1 million of loan repayments and a $6.7 
million increase in loan valuation allowances. 

• A decrease in Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation of $11.1 million 

reflecting the disposition of Peachtree Road and Marietta Road highrises under RAD 
conversions, a structure on Civic Center property sold to Southface Energy Institute 
(“SEI”) and depreciation, which together exceeded net additions to capital assets (see 

also Note H). 

• An increase of Other non-current assets and deferred outflows of $12.0 million due 

to an increase in investments, non-current of $14.0 million primarily from additional 
surplus cash investments and change in maturity mix of the investment portfolio, 
partially offset by a $1.9 million decrease in deferred outflows as a result of the 
pension plan termination requiring recognition of the entire deferred actuarial 
experience losses. 

 
Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows 

 

June 30, 2021 vs. June 30, 2020 
 
Total liabilities and deferred inflows decreased by $0.7 million year-over-year primarily due to the 
following: 

• Current liabilities increased by $2.3 million year-over-year primarily due to a $1.9 million 
increase in accrued liabilities and a $0.6 million increase in accounts payable related to the 
timing of invoicing and payments, offset by a $0.2 million decrease in other current 
liabilities resulting from HUD advancing COVID-19-related funding. 

• Long-term debt, net of current portion decreased by $1.6 million, corresponding to the 

principal portion of the EPC capital lease payments made during FY 2021. 

• Net pension plan liability decreased by a net $0.6 million over FY 2020, due to the plan 
being closed in FY 2020 and AH keeping a liability for a participant who could not be 
located (see also Note P). 

• Other non-current liabilities decreased by $0.8 million primarily due to unrealized gains on 

additional land conveyed at West Highlands as part of the homeownership program. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS, Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows — continued 

 

June 30, 2020 vs. June 30, 2019 
 
Total liabilities and deferred inflows increased by $1.1 million year-over-year primarily due to the 
following: 

• Current liabilities increased by $0.5 million year-over-year primarily due to a $0.3 million 

increase in accrued liabilities and a $0.2 million increase in other current liabilities related to 
the timing of invoicing and payments. 

• Long-term debt, net of current portion decreased by $0.1 million, corresponding to the 
principal portion of the EPC capital lease payments made during FY 2020. 

• Net pension plan liability decreased by a net $0.1 million over FY 2019, primarily due to 
lower experience loss on projected liability (see also Note P). 

• Other non-current liabilities and deferred inflows increased by $0.8 million primarily due to 

unrealized gains on additional land conveyed at West Highlands as part of the homeownership 
program, partially offset by a decrease in deferred inflows as a result of the pension plan 
termination requiring full recognition of prior year experience gains. 

 
Total Net Position 

 

June 30, 2021 vs. June 30, 2020 
 
Total net position amounting to $507.6 million at June 30, 2020, represented a $22.4 million increase 
over the prior year as a result of the following: 

• Net investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, improvements and equipment less 
related debt and escrow cash for debt repayment. The majority of these assets have restricted-
use covenants tied to AH’s ownership and cannot be used to liquidate liabilities. AH 
generally uses these assets to provide affordable housing to qualified income-eligible 
families. The $8.4 million increase year-over-year is primarily due to a $13.3 million 
increase in assets, including $6.9 million in building improvements and $2.7 million in 
furniture and equipment purchases for AH Headquarters and AH-Owned properties, $1.7 
million for the acquisition of Harmony at Bakers Ferry, $0.9 million in site improvements, as 
well as other capital assets. This was offset by a $6.6 million in depreciation. See additional 
information under Total Assets and Deferred Outflows year-over-year analysis on page 33. 

• Restricted–Notes receivable, HUD and program reserves net position, subject to both 

internal and external constraints, is calculated at the carrying value of restricted assets less 
related liabilities. This net position is restricted by time and/or purpose. The restricted net 
position includes cash subject to restrictions for HUD-funded programs, related-party 
development and other loans, and operating reserves required in conjunction with the AH-
Sponsored MIXED communities. These assets cannot be used, pledged or mortgaged to a 
third party or seized, foreclosed upon or sold in the case of a default, ahead of any HUD lien 
or interest without HUD approval. This net position increased by $8.0 million year-over-year 
as a result of capital spending at AH-Owned properties offset by a reduction in the EPC 
capital lease. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS, Total Net Position — continued 

 

• Unrestricted net position, although referred to as unrestricted, remains subject to varying 

degrees of limitations. HUD approval is required, with some limited exceptions, to use or 
deploy these assets outside of the ordinary course of AH’s business. AH’s eligible business 
activities are set forth in its HUD-approved MTW Annual Plans. In all cases, AH’s assets are 
subject to the limitations of AH’s charter and the Housing Authorities Laws of the State of 
Georgia. Unrestricted net position increased by $6.1 million year-over-year primarily due to a 
net increase in unrestricted cash and investments resulting from investments and other income. 

 
June 30, 2020 vs. June 30, 2019 
 
Total net position amounting to $485.2 million at June 30, 2020, represented a $26.1 million increase 
over the prior year as a result of the following: 

• Net investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, improvements and equipment less 
related debt and escrow cash for debt repayment. The majority of these assets have restricted-
use covenants tied to AH’s ownership and cannot be used to liquidate liabilities. AH generally 
uses these assets to provide affordable housing to qualified income-eligible families. The 
$10.9 million decrease year-over-year is primarily due to the disposition of Peachtree Road 
and Marietta Road highrises as part of their conversion under RAD, the disposition of a 
structure on Civic Center property to SEI, as well as annual depreciation. See additional 
information under Total Assets and Deferred Outflows year-over-year analysis on page 33. 

• Restricted–Notes receivable, HUD and program reserves net position, subject to both 
internal and external constraints, is calculated at the carrying value of restricted assets less 
related liabilities. This net position is restricted by time and/or purpose. The restricted net 
position includes cash subject to restrictions for HUD-funded programs, related-party 
development and other loans, and operating reserves required in conjunction with the AH-
Sponsored MIXED communities. These assets cannot be used, pledged or mortgaged to a 
third party or seized, foreclosed upon or sold in the case of a default, ahead of any HUD lien 
or interest without HUD approval. This net position decreased by $37.4 million year-over-
year as a result of a $60.3 million reclassification to unrestricted following a comprehensive 
analysis on program income fund characterization finalized during FY 2020. In addition, $2.1 
million of public improvement interest was reclassified from restricted to unrestricted cash. 
Partially offsetting these decreases are a $22.9 million increase in related-party development 
and other loans funded with capital contributions or resulting from property sales under RAD 
during the year, net of loan valuation allowance, and a $2.1 million net increase in restricted 
cash and investments from development-related and investment income. 

• Unrestricted net position, although referred to as unrestricted, remains subject to varying 

degrees of limitations. HUD approval is required, with some limited exceptions, to use or 
deploy these assets outside of the ordinary course of AH’s business. AH’s eligible business 
activities are set forth in its HUD-approved MTW Annual Plans. In all cases, AH’s assets are 
subject to the limitations of AH’s charter and the Housing Authorities Laws of the State of 
Georgia. Unrestricted net position increased by $74.4 million year-over-year primarily due to 
a reclassification of program income and public improvement interest totaling $62.4 million as 
discussed above, as well as a $12.0 million net increase in unrestricted cash and investments 
resulting from investment and other income. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS — continued 

 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF 

REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION* 

Years ended June 30, 

(in millions) 

 

2021 2020 2019 

2021 vs. 

2020 

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

2020 vs. 

2019 

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

OPERATING REVENUES      

MTW Single Fund and development and other grants 

used for operating expenses $   243.3 $   234.2 $   204.1 $     9.1 $     30.1 
Tenant dwelling revenues 4.2 4.8 5.1 (0.7) (0.3) 
Other operating revenues 6.9 8.7 4.5 (1.8) 4.2 

Total operating revenues 254.4 247.7 213.7 6.6 34.0 

OPERATING EXPENSES      

Housing assistance and operating subsidy payments 184.9 171.2 158.7 13.7 12.5 
Administration and general, including direct operating 
divisions 52.8 56.2 45.7 (3.4) 10.5 

Utilities, maintenance and protective services 9.3 10.0 9.5 (0.7) 0.4 

Resident and participant services 3.2 3.1 3.2 0.1 (0.1) 
Revitalization, demolition and remediation 0.6 0.5 1.9 0.1 (1.4) 
Depreciation and amortization 6.6 6.0 7.0 0.6 (1.0) 

Total operating expenses 257.4 246.9 226.0 10.5 20.9 

NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (3.0) 0.8 (12.3) (3.8) 13.1 

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)      
Interest and investment income 4.0 3.9 3.4 0.1 0.5 
Gain (loss) on sale of assets 0.8 2.0 0.8 (1.2) 1.2 
Valuation allowance (5.0) (11.4) (10.5) 6.4 (0.9) 

Interest expense (0.2) (0.2) (0.3) 0.1 0.1 

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (0.4) (5.7) (6.6) 5.3 0.9 

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE CAPITAL 

CONTRIBUTIONS 
(3.5) (4.9) (18.9) 1.5 14.0 

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS      
MTW Single Fund used for modernization and 
development capital expenditures and loans 25.5 12.1 7.9 13.4 4.2 

Development grants used for development capital 

expenditures and loans 0.5 19.0 9.0  (18.5) 10.0 

Total capital contributions 26.0 31.1 16.9 (5.1) 14.2 

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION 22.4 26.1 (2.0) (3.6) 28.0 

NET POSITION — beginning of year 485.2 459.1 461.1 26.1 (2.0) 

NET POSITION — end of year $   507.6 $   485.2 $   459.1 $     22.4 $     26.1 

 

* As a result of rounding, the sum of individual line items may deviate slightly from the actual total. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS — continued 

 

Operating Revenues 

 

 
 
FY 2021 vs. FY 2020 

 
Total operating revenues increased by $6.6 million year-over-year primarily due to a net $9.1 million 
increase in MTW Single Fund and development and other grants used for operating expenses, which is 
primarily comprised of HCV subsidy disbursements and Public Housing Operating Subsidy drawdowns 
used for operating expenses. Since HUD disburses these funds based on actual cash requirements, the 
increase is primarily explained by increased expenditures for Housing Assistance Payments (“HAP”) and 
operating subsidy payments as well as increased administration expenses including direct operating 
divisions expenditures during the year. The increase in MTW Single Funds occurred despite the FY 2020 
one-time funding of $2.0 million in CARES Act funding and $6.7 million for the termination of the 
defined benefit pension plan. 
 
Finally, the increase in MTW Single Fund was marginally offset by $0.7 million reduction in tenant 
dwelling revenue due to AH-Owned properties converting under RAD and no longer reporting rental 
revenue to AH; and a net $1.8 million reduction in other operating revenues primarily driven by the 
FY 2020 recognition of $2.2 million of interest earned on City of Atlanta public improvement funds held 

by AH as described below. 
 
FY 2020 vs. FY 2019 

 
Total operating revenues increased by $34.0 million year-over-year primarily due to a $30.1 million 
increase in MTW Single Fund and development and other grants used for operating expenses, which is 
primarily comprised of HCV subsidy disbursements and Public Housing Operating Subsidy drawdowns 
used for operating expenses. Since HUD disburses these funds based on actual cash requirements, the 
increase is primarily explained by increased expenditures for HAP and operating subsidy payments as 
well as increased administration expenses including direct operating divisions expenditures during the 
year. The funds also included $6.7 million required for the termination of the defined benefit pension plan. 
HUD also disbursed an additional $3.0 million in CARES Act funding in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic. Finally, AH recognized $2.2 million in other operating revenues when it determined that 
interest earned on City of Atlanta public improvement funds held by AH was unrestricted. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS — continued 

 
Operating Expenses 

 

 
 

FY 2021 vs. FY 2020 
 
Total operating expenses increased by $10.5 million year-over-year, with significant changes 
addressed below: 

• Housing Assistance and Operating Subsidy Payments consists of payments to landlords, 

tenants and partners under the tenant-based HCV program, rental assistance paid to 
unrelated private-sector owners and related Owner Entities under the HomeFlex program, 
and operating subsidy paid to related Owner Entities of MIXED rental communities. In 
aggregate, those payments increased by a net of $13.7 million year-over-year as presented 
below: 
 

Housing Assistance and 

Operating Subsidy Payments 

   2021 vs. 2020 vs. 
 (in millions) 2020 2019 

   Increase/ Increase/ 

2021 2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease) 

Tenant-based HCV $  123.7 $  113.4 $  104.7 $     10.3 $       8.7 

HomeFlex 53.4 46.9 41.1 6.5 5.8 

MIXED Operating Subsidy 7.8 10.9 12.9 (3.1) (2.0) 

Total $  184.9 $  171.2 $  158.7 $     13.7 $     12.5 

 

• Tenant-based HCV HAP to landlords and tenants increased by $10.3 million year-
over-year, due to an increase in the average cost per voucher as a result of increased 
rent costs and new programs. 

• HomeFlex subsidies paid to Owner Entities of AH-Sponsored MIXED 

communities, private-sector owners of mixed-income developments and owners of 
HAVEN communities increased by $6.5 million year-over-year primarily due to 
130 new assisted units that came on line or converted during FY 2021, as well as 
full-year funding of the units that came on line during FY 2020. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS, Operating Expenses — continued 

 

• MIXED Operating Subsidy for public-housing-assisted units in AH-Sponsored 

MIXED communities decreased by $3.1 million, primarily due to the full-year 
impact of the conversion of Villages of East Lake I and II and six Columbia 
communities to PBV funding under the RAD program in the second half of 2020, 
and to true-up adjustments of prior year operating subsidies. 

• Administration and general, including direct operating divisions decreased by $3.4 million 
year-over-year primarily due to the one-time $6.7 million decrease pension expense 
resulting from the termination of the defined benefit pension plan and a $1.3 million 
litigation settlement in FY 2020. This was partially offset by an increase in salaries and 
employer-paid benefits of $5.2 million due to an increased number of employees, consulting 
and professional services of $0.7 million during the year. Partially offsetting these increases 
is an aggregate $1.1 million decrease from various other expenses. 

• Utilities, maintenance and protective services decreased by $0.7 million year-over-year 
primarily due to the RAD conversions of Marietta Road and Peachtree Road highrises. 

• Resident and participant services at $3.2 million remained basically at the same level of 

FY 2020. 

• Revitalization, demolition and remediation expenses at $0.6 million remained basically at 
the same level of FY 2020. 

• Depreciation and amortization increased by $0.6 million year-over-year primarily due to 

the depreciation of new assets at AH-Owned properties for site improvements, building 
improvements and furniture and equipment purchases.  

 

FY 2020 vs. FY 2019 
 
Total operating expenses increased by $20.9 million year-over-year, with significant changes 
addressed below: 

• Housing Assistance and Operating Subsidy Payments consists of payments to landlords, 
tenants and partners under the tenant-based HCV program, rental assistance paid to 
unrelated private-sector owners and related Owner Entities under the HomeFlex program, 
and operating subsidy paid to related Owner Entities of MIXED rental communities. In 
aggregate, those payments increased by a net of $12.5 million year-over-year as presented 
below: 

• Tenant-based HCV HAP to landlords and tenants increased by $8.7 million year-

over-year reflecting a 2.6% increase in lease-up of vouchers primarily from the 
waiting list, as well as a 10.9% increase in the average cost of HAP payments due to 
increased rents. 

• HomeFlex subsidies paid to Owner Entities of AH-Sponsored MIXED communities, 
private-sector owners of mixed-income developments and owners of HAVEN 
communities increased by $5.8 million year-over-year primarily due to 504 new 
assisted units and 918 new RAD PBV units that came on line or converted during FY 
2020, as well as full-year funding of the units that came on line during FY 2019. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS, Operating Expenses — continued 

 

• MIXED Operating Subsidy for public-housing-assisted units in AH-Sponsored MIXED 

communities decreased by $2.0 million, primarily due to the conversion of Villages of East 
Lake I and II and six Columbia communities to PBV funding under the RAD program in the 
second half of 2020, partially offset by greater true-up adjustments of prior year operating 
subsidies and increased rents at various other communities. 

• Administration and general, including direct operating divisions increased by 
$10.5 million year-over-year primarily due to increases in pension expense of $6.5 million 
resulting from the termination of the defined benefit pension plan, salaries and employer-
paid benefits of $2.1 million due to an increased number of employees, consulting and 
professional services of $1.1 million, as well as a $1.3 million litigation settlement during 
the year. Partially offsetting these increases is an aggregate $0.5 million decrease from 
various other expenses. 

• Utilities, maintenance and protective services increased by $0.4 million year-over-year 
primarily due to increased protective service expenses at the Civic Center. 

• Resident and participant services at $3.1 million remained basically at the same level of 

FY 2019. 

• Revitalization, demolition and remediation expenses decreased by $1.4 million year-over-
year primarily due to a $1.0 million reduction in public improvement activity at the former 
Perry Homes site (West Highlands) and a $0.4 million decrease in public improvements at 
the Choice Neighborhoods sites. 

• Depreciation and amortization decreased by $1.0 million year-over-year primarily due to 

the sale of two AH-Owned communities under the RAD conversion program, offset by 
minor increases at other properties as new assets were depreciated in FY 2020. 

 

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) 

 

FY 2021 vs. FY 2020 

 

Total non-operating expenses decreased by $5.3 million year-over-year primarily due to the following 
offsetting changes: 

• Interest and investment income increased by $0.1 million year-over-year primarily due to 
a $2.0 million increase in interest income earned on AH loans to partners resulting from 
the timing of cash flow distribution by partners, offset by a $1.9 million decrease in 
investment income resulting from the changes in the market. 

• Gain (loss) on sale of assets decreased by $1.2 million year-over-year, primarily resulting 

from a $0.8 million gain from AH profit participation in the sale of land at the former Perry 
Homes in FY 2021 compared to the $2.0 million gain achieved in FY 2020. 

• Valuation allowance decreased by $6.4 million year-over-year primarily explained by AH 
not taking any additional provision in FY 2021. 

• Interest expenses at $0.2 million represent the interest on the EPC loan, which decreased 
slightly as properties were removed from the loan due to RAD conversion. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS, Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) — continued 

 

FY 2020 vs. FY 2019 

 

Total non-operating expenses decreased by $0.9 million year-over-year primarily due to the following 
offsetting changes: 

• Interest and investment income increased by $0.5 million year-over-year primarily due to 

a $1.5 million increase in investment income from increased surplus cash investments, 
offset by a $1.0 million decrease in interest income earned on AH loans to partners 
resulting from the timing of cash flow distribution by partners. 

• Gain (loss) on sale of assets increased by $1.2 million year-over-year, as the $2.0 million 
gain resulting from AH profit participation in the sale of land in FY 2020 at the former 
Perry Homes exceeded the $0.8 million profit participation realized by AH in FY 2019 
upon the disposal by Integral Development of the last Centennial Park East parcel. 

• Valuation allowance increased by $0.9 million year-over-year primarily explained by a 
$1.9 million additional valuation allowance taken on loans and receivables over the 
additional provision taken in FY 2019, offset by a $0.9 million decrease in FY 2020 DPA 
mortgages, which are fully reserved as they are expected to be forgiven at the end of their 
amortization period. 

• Interest expenses at $0.2 million represent the interest on the EPC loan, which decreased 

slightly as properties were removed from the loan due to RAD conversion. 
 

Capital Contributions 

 
Capital contributions typically consist of reimbursements for capital expenditures and loans under 
capital grants, primarily from Capital Fund Program (CFP) and Choice Neighborhoods grants, for 
modernization, development, revitalization activities and loan reimbursements for projects converted 
under HUD’s RAD Program. They may also include MTW funds used for capitalized expenditures and 
loans associated with development and revitalization activities. 
 
FY 2021 vs. FY 2020 

 
Capital contributions overall decreased by $5.1 million year-over-year primarily due to the following: 

• MTW Single Fund used for modernization and development capital expenditures and 

loans increased by $13.4 million primarily due to MTW funds used for capital 
expenditures at AH-Owned properties in FY 2021.  

• Development grants used for development capital expenditures and loans decreased by 

$18.5 million year-over-year primarily due to all RHF funds being expended in FY 2020; 
therefore, none were available in FY 2021. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS, Capital Contributions — continued 

 

FY 2020 vs. FY 2019 

 
Capital contributions overall increased by $14.2 million year-over-year primarily due to the following: 

• MTW Single Fund used for modernization and development capital expenditures and 

loans increased by $4.2 million primarily from a $3.1 million loan for Oasis at Scholars 
Landing, higher predevelopment and development loans of $1.2 million for London 
Townhomes, Ashley I C at Scholars Landing and Herndon Homes, as well as $0.6 million in 
increased MTW funds used for capital expenditures at AH-Owned properties in FY 2020, 
partially offset by lower Homeownership DPA of $0.7 million. 

• Development grants used for development capital expenditures and loans increased by 
$10.0 million year-over-year primarily due to $7.4 million higher use in FY 2020 of RHF 
funds for the Herndon Homes development loan as well as for loans provided as part of 
Marietta Road and Peachtree Road highrise conversions under RAD. Also, contributing to 
the increase is the use of $2.6 million additional Choice Neighborhoods grants for the 
Ashley I at Scholars Landing construction loan. 
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ECONOMIC FACTORS 

 
Economic Conditions and Financial Outlook 
 
Most local and national economists have stated that Metropolitan-Atlanta and Georgia remain attractive 
places to live, work and invest because the fundamentals are quite strong. Metropolitan-Atlanta enjoys 
the benefits of moderate weather, an educated workforce, a concentration of excellent colleges and 
universities, and the Hartsfield-Jackson Atlanta International Airport. These strengths have helped 
Atlanta’s recovery from the recession, and unemployment continued to decline until the effects of the 
novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) began to be felt in the spring of 2020. 
 
As in the rest of the world, COVID-19 has had a significant impact on the City of Atlanta and the State 
of Georgia. During the last four months of FY 2020, the Governor declared a state of emergency and 
implemented restrictions on business operations, while the Atlanta Mayor imposed even more 
restrictive guidance. Together, these policies forced most students and employees to stay at home and 
many continue to do so. All of AH’s employees and most of AH’s residents and participants were 
affected. At the time of this writing, AH continues to operate remotely with a limited number of 
employees working full time at the headquarters building. The City of Atlanta is beginning to lift 
restrictions and may reinstate them if conditions warrant. 
 
The U.S. Congress responded to COVID-19 by passing the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic 
Security Act (“CARES Act”) which included funds for public housing. HUD authorized a total of more 
than $9 million in CARES Act funding to AH. These funds expired December 31, 2021 and AH used 
all the funds for costs directly or indirectly related to COVID-19. 
 
HAP and Operating Subsidy expenses have risen slightly as layoffs of participants resulted in lower 
tenant contributions to their rents. These expenses may increase significantly if another round of 
COVID-19 occurs or will decrease as the pandemic subsides and the economy recovers. 
 
It is uncertain at this time how long the pandemic will continue and if there will be subsequent increases 
in infections which will trigger more restrictions that may impact AH operations and its participants. In 
addition to the CARES Act funds, Congress is expected to grant additional COVID-19-related relief 
funds and AH has additional funds to respond to future expenses in the event they are required. 
 
In addition to the impacts of COVID-19, AH faces uncertainty whether housing will be a prominent 
national priority following the 2022 Congressional elections.  
 
While facing the above uncertainty, AH will continue to accomplish its mission. Some challenges that 
AH currently faces include: 

• AH-Sponsored development activities, in partnership with private-sector developers, rely 

on private investment and conditions in the real estate and the financial markets. During 
FY 2021, the metropolitan-Atlanta real estate market continued to strengthen, especially in 
the multifamily rental market. Despite the pandemic, AH expects real estate development 
activities to continue to pick up as those markets improve and investors continue to return 
to the market. 
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ECONOMIC FACTORS, Economic Conditions and Financial Outlook — continued 

 

• While households using tenant-based HCVs had a broader array of choices for their 

voucher use, this has now been tempered by higher rents and competition with market-rate 
tenants. This is particularly evident in the shortage of available one- and two-bedroom 
apartments. Consequently, AH continues to work with its Landlord Advisory Group and 
housing industry groups to identify and develop innovative strategies and implement 
aggressive marketing efforts to increase the engagement and support of private property 
owners. 

• High rents for new properties and rising rents for existing properties are leading many AH 
voucher participants to port out (i.e., exit) AH’s jurisdiction for more affordable housing in 
surrounding suburbs, thereby decreasing AH’s administrative fees for ongoing operations. 

• Interest rates in FY 2021 remained extremely low by historical measures and continued to 
make Low Income Housing Tax Credits less attractive for investors, thus encouraging AH 
to examine new funding strategies. Although actions by the federal government and external 
forces have resulted in increased interest rates, other factors, including the Georgia 
Department of Community Affairs’ reaction to increased competition for the tax credits, 
may reduce AH’s ability to access them. 

• The growing employment market experienced in the past couple of years was put to a halt 

with the pandemic, thereby impacting working households and increases in wages. 
Therefore, AH is facing an increase in average housing assistance payments, which may 
continue should the pandemic persist. 

• Because of the increased real estate development activities in Atlanta, construction costs 
continue to rise at exponential levels, translating into higher development costs for AH, and 
financial gaps in pro formas for some of AH’s development partners. 

 
In summary, while the strengthening of the Atlanta real estate market supports AH’s development 
efforts, it will continue to challenge new and existing HCV holders looking for affordable housing in 
their preferred communities. It may also lead to demands from Housing Choice property owners and 
other AH partners for increased rents to align with rising market rents, and will eventually drive up the 
costs of the majority of AH’s housing programs. 
 
Key economic indicators for Metro Atlanta can be found in the Statistical Information Section. 
 
Federal Funding — Status and Outlook 

 
As in previous years, funding levels for AH’s future years are uncertain. Congress passed and the 
President signed the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2022 which will fund AH through 
December 2022, Congress, however, has not yet passed the Appropriations Act for 2023, which will 
provide AH funds for January–December 2023. It is possible the appropriations act will not be passed 
by both houses and signed by the President until after the Fall 2022 elections.  
 
If that is the case, Congress will pass a Continuing Resolution or a series of them, to temporarily fund 
the Federal government. Typically, these provide for continued operations using the same funding 
levels as the previous year. Congress will continue to pass continuing resolutions until an appropriations 
act is passed.  
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ECONOMIC FACTORS, Federal Funding — Status and Outlook — continued 

 
HUD holds over $100 million in prior year Housing Choice funds that AH did not use in the year in 
which they were appropriated. These funds remain available for AH to use for MTW-authorized 
activities. Since 2016, appropriations acts have provided that these funds are not subject to any offset 
by HUD, which would force AH to use the funds in lieu of newly appropriated funds for current year 
activities. It is possible Congress might change future law and allow such offsets. If they do, it is 
believed HUD will not offset funds obligated or committed to development projects or other activities.  
 
Since AH has worked with a number of developers and governmental officials to create master 
development plans and other agreements for future years, AH has included language in the FY 2023 
Budget resolution that pledges the use of MTW Housing Choice Voucher funds currently held by HUD 
to support these projects. AH believes such a pledge will support a case that these funds should not be 
offset.   
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has not issued any new pronouncements 
during FY 2021. 
 

Please refer to Note U in the Notes to Financial Statements for additional information regarding each 
of the GASB pronouncements. 
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CONTACTING AH’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of AH’s financial position and to 
demonstrate AH’s accountability for the assets it manages to interested persons, including citizens of 
our local jurisdiction, creditors and other interested parties. If you have questions about this report or 
wish to request additional financial information, contact the Chief Finance Officer at The Housing 
Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia, 230 John Wesley Dobbs Avenue, N.E., Atlanta, Georgia 
30303; telephone number (404) 817-7350. 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 

As of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 

 

 

 2021 2020 Note 

CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash $   61,031,872 $    29,945,189 C 

Receivables, net of allowance 1,751,351 2,203,766 D 

Investments current 5,265,200 78,639,957 E 

Prepaid expense 1,415,908 1,360,389  

Total current assets 69,464,331 112,149,301  

    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Investments non-current 113,426,310 60,749,411 E 

Related-party development and other loans, development 

receivables and investments in partnerships, net of 

allowances of $65,924,574 and $64,956,123 in 2021 

and 2020, respectively 216,513,189 211,564,207 

 
 
 

F 

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation of 

$117,856,128 and $111,402,105 in 2021 and 2020, 

respectively 139,232,986 132,393,548 

 
 

H 

 
   

Total non-current assets 469,172,485 404,707,166  

TOTAL ASSETS 538,636,815 516,856,467  

    

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS – – P 

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS $  538,636,815 $  516,856,467 
 

 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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 2021 2020 Note 

CURRENT LIABILITIES   
 

Accounts payable $       1,062,341 $          386,582  
Accrued liabilities 12,286,527 10,414,547 J 

Other current liabilities 6,644,820 6,847,809 K 

Current portion of long-term debt 122,363 137,763 L 

Total current liabilities 20,116,050 17,786,701  

    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Long-term debt, net of current portion 1,596,593 3,152,290 L 

Other non-current liabilities 9,079,624 9,917,478 M 

Net pension plan liability 200,000 804,937 P 

Total non-current liabilities 10,876,217 13,874,705  

TOTAL LIABILITIES 30,992,267 31,661,406  

    

DEFERRED INFLOWS – – P 

    

NET POSITION   S 

Net investment in capital assets 137,609,629 129,230,309  
Restricted–Notes receivables, HUD and program reserves 223,035,374 215,068,526  
Unrestricted 146,999,545 140,896,226  

Total net position 507,644,548 485,195,061  

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS AND 

NET POSITION $   538,636,815 $   516,856,467 
 

 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND 

CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

Years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 

 

 2021 2020 

OPERATING REVENUES   

MTW Single Fund used for operating expenses $     242,340,065 $     230,786,504 

Tenant dwelling revenues 4,167,416 4,831,385 

Development and other grants used for operating expenses 930,873 3,370,670 

Contributions from National Housing Compliance 1,394,909 1,294,909 

Other operating revenues 5,494,486 7,429,967 

Total operating revenues 254,327,748 247,713,435 

OPERATING EXPENSES   

Housing assistance and operating subsidy payments 184,886,843 171,172,558 

Administration, including direct operating divisions 50,770,769 53,145,313 

Utilities, maintenance and protective services 9,274,776 9,974,604 

Resident and participant services 3,212,816 3,082,812 

Revitalization, demolition and remediation 637,198 525,928 

General expenses 1,995,446 3,036,830 

Depreciation and amortization 6,615,296 5,995,576 

Total operating expenses 257,393,144 246,933,621 

NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)            (3,065,396) 779,814 

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)   

Interest income on development and other loans 2,402,617 381,737 

Interest income on investments 1,560,273 3,521,145 

Gain/(loss) on sale of assets 762,108 1,958,970 

Valuation allowance increase (5,003,720) (11,393,067) 

Interest expense on EPC capital lease (154,176) (216,750) 

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (432,898) (5,747,965) 

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS (3,498,293) (4,968,151) 

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS   

MTW Single Fund used for modernization and development 

capital expenditures and loans 25,483,404 12,073,374 

Development grants used for development capital 

expenditures and loans 464,377 18,963,332 

Total capital contributions 25,947,781 31,036,706 

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION 22,449,488 26,068,555 

NET POSITION — beginning of year 485,195,061 459,126,506 

NET POSITION — end of year $     507,644,548 $     485,195,061 

  



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 

 

 2021 2020 

Increase (decrease) in cash   

Cash flows from operating activities 
  

MTW and grant funds used for operating expenses $   243,797,970 $   235,964,753 
Receipts from residents 4,133,498 4,771,639 

Payments to landlords, tenants and partners (185,357,570) (172,234,409) 
Payments to suppliers (27,703,314) (30,189,803) 
Payments for employees (35,834,071) (37,255,154) 
CARES Act funds, net of expenses (672,510) 2,385,781 
Other receipts 5,664,769 5,085,793 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 4,028,773 8,528,600 

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities   
Capital contributions from MTW and grant funds 13,669,741 2,903,538 
Acquisition, development and revitalization — capitalized expenditures (2,731,365) (979,362) 

Modernization — AH-Owned properties (10,840,404) (2,345,378) 
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 879,144 3,319,478 
Payments on EPC capital lease, including interest (1,824,090) (284,631) 

Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities (846,974) 2,613,745 

Cash flows from investing activities   
Capital contributions from MTW and grant funds 12,646,423 27,661,821 
Development and other loans, net of reimbursements (9,540,394) (26,512,989) 
Sale (purchase) of investments of surplus cash 20,697,858 (20,767,250) 
Interest income on investments of surplus cash 1,698,381 2,968,613 

Interest income on development and other loans  2,402,617 381,737 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 27,904,884 (16,268,068) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash 31,086,683 (5,125,723) 

Cash — beginning of year 29,945,189 35,070,912 

Cash — end of year $     61,031,872 $     29,945,189 

 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — continued 

Years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 

 

 2021 2020 

Reconciliation of net operating income (loss) to net cash provided by 
(used in) operating activities 

  

Net operating income (loss) $       (3,065,396) $          779,814 

Adjustments to reconcile net operating income (loss) to net cash provided 

by (used in) operating activities 

  

Depreciation and amortization 6,615,296 5,995,576 

Changes in assets and deferred outflows and liabilities and deferred inflows 
relating to operating activities: 

  

Decrease (increase) in receivables (1,304,238) 95,671 
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expense (55,519) (500,275) 
Decrease (increase) in deferred outflows – 1,948,541 

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,646,542 190,300 
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities 5,542 (2,166,936) 
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue (208,518) 2,411,368 
Increase (decrease) in net pension plan liability and deferred inflows (604,937) (225,459) 

Total changes in assets and deferred outflows and liabilities and deferred 
inflows relating to operating activities 478,873 1,753,210 

Total adjustments 7,094,168 7,748,786 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $        4,028,773 $        8,528,600 
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NOTE A — ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

 
1. Organization 

The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia (“Atlanta Housing,” “AH” or “Authority”) 
is a public body corporate and politic created under the Housing Authorities Laws of the State 
of Georgia with a public mission and purpose. The primary purpose of AH is to facilitate 
affordable housing opportunities for low-income, elderly and disabled persons in the City of 
Atlanta (“City”). AH has broad corporate powers including, but not limited to, the power to 
acquire, manage, own, operate, develop and renovate housing; invest and lend money; create 
for-profit and not-for-profit entities; administer HCVs; issue bonds for affordable housing 
purposes; and acquire, own and develop commercial land, retail and market-rate properties that 
benefit affordable housing. 

The governing body of AH is its Board which, pursuant to state laws, is comprised of seven 
members appointed by the Mayor of the City of Atlanta, and confirmed by the Atlanta City 
Council, and includes two resident commissioners. The resident commissioners serve 1-year 
terms and the five remaining members serve 5-year staggered terms. The Board appoints the 
President and Chief Executive Officer to operate the business of AH. The Board provides 
strategic guidance and oversight of AH’s operations. AH is not considered a component unit of 
the City of Atlanta and is not included in the City’s financial statements. 
 

2. Moving to Work (MTW) Agreement and MTW Single Fund 

AH is an MTW agency under HUD’s MTW Demonstration Program which provides certain 
“high-performing” agencies with substantial statutory and regulatory relief and flexibility under 
the U.S. Housing Act of 1937, as amended (“1937 Act”), as reflected in an agreement between 
the selected agency and HUD. AH negotiated and entered into its MTW Agreement with HUD 
on September 25, 2003, which was effective from July 1, 2003, through June 30, 2010. In 
response to HUD’s decision to introduce a standard form of agreement and expand the MTW 
Demonstration Program, AH successfully negotiated and executed an Amended and Restated 
MTW Agreement on November 13, 2008. On January 16, 2009, AH and HUD executed a further 
amendment to the Amended and Restated MTW Agreement. AH’s MTW Agreement, as 
amended and restated, is referred to as the MTW Agreement. 

In December 2015, AH’s MTW Agreement was extended until June 30, 2028, under the same 
terms and conditions, as confirmed by HUD in a letter dated April 14, 2016. AH’s MTW 
Agreement incorporates its legacy authorizations from its initial MTW Agreement and clarifies 
AH’s ability to use MTW-eligible funds outside of Section 8 and Section 9 of the 1937 Act. 

As authorized under its MTW Agreement, AH has combined its HCV funds, Public Housing 
Operating Subsidy and CFP grants into an MTW Single Fund, which may be used for MTW-
eligible activities that best meet local low-income housing needs. Although the programmatic 
restrictions for the use of each of these funding sources have been waived under AH’s MTW 
Agreement, the various funds that make up AH’s MTW Single Fund continue to have different 
expiration dates, obligations, expenditure deadlines and drawdown conditions. AH has elected 
not to include RHF grants in its MTW Single Fund. 
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NOTE A — ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS — continued 
 

Since 2012, HUD disburses HCV funds based on a PHA’s historical housing assistance payment 
spend rate and projected need, rather than in 12 equal installments of the full annual 
authorization. PHAs may request additional disbursements up to their annual authorization, but 
must expend all funds drawn or face further disbursement reductions in the future. With 
approximately 96% of AH’s FY 2021 HUD funding coming from HCV funds (including the 
CARES Act), HUD’s disbursement approach has major implications to AH’s financial position 
and operations. In response to all of these factors, AH adopted a cash management strategy 
designed to meet such funding requirements while preventing the forfeiture of funds as a result 
of expenditure deadlines. This strategy requires AH to carefully manage its draws from the three 
components of AH’s MTW Single Fund. 
 

3. Blended Component Units and Affiliate Entities 

To manage its business and financial affairs more effectively, AH has created affiliate entities to 
support its various ventures. While AH, the parent entity, manages federal programs, the affiliate 
entities support the various functions necessary to meet AH’s mission of providing quality 
affordable housing and related services and amenities. 

Certain of these affiliate entities are considered blended component units in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. Because of the nature and significance of their 
operational or financial relationships with AH and the fact that they provide services entirely, or 
almost entirely, to AH or for the benefit of AH, these component units are included in AH’s 
financial statements. Financial statements of each of the following blended component units are 
presented in Note T, except for the affiliates mentioned below with no activity. 

• 230 John Wesley Dobbs Boulevard Ventures, Inc. (“JWD”) is a Georgia 501(c)(3) not-

for-profit corporation created at the direction of the AH Board in order to lessen the 
burdens of government by acquiring and holding title to real property and 
improvements, and by providing such real property and improvements to AH for an 
occupancy fee equivalent to its operating cost. 

• Atlanta Affordable Housing for the Future, Inc. (“AAHFI”) is a Georgia 501(c)(3) not-
for-profit corporation created at the direction of the AH Board in order to facilitate the 
revitalization of AH-Owned distressed public housing projects. AAHFI may participate 
in the revitalization of AH-Sponsored communities by holding limited partnership 
interests in either the related development project partnership (Owner Entity) or an 
interest in the general partner of the related development project partnership of the 
various public/private partnerships that own the MIXED (formerly known as “MIMF”) 
rental communities. 

• Special Housing and Homeownership, Inc. (“SHHI”) is a Georgia 501(c)(3) not-for-

profit corporation created at the direction of the AH Board in order to develop, maintain 
and implement programs to assist income-eligible individuals in achieving the goal of 
homeownership. 
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NOTE A — ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS — continued 
 

• Renaissance Affordable Housing, Inc. (“RAH”) is a Georgia 501(c)(3) not-for-profit 

corporation created at the direction of the AH Board in order for AH to participate in 
the acquisition and development of certain properties to support the overall 
revitalization program at or near AH communities or other appropriate locations in 
metropolitan-Atlanta. 

• Strategic Resource Development Corporation, Inc. (“SRDC”) is a Georgia 501(c)(3) 
not-for-profit corporation created at the direction of the AH Board to solicit and receive 
contributions and gifts, in any forms, and to use such funds for the intended purposes or 
any other purposes as determined by the Board of Directors. 

• Westside Affordable Housing, Inc. (“WAH”) is a Georgia 501(c)(3) not-for-profit 

corporation created at the direction of the AH Board in order for AH to participate in the 
acquisition and development of certain properties to support the overall revitalization 
program at or near AH communities or other appropriate locations in metropolitan-
Atlanta. 

• Atlanta Housing Investment Company, Inc. (“AHICI”) is a for-profit corporation 
created at the direction of the AH Board in order to assist AH in its revitalization efforts 
at or near AH communities or other appropriate locations in metropolitan-Atlanta. 
AHICI participates in the revitalization of AH-Sponsored MIXED communities by 
holding partnership and financial interests in various transactions. 

• Atlanta Housing Development Corporation (“AHDC”) is a Georgia not-for-profit 
organization, organized solely to serve as an “instrumentality” of AH for the purpose of 
issuing tax-exempt bonds for construction, acquisition and rehabilitation of low-income 
housing pursuant to Section 11(b) of the Housing Act of 1937, as amended 
(42 U.S.C. Section 1437i). This entity had no activity in recent years. 

• Community Renewal Partners LLC is a Georgia 501(c)(3) not-for-profit corporation 

created during FY 2019 at the direction of the AH Board in order for AH to participate 
in the acquisition and holding of properties transferred from the Fulton County District 
Attorney’s office through the Project Shield Program. This entity had no activity in 
recent years. 

• Buttermilk Bottom Renewal LLC is a Georgia 501(c)(3) not-for-profit corporation 
created during FY 2019 at the direction of the AH Board in order for AH to acquire and 
hold the Civic Center property. This entity had no activity in recent years. 

• Atlanta Housing Partnership Investments LLC is a Georgia 501(c)(3) not-for-profit 

corporation created during FY 2019 at the direction of the AH Board in order for AH to 
invest in multifamily transactions. This entity had no activity in recent years. 

• Housing Capital Investments Managing Member LLC is a Georgia 501(c)(3) not-for-
profit corporation created during FY 2019 at the direction of the AH Board in order for 
AH to invest in multifamily transactions. This entity had no activity in recent years. 
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NOTE A — ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS — continued 
 
AH has one affiliate, Atlanta Housing Opportunity, Inc. (AHOI), which is not a component 
unit. It is, however, considered a related entity. AHOI is a Georgia not-for-profit corporation 
created at the direction of the AH Board in order to facilitate the Housing Opportunity Bond 
Program established by the City of Atlanta. The activities of AHOI are limited to 
participation in the Housing Opportunity Bond Program. Since the City of Atlanta is 
financially accountable and responsible for the debt of AHOI, the financial activity of AHOI 
is not included in AH’s Financial Statements, but is included in the City of Atlanta’s 
Financial Statements. 

 
 
NOTE B — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the 
accompanying financial statements. 
 
1. Basis of Preparation and Accounting 

The financial statements represent the combined net position and results of operations of AH 
and its blended component units and LLCs, and have been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) of the United States of America as 
applied to governmental entities. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) 
is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial 
reporting principles. AH and its blended component units and LLCs maintain their accounts 
substantially in accordance with the chart of accounts prescribed by HUD and are organized 
utilizing the fund accounting model. A fund is an independent fiscal and accounting entity 
with a self-balancing set of accounts. AH accounts for its operations in a single enterprise 
fund. Enterprise funds account for those operations financed and operated in a manner 
similar to a private business or where AH has decided that determination of revenue earned, 
costs incurred and net revenue over expense is necessary for management accountability. 

Enterprise funds are proprietary funds used to account for business activities of special 
purpose governments for which a housing authority qualifies under GASB No. 34, “Basic 

Financial Statements — and Management’s Discussion and Analysis — for State and Local 

Governments.” Proprietary funds are accounted for using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, whereby all revenues are recognized 
in the period in which they are earned and expenses are recognized in the period in which 
the liability is incurred regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. All assets and 
deferred outflows as well as liabilities and deferred inflows associated with the operation of 
the Authority are included in the statements of net position. The statements of revenues, 
expenses and changes in net position present increases (revenues and capital contributions) 
and decreases (expenses) in total net position. 
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NOTE B — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued 
 

2. Inter-company and Inter-program Receivables and Payables 

Inter-company and inter-program receivables and payables are the result of the use of a 
central fund as the common paymaster for shared costs of AH. All inter-company and inter-
program balances net to zero when combined and, hence, are eliminated for financial 
statement presentation. All programs aggregate into one single enterprise fund. 

 
3. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash is stated at cost, which approximates fair value, and consists primarily of cash in 
checking accounts. All funds on deposits are FDIC insured up to $250,000 per institution or 
are fully collateralized in accordance with guidance recommended by HUD. HUD requires 
Housing Authorities to invest surplus HUD funds in obligations of the United States, 
certificates of deposit or any other federally insured investments. 
 

4. Investments 

Investments are stated at fair value and consist of MTW working capital funds and 
unrestricted and restricted surplus program income funds invested in U.S. government 
securities and treasuries. It also includes operating reserves in escrow accounts primarily 
invested in money market accounts. Due to the nature of those investments, they are fully 
collateralized in accordance with guidance recommended by HUD. 

 
5. Fair Value Measurements 

All of AH’s investments are valued at fair value using Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy 
established by GAAP. Fair values determined using Level 1 are based on unadjusted quoted 
prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets. 

 
6. Inventories 

AH maintains no inventory. All supplies are expensed when purchased. Supplies on hand 
are nominal. 
 

7. Prepaid Expense 

Payments made to vendors for goods or services exceeding $5,000 that will benefit periods 
beyond the fiscal year end are recorded as prepaid expense. Prepaid expense at June 30, 2021 
and June 30, 2020 consisted primarily of prepaid insurance premiums, software licenses and 
service maintenance contracts. 
 

8. Valuation and Other Allowances 

Management regularly evaluates the loans and certain other receivables for collectibility and 
records a valuation allowance for loans and other receivables it determines may not be fully 
collectible. AH adjusts the valuation allowance when appropriate. 
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NOTE B — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued 
 
Under AH’s DPA program, homeownership down payment loans are made to first-time 
homebuyers. These loans are fully reserved at closing. The homeowner is subject to AH’s 
recapture policy as part of the terms and conditions of the DPA program. The term of the 
subsidy loan is usually for ten years and can be forgiven based on the following: 100% 
recapture is in effect during the first five years of the loan; and the loan amount begins to 
burn off at 20% increments yearly, starting in year six through year ten. 

AH establishes an allowance for all unpaid balances from tenants and landlords for accounts 
receivable aged past 90 days. 

 

9. Capital Assets and Depreciation 

Capital assets include land, land improvements, buildings, equipment and modernization in 
process for improvements to land and buildings. Capital assets are defined by AH as assets 
with an initial cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life of greater than one year. 

Such assets are recorded at cost or acquisition value at the time of purchase or donation, 
respectively. Improvements and other capital activities are recorded as modernization in 
process until they are completed and placed in service. 

The costs of normal and extraordinary maintenance and repairs that do not add value to the 
asset or extend the useful life of the asset are expensed as incurred. Generally, demolition 
costs, land preparation, soil remediation and other site improvement costs that do not add 
value are expensed as operating items. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method assuming the following useful lives, 
based on a full year of depreciation in the year of acquisition, and no depreciation in the year 
of disposal: 

Buildings 20–40 years 
Building improvements 10–30 years 
Building equipment 10–15 years 
Land improvements 15 years 
Equipment 3–10 years 

Long-lived assets are reviewed annually for impairment under the provisions and in 
accordance with GASB No. 42, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of 

Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries.” 

AH owns several paintings of historical significance, which are being preserved for future 
educational and exhibition purposes. These works of art, commissioned in the 1940s at 
minimal cost, have an appraised value in excess of $800,000, but have not been recorded on 
AH’s books pursuant to the guidance of GASB No. 34. 

 

10. Accrued Compensated Absences 

A liability for compensated absences (i.e., vacation) is accrued as employees earn the right 
to receive the benefit. The accrued liability is classified under current liabilities, as vacation 
is expected to be taken in the ensuing year. 
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NOTE B — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued 
 

11. Pension Plan 

AH accounts for its defined benefit pension plan in accordance with GASB No. 68 and 
related amendments, which requires the liability of employers (net pension liability) to be 
recorded and included in employers’ financial statements. The net pension liability is 
measured as the portion of the present value of projected benefit payments to be provided 
through the pension plan to current active and inactive employees that is attributed to those 
employees’ past periods of service (total pension liability), less the amount of the pension 
plan’s fiduciary net position (plan assets). AH’s net pension liability was measured as of the 
end of its fiscal year (the measurement date) consistently applied from period to period. 

The pension expense recognized during a fiscal year primarily results from changes in the 
components of the net pension liability; that is, changes in the total pension liability and in 
the pension plan’s fiduciary net position. 

Most changes in the net pension liability are required to be included in pension expense in 
the period of the change. Changes in the total pension liability resulting from current-period 
service cost, interest on the total pension liability and changes of benefit terms are required 
to be included in pension expense immediately. Projected earnings on the pension plan’s 
investments are also required to be immediately included in the determination of pension 
expense. 

The effects of certain other changes in the net pension liability are required to be included in 
pension expense over the current and future periods. The effects on the total pension liability 
of (1) changes of economic and demographic assumptions or of other inputs, and (2) 
differences between expected and actual experience are required to be included in pension 
expense in a systematic and rational manner over a closed period equal to the average of the 
expected remaining service lives of all employees who are provided with benefits through 
the pension plan (active and inactive employees), beginning with the upcoming year. The 
effect on the net pension liability of differences between the projected earnings on pension 
plan investments and actual experience with regard to those earnings is required to be 
included in pension expense in a systematic and rational manner over a closed period of five 
years, beginning with the upcoming year. Changes in the net pension liability not included 
in pension expense are required to be reported as deferred outflows (losses) or deferred 
inflows (gains) related to pensions. The AH pension plan was terminated in FY 2020. 

 
12. Restricted Assets 

Certain assets may be classified as restricted assets on the statements of net position or 
accompanying notes because their use is restricted by time or specific purpose. AH’s practice 
is to expend restricted assets prior to utilizing unrestricted assets if allowable for the intended 
purpose. 
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NOTE B — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued 
 

13. Revenues and Expenses 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. 
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services or producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. 
Operating revenues mainly include income derived from operating funds received from HUD, 
namely Section 8 and Section 9 subsidies, tenant dwelling revenues, development and other 
grants used for operating expenses, and various fees earned in conjunction with real estate 
development and oversight activities. When grant funds are used for operating expenses, AH 
recognizes operating revenues at the time such costs are incurred, pursuant to a drawdown 
process as expenses occur. 

Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of housing assistance to low-income 
families, operating housing units and providing tenant services, revitalization, demolition and 
remediation, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. 

Non-operating revenues and expenses include interest earned, primarily on a cash flow 
availability basis, on development and other loans and interest earned on investments of 
surplus cash, gain and loss from the sale of assets, adjustments to valuation allowances and 
interest expense. 

Capital contributions include MTW Single Fund and development grants used for capitalized 
expenditures, including loans, in connection with modernization, revitalization and 
development activities. 

As AH completes capital improvements eligible for grants, AH’s right to be paid by HUD is 
perfected, and AH records the asset and corresponding capital grant revenue as the work 
progresses. The unexpended portions of the grants held by HUD for AH’s account remain 
available for AH’s use, subject to the terms of the grant agreements and other agreements with 
HUD. The unexpended portions of the grants as well as unused HCV subsidy held by HUD 
are not reflected in AH’s financial statements. 
 

14. Fee and Interest Income Recognition on Related-Party Development and Other Loans 

In connection with its Revitalization Program, AH earns developer and other fees in its role 
as sponsor and co-developer. Developer and other fees are recorded as earned. Collection of 
developer fees are generally tied to equity payments from tax credit investors. 

Interest on related-party development and other loans is subordinated and contingent on cash 
flows from the property for the most part. Recognition of interest income on those loans or 
any other loans does not occur until payments are received or are reasonably expected to be 
received. 
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NOTE B — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued 
 

15. Unearned Revenue 

Unearned revenue consists primarily of unrealized gains resulting from land conveyance as 
part of homeownership programs, which are treated as unearned revenue until more than 
20% of the corresponding seller financing note is repaid in cash. Unearned revenue also 
arises when resources are received by the Authority before it has a legal claim to them, as 
and when monies are received prior to meeting all eligible requirements, and/or the 
occurrence of qualifying expenditures. 
 

16. Income and Property Taxes 

Income received or generated by AH is not generally subject to federal income tax, pursuant 
to Section 115 of the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”). Although exempt from state and local 
property taxes, AH makes payments in lieu of taxes (“PILOT”), pursuant to agreements with 
the City of Atlanta, Atlanta Public Schools, and DeKalb and Fulton counties. 

 

17. Self-insurance and Litigation Losses 

AH recognizes estimated losses related to self-insured workers’ compensation claims and 
litigation claims in the period in which the event giving rise to the loss occurred when the 
loss is probable and can be reasonably estimated (see also Note N). 
 

18. Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of assets and deferred 
outflows and liabilities and deferred inflows, and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
Material estimates relate to the valuation of related-party development and other loans. 
 

19. Risk Management 

AH is exposed to various risks of loss related to: torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. AH carries 
commercial insurance and certain reserves deemed sufficient to cover potential uninsured 
losses. 
 

20. Custodial Risk 

Custodial risk for investments is the risk that in the event of failure of the counterparty to a 
transaction, AH will not be able to recover the value of the investments. As of June 30, 2021 
and June 30, 2020, all of AH’s investments were collateralized and registered in its name. 
 

21. Concentration of Credit Risk, Credit Risk and Interest Rate Risk                                 

 
Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss that may occur to the amount of cash or 
investments in a single issuer. As of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, this is not a risk, as all  
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NOTE B — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued 
 

AH’s cash and investments were collateralized or issued by the U.S. Government or its 
agencies. Credit risk of investments is the risk that the issuer or other counterparty will not 
meet its obligations. The credit risk is measured by the credit quality rating of investments 
in securities, as described in a national statistical organization such as Standard & Poor’s. 
AH’s Investment Policy provides that investments in corporate bonds and other fixed-income 
securities must have a rating of AA+ or better. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rate will adversely affect the fair value of 
an investment. As of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, this is not a risk, as all of AH’s 
investments are primarily in money market and U.S. Government securities and treasuries 
which are usually held until maturity. 

 
22. Budgets 

On an annual basis, AH submits its Comprehensive Operating and Capital Budget to the 
Board for approval. Throughout the fiscal year, the Budget is used as a management tool to 
plan, control and evaluate spending for major activities and programs. Budgets are not 
required for financial statement presentation. 

 
 
NOTE C — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
Cash consists primarily of cash in checking accounts. Cash is classified as “Unrestricted” and 
“Restricted” for financial presentation purposes based on HUD guidance: 

• Cash — Unrestricted includes cash available for program purposes including current 

operations working capital and reserves. Because the funds are not tied to a certain program 
or property, they are classified as unrestricted. They remain subject, however, to varying 
degrees of restrictions. For example, HUD approval is required, with some limited 
exceptions, to use or deploy these funds strategically outside of the ordinary course of AH’s 
business under the MTW Agreement. In all cases, AH’s assets are subject to the limitations 
of AH’s charter and the Housing Authorities Laws of the State of Georgia. It also includes 
NHC cash, which is non-federal. 

• Cash — Restricted includes cash to be expended for specific purposes based on the source of 
the money. AH’s restricted cash generally includes proceeds from the sale of property 
acquired with grant or development funds; program income from specific grants; income 
generated from development activities; resident security deposits; public improvement funds 
received from the City of Atlanta; and CARES Act funds received from HUD. 
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NOTE C — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — continued 
 
Cash at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 consisted of the following: 

 2021 2020 

Unrestricted:   
MTW cash $      7,327,050 $      7,505,483 
MTW program income 27,527,544 4,261,081 
Perry Bolton TAD program income 1,197,820 190,926 
Non-federal funds (including NHC) 3,153,978 2,449,397 
Component units 5,566,428 3,584,411 

 44,772,819 17,991,298 

Restricted: 

Development-related program income 5,442,486 2,445,372 

Public improvement funds 3,471,313 3,508,677 
Proceeds from disposition activity 3,933,625 1,866,419 
Harris program income 1,156,193 1,156,193 
Resident security deposits 222,041 227,343 
CARES Act funds 1,764,647 2,449,140 

Other 268,748 300,747 
 16,259,053 11,953,891 

 $    61,031,872 $    29,945,189 

 
All funds on deposits are FDIC insured up to $250,000 per institution or are fully collateralized in 
accordance with guidance recommended by HUD. At June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, the market 
value of collateral held by a third party on behalf of AH to cover deposits exceeding the FDIC-
insured funds amounted to $53,668,343 and $25,051,995, respectively. 
 

 

NOTE D — RECEIVABLES 
 
Current receivables at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 consisted of the following: 

 2021 2020 

HUD grants receivable $        147,187 $        910,087 

Other receivables (net of allowance of $940,750 and 
$763,514 in 2021 and 2020, respectively) 1,154,516 707,581 

Interest receivable 438,002 576,109 

Tenant dwelling rents (net of allowance of $16,048 and 
$1,015 in 2021 and 2020, respectively) 11,647 9,988 

 $     1,751,351 $     2,203,766 

 

HUD grants receivable consists primarily of expenditures associated with CNIG that have been 
expended by AH but not yet reimbursed by HUD. 
 



 
The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 
 

68 

NOTE D — RECEIVABLES — continued 
 
Other receivables consist primarily of operating subsidy overpayments due by Owner Entities of 
MIXED rental communities resulting from annual subsidy true-ups; receivables from other housing 
authorities under HCV portability payments; and contributions earned, but yet to be received from 
NHC. 
 
 
NOTE E — INVESTMENTS, CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT 

 
Investments consist of surplus cash invested in accordance with AH’s Surplus Cash Investment 
Policy as well as operating reserves deposited with escrow agents, which is further described below. 
In the case of investments made from surplus cash, the fund characterization of the cash invested 
dictates the investment classification as to unrestricted or restricted, which is further described in 
Note C. 

 
Current investments are those for which the term will expire before the end of the upcoming year 
while non-current investments will expire beyond the end of the upcoming year. 
 
Investments non-current restricted include operating reserves that are held by escrow agents at 
various banking institutions for the benefit of investors and Owner Entities of the MIXED rental 
communities. These reserves are restricted in accordance with agreements entered into in 
conjunction with the development of these properties. These reserves cannot be readily liquidated 
due to such restrictions. As the restrictions on these investments are not dictated by the source of 
funds, they are presented as Other Assets on the Financial Data Schedule of Combining Program 
Net Position provided in Other Supplementary Information. These investments consisted primarily 
of deposits in money market funds. 
 

Investments at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 consisted of the following: 
 
Investments current: 

 2021 2020 

Unrestricted:   
MTW Programs $      5,065,200 $    18,483,480 
Development-related program income — 50,195,969 
Perry Bolton TAD program income 200,000 — 
Non-federal funds (including NHC) — 5,980,032 

Component Units — 2,000,000 

 5,265,200 76,659,481 

Restricted   

Proceeds from disposition activity — — 
Development-related program income — 1,980,476 

 — 1,980,476 

 $      5,265,200 $    78,639,957 
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NOTE E — INVESTMENTS, CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT — continued 
 
Investments non-current: 

 2021 2020 

Unrestricted:   
MTW Program $   32,558,720 $   17,010,000 
Non-federal funds (including NHC) 10,499,700 4,501,500 
Perry Bolton TAD Program Income 10,000,000 10,997,120 
Component Units 3,003,000 3,502,625 
Development-related program income 50,724,980 16,497,313 

 106,786,400 52,508,558 
Restricted:   
Operating reserve in escrow 6,639,910 8,240,853 
Development-related program income — — 

 6,639,910 8,240,853 

 $ 113,426,310 $   60,749,411 

 
 
NOTE F — RELATED-PARTY DEVELOPMENT AND OTHER LOANS, 

DEVELOPMENT RECEIVABLES AND INVESTMENTS IN PARTNERSHIPS 

 
GAAP defines “related parties” as those parties that can significantly influence the management or 
operating policies of the transacting parties or that have an ownership interest in one of the 
transacting parties. Related-party development and other loans, development receivables and 
investments in partnerships at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 consisted of the following: 
 

 2021 2020 

Development loans (net of allowance of $59,014,758 and 
$59,014,758 in 2021 and 2020, respectively) (Note 1) 

$   198,719,594 $   193,410,252 

Other loans (net of allowance of $4,296,500 and 
$4,971,369 in 2021 and 2020, respectively) (Note 1) 

12,646,565 14,162,234 

Developer and other fees receivable (net of allowance of 
$1,198,821 and $1,250,614 in 2021 and 2020, 
respectively) (Note 2) 

3,877,626 2,575,651 

Predevelopment loans (Note 1) 1,269,404 1,416,070 

Investments in partnerships (net of allowance of 
$414,494 and $414,494 in 2021 and 2020, respectively) 

— — 

 $   216,513,189 $   211,564,207 

 
Note 1: These items totaling $212,635,563 and $208,988,556 at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, respectively, 
correspond to FDS line 171 — Notes, Loans and Mortgages Receivable — Non-Current. 

Note 2: This item combined with Investments non-current (see Note E) totaling $117,303,936 and $63,325,062 at  

June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, respectively, correspond to FDS line 174 — Other Assets. 
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NOTE F — RELATED-PARTY DEVELOPMENT AND OTHER LOANS, 

DEVELOPMENT RECEIVABLES AND INVESTMENTS IN PARTNERSHIPS — 
continued 
 

Development loans 

AH makes primarily subordinated development loans (construction and permanent) to the Owner 
Entities (private-sector owners) in conjunction with financing arrangements related to the 
development or rehabilitation of AH-Sponsored MIXED rental communities. These loans are fully 
obligated by the Owner Entities at the financial closing and represent amounts up to AH’s share of 
the development or rehabilitation budget for AH-assisted ACC or HomeFlex units. The loans are 
amortized over periods generally up to 55 years and bear interest at various rates, as agreed to by the 
Authority and individual Owner Entities, and approved by HUD. The respective loan agreements 
provide that these loans will be repaid by the Owner Entity to AH from either net cash flow or 
operating income, net project proceeds and/or condemnation proceeds for such phases to the extent 
such amounts are available. 

Also included in development loans are Purchase Money Promissory Notes that AH may issue when 
AH-Owned communities are rehabilitated under HUD’s RAD program. 

For most of these development or rehabilitation projects, AH owns the land and enters into a long-
term ground-lease agreement with the Owner Entity for periods up to 75 years, with some at market 
rates. At the end of the ground lease, the land and improvements revert to AH. Revenues derived 
from these leases are usually nominal. 
 

Other loans and predevelopment loans 

Other loans that support AH’s mission are comprised of various financing arrangements and include: 
(i) loans to the Owner Entities of MIXED rental communities for acquisitions and site 
improvements; (ii) loans to private-sector development partners, representing the value of the lots 
conveyed supporting the financing and construction of single-family homes as a component of AH-
homeownership programs; (iii) loans to the Owner Entities of MIXED rental communities in order 
to meet federal statutory requirements (these loans are fully reserved); and (iv) gap financing to 
facilitate the construction of properties with up to a 20-year renewable HomeFlex agreement with 
private owners. 

Predevelopment loans are loans to development partners (typically an affiliate of the Owner Entity) 
prior to the financial closing to facilitate development of the site and are usually fully repaid at 
financial closing. 
 

Developer and other fees receivable 

AH earns developer and other fees associated with the construction, revitalization and oversight 
activities at the MIXED rental communities and from certain properties with HomeFlex agreements. 
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NOTE F — RELATED-PARTY DEVELOPMENT AND OTHER LOANS, 

DEVELOPMENT RECEIVABLES AND INVESTMENTS IN PARTNERSHIPS — 
continued 
 

Related-party development income and expense 

Related-party development income and expense for the years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 
consisted of the following: 
 

 2021 2020 

Type of income (expense)   

Interest income $    2,407,232 $       381,737 

Development-related income 2,827,449 4,477,616 

Housing assistance payments to Owner Entities of 
the MIXED rental communities where AH has a 
Regulatory and Operating Agreement for public 
housing units 

(7,914,767) (10,914,426) 

HomeFlex payments to related Owner Entities 
where AH has a HomeFlex Agreement 

(25,247,881) (19,612,640) 

 

Other related-party information 

Owner Entity financial statements are audited by independent accounting firms hired by the 
managing general partner of each respective Owner Entity. See Note B.14 and Other 

Supplementary Information for further related-party information. 
 
 
NOTE G — OTHER RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
National Housing Compliance, Inc. 

NHC was formed in August 1999 as a 501(c)(4) not-for-profit corporation pursuant to the laws of the 
State of Georgia for the purpose of administering HAP contracts between HUD and private owners 
of multifamily housing with PBRA. NHC, headquartered in Atlanta, Georgia, is comprised of 11 
member organizations, including AH (“Members”). NHC earns fees for contract administration 
services as HUD’s Performance Based Contract Administrator (“PBCA”) for the states of Illinois and 
Georgia. NHC makes periodic contributions to Members based on NHC’s earned PBCA revenue in 
excess of NHC’s operating expenses. As a Member, AH received non-federal contributions of 
$1,394,909 and $1,294,909 for the years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, respectively, from 
NHC activities in Illinois and Georgia. As NHC’s contributions are primarily used to fund 
unallowable federal expenses, they are included in operating revenues. 
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NOTE H — CAPITAL ASSETS 

 
A summary of changes in capital assets of the Authority for the years ended June 30, 2021, and 
June 30, 2020, respectively, is presented below: 
 

 Balance at 

June 30, 2020 

Additions 

and reclasses 

Disposals and 

reclasses 

Balance at 

June 30, 2021 

Capital assets, not being depreciated:     

Land $    97,438,078 $1,809,755 $  (13,395,103) $    85,852,730 
Modernization in process 511,639 7,073,558 (153,824) 7,431,373 

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 97,949,717 8,883,313 (13,548,927) 93,284,103 

Depreciable capital assets:     
Land improvements 28,300,918 921,610 – 29,222,528 
Buildings and improvements 83,680,858 13,883,385 – 97,564,243 
Equipment 33,864,160 3,330,161 (176,080) 37,018,241 

Total depreciable capital assets 145,845,936 18,135,156 (176,080) 163,805,012 
Less accumulated depreciation     

Land improvements (21,272,739) (1,150,545) – (22,423,284) 

Buildings and improvements (62,923,037) (3,415,962) – (66,338,999) 
Equipment (27,206,329) (2,048,788) 161,272 (29,093,845) 

Total accumulated depreciation (111,402,105) (6,615,296) 161,272 (117,856,128) 

Total depreciable capital assets, net 34,443,831 11,519,861 (14,808) 45,948,884 

Total capital assets, net $  132,393,548 $    20,403,174 $  (13,563,735) $ 139,232,986 

 
 Balance at 

June 30, 2019 

Additions 

and reclasses 

Disposals and 

reclasses 

Balance at 

June 30, 2020 

Capital assets, not being depreciated:     
Land $    98,714,984 $           82,951 $    (1,359,857) $    97,438,078 
Modernization in process 1,023,758 252,451 (764,570) 511,639 

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 99,738,742 335,402 (2,124,427) 97,949,717 

Depreciable capital assets:     
Land improvements 28,597,592 896,411 (1,193,084) 28,300,918 
Buildings and improvements 104,806,448 319,560 (21,445,150) 83,680,858 

Equipment 37,362,269 2,537,836 (6,035,946) 33,864,160 
Total depreciable capital assets 170,766,309 3,753,807 (28,674,180) 145,845,936 

Less accumulated depreciation     

Land improvements (20,829,549) (1,077,359) 634,169 (21,272,739) 
Buildings and improvements (76,445,766) (3,121,815) 16,644,544 (62,923,037) 
Equipment (29,778,039) (1,796,402) 4,368,112 (27,206,329) 

Total accumulated depreciation (127,053,354) (5,995,576) 21,646,825 (111,402,105) 

Total depreciable capital assets, net 43,712,955 (2,241,769) (7,027,355) 34,443,831 

Total capital assets, net $  143,451,697 $    (1,906,367) $    (9,151,782) $  132,393,548 
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NOTE H — CAPITAL ASSETS — continued 
 
During FY 2021 AH acquired the following properties: 3650 Bakers Ferry Road SW for cash 
consideration of $1,678,137 on August 31, 2020; 0 Larkin Street for cash consideration of $81,618 
on April 30, 2021. 
 
The cost and accumulated depreciation of AH capital assets financed under an EPC capital lease at 
June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 were as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 

Building improvements $     3,646,507 $     3,646,507 
Equipment 3,561,600 3,561,600 

 7,208,107 7,208,107 
Accumulated depreciation (5,115,187) (4,526,381) 

 $     2,092,920 $     2,681,726 

 
 

NOTE I — OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

 
Other non-current assets at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 consisted of the following: 
 
 2021 2020 

Public improvement advances due from the City of Atlanta and 

related entities* 
$           – $           – 

Homeownership DPA loans (net of allowance of $27,197,036 and 
$22,378,454 in 2021 and 2020, respectively) 

           –            – 

Owner Occupied Rehab Loans (net of allowance of $420,000 in 
2021 and 2020, respectively) 

– – 

 $           – $           – 

 
* These advances were entirely written off during 2020. 

 
Under its DPA program for first-time homebuyers earning 80% or less of AMI, AH issued payments 
of $5,603,515 and $4,940,225 during the years ended June 30, 2021 and June30, 2020, respectively. 
As described in Note B.8, Valuation and Other Allowances, these loans are fully reserved at closings. 
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NOTE J — ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

 
Accrued liabilities at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 consisted of the following: 
 

 2021 2020 

Accrued expense $     7,517,946 $     7,117,725 
Wages and benefits 1,011,631 858,947 
Compensated absences 2,670,745 1,579,033 
Contract retention 492,591 131,412 
Insurance, claims and litigation (Note N) 565,000 600,000 
Interest payable 28,613 127,430 

 $   12,286,527 $   10,414,547 

 
Compensated absences at June 30, 2021 consisted of the following: 
 

 Balance at   Balance at 

 June 30, 2020 Additions Reductions June 30, 2021 

Compensated absences $     1,579,033 1,270,862 (179,150) $     2,670,745 

 
Compensated absences at June 30, 2020 consisted of the following: 

 
 Balance at   Balance at 

 June 30, 2019 Additions Reductions June 30, 2020 

Compensated absences $     1,136,469 552,785 (110,221) $     1,579,033 

 
The accrued liability for compensated absences is presented as a current liability as the compensated 
absences are expected to be taken within the next 12 months. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
employees deferred taking vacations, resulting in a higher than usual balance at June 30, 2021 and 
June 30, 2020. 
 

 

NOTE K — OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 
Other current liabilities at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 consisted of the following: 
 

 2021 2020 

Public improvement advances received from the 
City of Atlanta and related entities $    3,412,160 $    3,412,160 

Unearned revenue — CARES Act 1,737,858 2,411,368 
Unearned revenue — EHV 353,500 — 
Unearned revenue — Other 110,492 — 
Resident security deposits 222,041 227,343 
Other 807,769 796,938 

 $    6,644,820 $    6,847,809 
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NOTE L — LONG-TERM DEBT 

 

Energy Performance Contract (“EPC”) Capital Lease 

An EPC is part of a HUD-sponsored program designed to incentivize local housing authorities to 
undertake energy-saving improvements at their properties. HUD allows such agencies to freeze the 
consumption base used to determine their utility funding at an agreed pre-constructed level for up to 
20 years, so that the savings from such improvements can be used to finance the cost of water and 
energy conservation improvements. The EPC structure facilitates financing for the improvements to 
be repaid through future energy savings resulting from the improvements. 

During FY 2012, AH consummated an EPC, which combined an EPC capital lease of $9,104,935 
with MTW funds, to fund capital improvements for energy conservation and efficiency solutions at 
AH-Owned residential communities. 

This project was completed at a total cost of $11,929,904, including capitalized interest. MTW funds 
of $2,249,034 were used to supplement the proceeds from the EPC capital lease. 

Long-term debt at June 30, 2021, consisted of the following: 
 

 Balance at   Balance at Non-  

 June 30, 2020 Additions Reductions June 30, 2021 current Current 

EPC Capital 

Lease 
$   3,290,053 – (1,571,097) $   1,718,956 $   1,596,593 $  122,363 

 

 
Long-term debt at June 30, 2020 consisted of the following: 
 

 Balance at   Balance at Non-  

 June 30, 2019 Additions Reductions June 30, 2020 current Current 

EPC Capital 

Lease 
$   3,405,110 – (115,057) $   3,290,053 $   3,152,290 $  137,763 

 

 
The EPC capital lease bears interest at 4.98% and has a term of 20 years, and is subject to prepayment 
penalty of 2% of principal amount. Under the terms and conditions of the EPC financing from Bank 
of America, AH is required to make monthly payments to a Debt Service Fund with Deutsche Bank. 
Interest expense incurred in connection with the EPC capital lease amounted to $154,176 and 
$216,750 for the years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, respectively. 
 

In December 2020, in preparation for the RAD conversion of two of its residential communities, AH 
reimbursed a portion of the EPC capital lease for an amount of $1,500,000 in principal, interest and 
penalty. 
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NOTE L — LONG-TERM DEBT — continued 

 
Payments under the EPC capital lease scheduled for the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 
 

 Principal Interest Total 

2022 $     122,363 $        85,604 $     207,967 
2023 129,950 79,510 209,461 
2024 136,682 73,039 209,721 
2025 144,058 66,232 210,290 
2026 153,791 59,058 212,849 

2027 to 2032 1,032,113 174,748 1,206,859 
 $   1,718,956 $      538,191 $   2,257,147 

 

 

NOTE M — OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 
Other non-current liabilities at June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 consisted of the following: 
 

 

 

 

In accordance with GAAP requirements for non-monetary transactions, gains on the sale of land 
conveyance are deferred due to the non-cash consideration received in exchange, thereby not 
meeting the revenue recognition criteria. 
 
 
NOTE N — INSURANCE, CLAIMS AND LITIGATION 

 
AH is exposed to various risks of loss related to: torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; cyber-attacks; terrorism; and natural disasters. AH 
carries general and auto insurance, and maintains certain reserves deemed sufficient to cover 
potential uninsured losses. 
 
Self-insurance plan — workers’ compensation 

AH is self-insured for workers’ compensation claims and has purchased excess work compensation 
insurance for its workers’ compensation self-insurance plan, which limits its liability to $400,000 
per accident. AH has a system in place to identify incidents that might give rise to workers’ 
compensation claims. It uses this information to compute an estimate of loss due to claims asserted 
and incidents that have incurred but not been reported. Settled claims have not exceeded the self-
insured retention at any point during the past five years. AH has recorded an estimated liability of 
$80,000 as of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020. 
 
  

 2021 2020 

Unrealized gain on land sale $      9,079,624 $      9,917,478 
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NOTE N — INSURANCE, CLAIMS AND LITIGATION — continued 

 

Litigation and claims 

AH is party to legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. Certain actions are in various 
stages of the litigation process and their ultimate outcome cannot be determined currently. 

Accordingly, potential liabilities in excess of insurance coverage may not be reflected in the 
accompanying financial statements. The financial statements include estimated liabilities in the 
amount of $485,000 and $520,000 as of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, respectively. AH carries 
general and automobile liability insurance coverage with a self-insured limit of $100,000. AH also 
carries other liability coverage such as fiduciary and directors’ and officers’ liability with self-
insured limits varying from $25,000 to $100,000. 
 

Property damage losses 

AH carries property damage insurance, which limits its losses to $50,000 in case of damages to its 
assets and properties. 
 

 

NOTE O — CONTINGENCIES AND UNCERTAINTIES 

 
Easements, liens and other contractual obligations 

Generally, real property owned by AH under the public housing program or purchased using public 
housing development funds is subject to a HUD declaration of trust and most have various customary 
easements (e.g., utility rights-of-way). From time to time, mechanics’ liens or other such liens may 
be recorded against AH-Owned property. Notwithstanding any such liens, under Georgia law, all 
real property owned by AH is exempt from levy and sale by virtue of execution, other judicial 
process or judgment. Additionally, real property owned by AH affiliate entities and leasehold 
interests in AH real property (ground leased to Owner Entities in connection with MIXED rental 
communities) may be subject to mortgage liens and other contractual obligations. 
 

Valuation of related-party development and other loans 

The multifamily rental housing market is affected by a number of factors such as overall economic 
conditions, unemployment rates, mortgage interest rates, supply and demand, changes in 
neighborhood demographics and growth of the metropolitan-Atlanta area. Because related-party 
development and other loans to Owner Entities of the MIXED rental communities are primarily 
subordinated and may be payable from net cash flows, local market conditions could affect the value 
of those loans as reflected on AH’s books. AH’s strategy is to closely monitor the performance of 
the properties and local market conditions in order to mitigate these risks. 
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NOTE P — DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 

 

Plan description 

The Pension Plan for Employees of the Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia (the 
“Plan”) was a single-employer, non-contributory defined benefit pension plan under administrative 
services and investment contracts with Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company, an insurance 
carrier, which maintains custody of Plan assets and administers the Plan. AH is not required to 
provide a separate audited GAAP-basis pension plan report. Assets of the Plan represent less than 
1% of the insurance carrier’s total assets. None of the Plan’s investments was the property of AH. 

The AH Board froze the Plan as of December 31, 2007. No employees hired or rehired on or after 
January 1, 2008, may be added to or accrue additional benefits under the Plan. The Board also froze 
benefit accruals under the Plan for all current participants, except certain vested employees whose 
age plus years of service equaled 60 at December 31, 2007, and who elected to continue accruals 
under the Plan (grandfathered employees) and who elected to take the lump-sum cash payments. As 
a result, on and after January 1, 2008, service is credited for active and accruing participants only. 

In FY 2009, AH offered and made lump sum cash payments to those plan participants who were no 
longer employed with AH, had vested in a retirement benefit but who had not retired nor been 
certificated by the Plan administrator. AH is no longer liable to fund future retirement benefits for 
those 304 participants who elected to take their retirement benefit under the lump sum option. The 
Plan document received a favorable determination letter from the IRS on June 3, 2011. The Plan 
provides retirement, disability and death benefits to the eligible participants and their beneficiaries. 
A participant is vested in her or his accrued benefits after five years of service. 

Monthly normal retirement benefits are calculated as 1.9% of one-twelfth of the participant’s career 
earnings paid by AH as an active participant of the Plan plus one-twelfth of the benefit in Appendix 
A of the Plan document for service before January 1, 1971. Participants may retire at the later of age 
65 and fifth anniversary of the effective date of participation. Any participant who has attained the 
age of 55 and has completed five years of service may elect for early retirement with reduced 
benefits. Disability retirement benefits are determined in the same manner as retirement benefits but 
are payable immediately unless a disabled participant covered by AH’s long-term disability plan 
elects for the deferred option. Vested participants are entitled to a death benefit payable at 50% of 
the amount that would have been payable to the participant under the 50% Joint and Survivor Option 
provided in the plan document. The Plan’s benefit terms do not provide for a cost-of-living 
adjustment on post-retirement benefits. 

During FY 2019, AH purchased an annuity contract from Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance for 
371 certificated retirees. As a result, AH has no more obligation for these certificated retirees, and 
the pension plan liability and plan fiduciary net position have been reduced accordingly. 

Effective April 1, 2020, the Plan was terminated with credited services and earnings frozen for 
accruing participants at the end of day on March 31, 2020. On July 1, 2020, participants, other than 
retirees, were offered three benefit distribution options from which the participants had to make an 
election no later than August 31, 2020. The options offered were: 1) one-time lump sum; 
2) immediate annuity; and 3) deferred annuity. The immediate annuity start date and distributions of 
lump sums began/were made on October 1, 2020. AH purchased an annuity contract to cover the 
deferred annuity payments for retirees and immediate and deferred annuities elected by participants 
after issuing a Request for Annuity Proposals to prospective insurance providers. 
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NOTE P — DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN — continued 

 

At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Plan included the following participants: 
 

 2021 2020 

Inactive participants or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits — 138 
Inactive participants entitled to but not yet receiving benefits — 208 
Active participants, accruing — 5 

 — 351 

 

Net pension liability 

AH’s net pension liability at June 30, 2021 is an estimate of the cost for one participant who could 
not be located. The June 30, 2020 total pension liability measurement was performed in the context 
of the termination. 
 

Actuarial assumptions 

Not applicable for June 30, 2021; the total pension liability in the June 30, 2020 actuarial valuation 
was determined using the entry age actuarial cost method and the following actuarial assumptions 
applied to all periods included in the measurement, except as specifically noted: 

 2021 2020 

Inflation not applicable 2.0% 
Salary increases not applicable 4.0% 
Investment rate of return not applicable 3.9% 

 

2020 Mortality: RP-2019 Mortality Tables for Annuitants and Non Annuitants, fully generational with Scale MP-2019. 

 
Plan Termination Assumptions 

 Lump Sum Election 60% 
 Discount rates — 
 Segment 1 (less than 5 years) 2.13% 
 Segment 2 (between 5 to 20 years) 3.07% 
 Segment 3 (more than 20 years) 3.65% 
 Deferred & Immediate Annuity Election 40% 
 Discount rate (annuity contract) 1.5% 
 Mortality table 2020 IRC #430 
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NOTE P — DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN — continued 

 

Changes in net pension liability 

The net pension liability is comprised of the total pension liability less the Plan fiduciary net position 
(Plan net assets). A summary of changes in each of these components of the net pension liability for 
the year ended June 30, 2020 is presented below: 
 

 Increase (Decrease) 

 Total Pension 

Liability (a) 

Plan Fiduciary 

Net Position (b) 

Net Pension 

Liability (a)–(b) 

Balances at June 30, 2019 $    25,819,254 $    24,918,631 $         900,623 

Changes during the year    
Service cost 5,036  5,036 
Interest 994,606  994,606 
Difference between expected and actual 

experience 31,313  31,313 
Contribution — employer  5,000,000 (5,000,000) 

Projected earnings on Plan fiduciary net position  950,944 (950,944) 
Difference between projected and actual 

earnings on Plan fiduciary net position  1,302,093 (1,302,093) 
Purchase of an Annuity Contract for Certificated 

Retirees 6,058,397  6,058,397 
Benefit payments (1,070,944) (1,138,943) 67,999 

Net changes 6,018,408 6,114,094 (95,686) 

Balances at June 30, 2020 $    31,837,662 $    31,032,725 $         804,937 

 

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate 

Not applicable for June 30, 2021. 
 
Pension expense 

For the years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, AH recorded pension expense in the amount 
of $0 and $6,723,082, respectively, comprised of the following components: 

 2021 2020 

Service cost $                 – $         5,036 
Interest – 994,606 
Amortization of deferred inflows – (129,773) 
Projected earnings on Plan fiduciary net position – (950,944) 
Amortization of deferred outflows – 1,948,541 
Actuarial liability loss — current year – 31,313 
Actuarial asset gain — current year – (1,302,093) 
Change in assumptions and other expense – 6,126,396 

Total pension expense $                 – $  6,723,082 

 
Note: The contributions as of June 30, 2020 and actual expenses from the closing of the Plan resulted in an over-
contribution of $1,600,457.41. AH is accruing as a liability $200,000 for one participant who could not be located and 
recognized the other $1,400,457.41 as miscellaneous income as of June 30, 2021. 
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NOTE P — DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN — continued 

 

Deferred outflows and deferred inflows related to the Plan 

Not applicable as of June 30, 2021; as a result of the Plan termination in fiscal year ending June 30, 
2020, the deferred outflows and inflows were recognized during the year and included in the pension 
expense. 
 
Funding policy 

This is not applicable for FY 2021 as the pension plan was terminated as of June 30, 2020. 

AH’s funding policy is to contribute an amount equal to or greater than the minimum required 
contribution under Georgia State Code. The Actuarial Standard of Practice recommends the use of 
best-estimate range for each assumption, based on past experience, future expectations and 
application of professional judgment. The recommended contributions were computed as part of the 
actuarial valuations performed as of January 1, 2020. Beginning June 1996, AH’s contributions were 
determined under the Projected Unit Credit Actuarial Cost method (pay-related benefit formula). For 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, AH funded a pension payment of $5,000,000. Such payments 
were either equal to or greater than AH’s minimum annual required contributions under Georgia 
State Code 47-20-10. Refer to Required Supplementary Information section for additional 
information. 
 

 

NOTE Q — DEFERRED COMPENSATION AND DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS 
 
AH offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with IRC Section 457 
(the 457 Plan). The 457 Plan is available to all full-time eligible employees, except those who elected 
to stay in the Defined Benefit Pension Plan, and permits participants to defer a portion of their salary 
until future years. Effective February 1, 2008, all eligible employees had the option to participate in 
the 457 Plan with a deferral rate of 2%. Employees may change their deferral rate at any time. 
Employee contributions of $1,863,869 and $1,577,504 were made to the plan for the fiscal years 
ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, respectively. 
 
In conjunction with changes made to the Defined Benefit Pension Plan, effective February 1, 2008, 
AH’s Board also approved the creation of a Defined Contribution Plan under IRC Section 401(a) 
(the “401(a) Plan”), for all eligible employees. The 401(a) Plan provides an employer-matching 
contribution on amounts that employees defer into the 457 Plan, equal to 100% of the first 2% 
deferred by the participant. Additional matching contributions are allowed based on the participant’s 
years of service as well as position level. In addition, further contributions can be made at the 
discretion of management. The employer contribution to the 401(a) Plan amounted to $933,606 and 
$935,354 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, respectively. Subject to a 3-
year vesting period, amounts from these plans are available to participants at the time of termination, 
retirement, and death or emergency. As required by federal regulations, the funds are held in trust 
for the exclusive benefit of participants and their beneficiaries. 
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NOTE Q — DEFERRED COMPENSATION AND DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS — 
continued 

 
Under the Master Services Agreement, Principal Financial Services, Inc. was appointed Trustee, 
Custodian and Record-keeper of both plans. AH has no ownership in the plans’ assets. Accordingly, 
the plans’ assets are not reported in AH’s financial statements. Upon receipt of appropriate approval, 
AH may amend, modify or terminate the plans. 
 

 

NOTE R — LEASES 

 
AH-Owned capital assets under leases 

AH is party to lease agreements as lessor whereby it receives revenue for tenant dwellings leased in 
AH-Owned public-housing-assisted residential properties. These leases are for a 1-year period 
(which may or may not be renewed depending upon tenant eligibility and desire) and are considered 
operating leases for accounting purposes. 

AH is the ground lessor to Owner Entities of most of the MIXED rental communities, as discussed 
further in Note F. Revenue derived from these leases is nominal. 

The cost and accumulated depreciation of AH-Owned capital assets used in leasing activities as of 
June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, were as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 

Land $      23,101,605 $      23,203,833 
Modernization in process 94,090 – 

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 23,195,696 23,203,833 

Land improvements 23,185,952 22,765,983 
Building and improvements 67,578,619 66,988,108 
Equipment 22,560,408 20,210,422 

Total depreciable capital assets 113,324,978 109,964,513 
Less accumulated depreciation (91,773,143) (86,575,566) 

Total depreciable capital assets, net 21,551,835 23,388,947 

Total capital assets, net $      44,747,531 $      46,592,780 

 

Operating leases 

AH is party to operating lease agreements as a lessee for office equipment used in the normal course 
of business. Lease payments over the remaining terms of these lease agreements are as follows: 
 

Years ending June 30, Amount 

2022                 $  86,931 

2023 40,682 

Total $       127,613 
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NOTE R — LEASES — continued 

 
The lease expense, including equipment servicing, incurred in connection with these operating leases 
amounted to $172,635 and $296,701 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, 
respectively, and is reported under administration, including direct operating divisions expenses. 

In December 2016, AH entered into a land swap agreement with the City of Atlanta. The City of 
Atlanta currently has an operation on a portion of the property that cannot move until a new facility 
is available. Consequently, AH, as lessor, and the City of Atlanta, as lessee, have entered into a lease 
agreement for a period not to exceed 30 months at an annual rent of $69,815. In December 2019, 
this lease was extended through January 2021 with an annual rent of $10. 
 

 

NOTE S — NET POSITION 

 
Net position is comprised of three components: 1) net investment in capital assets; 2) restricted–
expendable; and 3) unrestricted. 

1. Net investment in capital assets represents the net book value of capital assets less the total 
outstanding debt used to acquire or lease those capital assets including cash in escrow for 
the next payment. 

2. Restricted–Notes receivable, HUD and program reserves net position, subject to both 
internal and external constraints, is calculated at the carrying value of restricted assets less 
related liabilities. This net position is restricted by time and/or purpose. The restricted net 
position includes cash subject to restrictions for HUD-funded programs, related-party 
development and other loans, and investments associated with operating reserves required 
in conjunction with the AH-Sponsored MIXED rental development transactions. 

These assets cannot be used, pledged or mortgaged to a third party or seized, foreclosed 
upon or sold in the case of a default, ahead of any HUD lien or interest without HUD 
approval. In addition, the related-party development and other loans are not available to 
satisfy AH’s obligations due to the long-term, contingent nature of the underlying notes 
(see also Note F, Note O and Other Supplementary Information). 

3. Unrestricted net position, although referred to as unrestricted, remains subject to varying 
degrees of limitations. HUD approval is required, with some limited exceptions, to use or 
deploy these assets strategically outside of the ordinary course of AH’s business. AH’s 
eligible business activities are set forth in its HUD-approved MTW Business Plan, as 
amended from time to time by its MTW Annual Implementation Plans. In all cases, AH’s 
assets are subject to the limitations of AH’s charter and the Housing Authorities Laws of the 
State of Georgia. 
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NOTE T — COMBINING SCHEDULES OF BLENDED COMPONENT UNITS 

 
AH’s blended component units are created at the direction of the AH Board to assist the Authority with 
development and other acquisition activities in support of affordable housing. Under GASB Nos. 14 
and 34, these blended component units are presented within the reporting entity of AH and are grouped 
under 6.2 Component Unit—Blended within the Financial Data Schedules presented in Other 

Supplementary Information. See also Note A.3 for additional information on AH’s component units. 
Balances at June 30, 2021 and 2020, and activity for the years then ended were as follows: 
 

 
 

Note: The following affiliate entities had no activity in FY 2021 or FY 2020 and are not included in the Blended 
Component Units financials: Atlanta Housing Development Corporation, Community Renewal Partners LLC, Buttermilk 
Bottom Renewal LLC, Atlanta Housing Partnership Investments LLC, and Housing Capital Investments Managing 

Member LLC. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Combining Statement of Net Position

As of June 30, 2021

JWD AAHFI SHHI RAH SRDC WAH AHICI

Total 

Component 

Units

ASSETS

Current and non-current assets 4,481,583$         286,941$   1,359,815$ -$         26,363$   2,077,526$   347,854$   8,580,082$    

Capital assets, net 8,814,251           -              -               -            -            36,660,946   -              45,475,197    

TOTAL ASSETS 13,295,834$       286,941$   1,359,815$ -$         26,363$   38,738,472$ 347,854$   54,055,279$  

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

Current and non-current liabilities 1,047,859$         -$           1,315$         -$         -$         5,000$           5,000$        1,059,174$    

Long-term debt outstanding -                       -              -               -            -            -                 -              -                  

Total liabilities 1,047,859           -              1,315           -            -            5,000             5,000          1,059,174      

Net investment in capital assets 8,814,251           -              -               -            -            36,660,946   -              45,475,197    

Restricted -                       -              -               -            25,623     135,100         -              160,723          

Unrestricted 3,433,724           286,941     1,358,500   -            740           1,937,426      342,854     7,360,186      

Total net position 12,247,975         286,941     1,358,500   -            26,363     38,733,472   342,854     52,996,105    

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 13,295,834$       286,941$   1,359,815$ -$         26,363$   38,738,472$ 347,854$   54,055,279$  

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Year Ended June 30, 2021

JWD AAHFI SHHI RAH SRDC WAH AHICI

Total 

Component 

Units

REVENUES

Operating revenues 2,119,557$         19,852$     -$             -$         -$         39,021$         44,145$     2,222,575$    

Non-operating revenues 41,797                 -              18,300         -            -            18,300           -              78,397            

TOTAL REVENUES 2,161,354           19,852       18,300         -            -            57,321           44,145        2,300,973      

EXPENSES

Operating and other expenses (2,005,824)          (818)           (17,691)       -            (678)         (93,428)          (6,535)        (2,124,973)     

Operating transfers in (out) -                       -              -               -            -            -                 -              -                  

TOTAL EXPENSES (2,005,824)          (818)           (17,691)       -            (678)         (93,428)          (6,535)        (2,124,973)     

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 155,529.68         19,034       609              -            (678)         (36,107)          37,610        175,998          

NET POSITION - beginning of year 12,092,445         267,907     1,357,891   -            27,041     38,769,579   305,244     52,820,107    

NET POSITION - end of year 12,247,975$       286,941$   1,358,500$ -$         26,363$   38,733,472$ 342,854$   52,996,105$  
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NOTE T — COMBINING SCHEDULES OF BLENDED COMPONENT UNITS — continued 

 

 
 
 

NOTE U — RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

 
GASB issued no new pronouncements during FY 2021. 
 

 

NOTE V — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

Events that occur after the date of the statement of net position but before the financial statements 
were available to be issued must be evaluated for recognition or disclosure. The effects of subsequent 
events that provide evidence about conditions that existed at the date of the statement of net position 
are recognized in the accompanying financial statements. Subsequent events, which provide 
evidence about conditions that existed after the date of the statement of net position, require 
disclosure in the accompanying notes. 
 
  

Combining Statement of Net Position

As of June 30, 2020

JWD AAHFI SHHI RAH SRDC WAH AHICI

Total 

Component 

Units

ASSETS

Current and non-current assets 5,441,184$     267,907$     1,357,951$   -$           27,041$     2,104,328$     305,244$     9,503,654$        

Capital assets, net 7,317,976       -               -               -             -            36,678,267     -              43,996,243        

TOTAL ASSETS 12,759,160$   267,907$     1,357,951$   -$           27,041$     38,782,595$   305,244$     53,499,897$      

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

Current and non-current liabilities 666,714$        -$             60$               -$           -$          13,016$          -$            679,790$           

Long-term debt outstanding -                 -               -               -             -            -                 -              -                    

Total liabilities 666,714          -               60                 -             -            13,016            -              679,790             

Net investment in capital assets 7,317,975       -               -               -             -            36,678,267     -              43,996,242        

Restricted -                 -               -               -             26,301       135,100          -              161,401             

Unrestricted 4,774,470       267,907       1,357,891     -             740            1,956,212       305,244       8,662,464          

Total net position 12,092,445     267,907       1,357,891     -             27,041       38,769,579     305,244       52,820,107        

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 12,759,160$   267,907$     1,357,951$   -$           27,041$     38,782,595$   305,244$     53,499,897$      

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Year Ended June 30, 2020

JWD AAHFI SHHI RAH SRDC WAH AHICI

Total 

Component 

Units

REVENUES

Operating revenues 2,088,663$     11$              -$             -$           25,000$     434,174$        11,229$       2,559,076$        

Non-operating revenues 104,083          -               34,364          -             -            34,364            -              172,812             

TOTAL REVENUES 2,192,746       11                34,364          -             25,000       468,538          11,229         2,731,888          

EXPENSES

Operating and other expenses (2,148,835)     (5,854)          (22,028)        (1,510)        (2,106)       (259,420)        (12,816)       (2,452,570)        

Operating transfers in (out) -                 50                30                 1,510         30              60                   50                1,730                 

TOTAL EXPENSES (2,148,835)     (5,804)          (21,998)        -             (2,076)       (259,360)        (12,766)       (2,450,840)        

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 43,911            (5,793)          12,366          -             22,924       209,178          (1,537)         281,048             

NET POSITION - beginning of year 12,048,535     273,700       1,345,525     -             4,117         38,560,401     306,781       52,539,059        

NET POSITION - end of year 12,092,445$   267,907$     1,357,891$   -$           27,041$     38,769,579$   305,244$     52,820,107$      
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NOTE V — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS — continued 

 

Management has evaluated subsequent events through September 29, 2022, the date on which the 
financial statements were available to be issued. During this period, no material subsequent events 
have occurred which would require recognition or disclosure in AH’s financial statements, except 
for the following events: 
 
Pending Litigation 

Between 1999 and 2002, AH and its development partner, Integral Development, LLC through its 
four special purpose LLCs (collectively, the “Developers”), entered into four Revitalization 
Agreements for the revitalization of Grady Homes, Capitol Gateway, Harris Homes and Carver 
Homes. In 2011, AH’s then-CEO, executed Amendments to the Revitalization Agreements (the 
“2011 Amendments”), which provided options allowing the Developers to acquire certain vacant 
parcels on the four sites and other adjacent parcels totaling ±91.9 acres (called “Further Leverage 
Properties” or “FLP”s) through holding companies controlled by the Developers. The 2011 
Amendments contemplated seller financing for purchases to the holding companies and potential 
subsequent sale by the Developers to third-party developers for a profit. The 2011 Amendments 
were never approved by the AH Board of Commissioners, or HUD as is normally required for 
such transactions. In 2016, the Developers sought to exercise the options on the FLPs. AH’s then-
Board of Commissioners refused to authorize the conveyances. 

In 2017, litigation ensued with both parties asserting claims against the other. On December 18, 
2019, AH and the Developers negotiated and executed a tentative Settlement Agreement, which was 
contingent upon HUD’s approval of the dispositions of the FLPs. HUD reviewed the proposed 
dispositions of the FLPs and, on July 2, 2020, HUD specifically rejected the dispositions. 

In February 2022, the parties negotiated a settlement of all remaining issues. Under the settlement: 
(i) Atlanta Housing will sell approximately fifty-four ((±54) acres of vacant land on or adjacent to 
the Properties for a cash price of $26 million with the closing on the property to occur within 
twelve (12) months after formal disposition approval by HUD; (ii) Developer will pay the purchase 
price for the ±54 acres using its own financing or resources; (iii) Atlanta Housing will convey 
approximately seven (7) acres on the former Capitol Homes site to be developed by the Developer 
into a public park; (iv) the parties will jointly develop approximately eight and eight tenths (±8.8) 
acres of property retained by Atlanta Housing on or adjacent to the former Carver Homes with the 
purposes of planning, constructing, and developing mixed-income housing with a strong 
affordability component; (v) the Developer Entities have agreed to dismiss the lawsuit and 
quitclaim, terminate and release any purchase rights and development rights to the balance of the 
property in dispute (approximately  ±20 acres) upon fulfillment of the other settlement terms. The 
settlement was approved by the Board on February 16, 2022, and the Superior Court entered a 
Consent Order approving the Settlement on February 23, 2022. The parties are currently executing 
the timetable and other terms contained in the settlement. 

As the settlement agreement proscribes AH’s potential financial risk, Management does not 
believe the consummation of the settlement will affect AH’s delivery of services, be of a material 
ultimate financial risk to AH, or pose a significant adverse effect on AH’s overall financial 
position. 
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NOTE V — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS — continued 

 

Pending Administrative Action 

On November 4, 2020, HUD’s Region IV Office of Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity 
(“FHEO”) initiated a compliance review (“Review”) of Atlanta Housing. The Review focused on 
overall compliance under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (“Section 504”), the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (“ADA”) and HUD’s implementing regulations. 
Specifically, the Review looked at Atlanta Housing’s policies, procedures and practices related to 
reasonable accommodation/reasonable modification requests at properties owned by Atlanta 
Housing as well as properties of third-party owners where Atlanta Housing had families receiving 
rental assistance between January 1, 2018 and September 30, 2020. HUD FHEO found some 
instances of concerns, which AH disputes. AH is actively negotiating a voluntary settlement 
agreement with HUD FHEO which could include changes to AH’s policies and procedures for 
monitoring and addressing reasonable accommodation requests and establishment of a fund to 
address potential costs related to such reasonable accommodation requests. Management does not 
believe the amount would affect AH’s delivery of services or be material and will await the 
conclusion of the negotiations. Management believes it can reach an amicable resolution with 
HUD FHEO and avoid adverse funding and related concerns. 
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SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS 

For years ended June 30, * 
 

 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 

Total Pension Liability        
Service cost $           5,036 $         55,525 $         86,857 $       141,274 $       154,807 $       130,078 $       166,019 

Interest 994,606 1,794,096 1,782,631 2,072,456 1,980,774 2,009,842 2,093,307 

Difference between expected and actual experience 31,313 694,316 (367,576) 3,174,248 3,595,608 (500,189) (550,153) 

Benefit payments (1,070,944) (2,256,671) (2,931,794) (2,914,748) (2,905,948) (2,850,564) (2,873,036) 

Change in Assumptions/Purchase of annuity contract 6,058,397 (20,118,978) – – – – – 

Net change in total pension liability 6,018,408 (19,831,712) (1,429,882) 2,473,230 2,825,241 (1,210,833) (1,163,863) 

Total pension liability — beginning 25,819,254 45,650,966 47,080,848 44,607,618 41,782,377 42,993,210 44,157,073 

Total pension liability — ending (a) $  31,837,662 $  25,819,254 $  45,650,966 $  47,080,848 $  44,607,618 $  41,782,377 $  42,993,210 

        

Plan Fiduciary Net Position        

Contribution — employer $    5,000,000 $       750,000 $                  – $    7,500,000 $    2,000,000 $    1,000,000 $    2,500,500 

Projected earnings on Plan fiduciary net position 950,944 1,742,407 1,760,027 1,897,836 1,943,183 1,951,673 1,921,483 

Difference between projected and actual earnings on Plan 
fiduciary net position 

1,302,093 (243,336) (377,821) (77,007) (958,302) (746,677) (194,549) 

Benefit and other payments (1,138,943) (2,256,671) (2,931,794) (2,914,748) (2,905,948) (2,850,564) (2,873,036) 

Purchase of annuity for Certificated retirees – (20,118,978) – – – – – 

Net change in Plan fiduciary net position 6,114,094 (20,126,578) (1,549,588) 6,406,081 78,933 (645,568) 1,354,898 

Plan fiduciary net position — beginning 24,918,631 45,045,209 46,594,797 40,188,716 40,109,783 40,755,351 39,400,453 

Plan fiduciary net position — ending (b) $  31,032,725 $  24,918,631 $  45,045,209 $  46,594,797 $  40,188,716 $  40,109,783 $  40,755,351 

Net pension liability — ending (a)–(b) $       804,937 $       900,623 $       605,757 $       486,051 $    4,418,902 $    1,672,594 $    2,237,859 

        
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension 
liability 97.5% 96.5% 98.7% 99.0% 90.1% 96.0% 94.8% 

        

Covered payroll $    5,472,365 $    4,528,732 $    5,566,220 $    6,850,751 $    6,853,955 $    7,676,909 $    7,826,041 
        

Net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll 14.7% 19.9% 11.0% 7.1% 64.5% 21.8% 28.6% 

 

* AH adopted the new pension accounting and reporting standard starting in FY 2014, therefore the information for a full 10-year disclosure is unavailable. 

Note: The AH pension plan was closed out in FY 2020, but AH is maintaining a pension liability in FY 2021 for one participant who could not be located. 
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SCHEDULE OF PENSION PLAN CONTRIBUTIONS 

For years ended June 30,* 
 

 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 

Actuarially determined employer contributions $                – $     111,650 $                – $     784,941 $     654,176 $     387,153 $     546,432 

Cash contributions from AH 5,000,000 750,000 – 7,500,000 2,000,000 1,000,000 2,500,000 

Contribution excess $  5,000,000 $     638,350 $                – $  6,715,059 $  1,345,824 $     612,847 $  1,953,568 

Covered payroll $  5,472,365 $  4,528,732 $  5,566,220 $  6,850,751 $  6,853,955 $  7,676,909 $  7,826,041 

Cash contribution as a percentage of covered payroll 91.4% 16.6% –% 109.5% 29.2% 13.0% 31.9% 

 

Notes to Schedule of Pension Plan Contributions: 

The actuarially determined employer contributions are calculated as of January 1st of each calendar year and correspond to the minimum required 
contribution as determined under the Georgia State Code in effect as of the date of the valuation. 

Methods and assumptions used to determine contributions are as follows: 
 

Actuarial cost method Projected Unit Credit 

Amortization method Plan asset related — 5 years 

 Projected liability related — 1 year 

Remaining amortization period 1 to 5 years 

Asset valuation method Market 

Inflation 2.0% 

Salary increases 4.0% including inflation 

Investment rate of return 3.9% net of pension plan investment expense 

Retirement age 65 

Mortality RP-2019 Mortality Tables for Annuitants and Non Annuitants, fully generational with Scale MP-2019 
 

* AH adopted the new pension accounting and reporting standard starting in FY 2014, therefore the information for a full 10-year disclosure is unavailable. 
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 Financial Data Schedule of Combining Program Net Position 

As of June 30, 2021 

 

 

 

14.879 Mainstream 

Vouchers

14.HCV MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for HCV 

program

14.889 Choice 

Neighborhoods 

Implementation 

Grants

14.MSC 

Mainstream 

CARES Act 

Funding

14.896 PIH Family 

Self-Sufficiency 

Program

14.881 Moving to 

Work 

Demonstration 

Program

14.HCC HCV 

CARES Act 

Funding

14.CMT CARES 

Act Funding 

Transferred to MTW

$0 $0 $1,611 $0 $0 $805,295 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$6,523 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,738,858 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $25,789

$6,523 $0 $1,611 $0 $0 $805,295 $1,738,858 $25,789

$9,421 $0 $134,932 $0 $2,834 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$1,481 $0 $0 $0 $0 $885,773 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

-$1,481 $0 $0 $0 $0 -$521,041 $0 $0

$9,421 $0 $134,932 $0 $2,834 $364,732 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $253 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $144,327 $0 $0

$15,944 $0 $136,543 $0 $2,834 $1,314,607 $1,738,858 $25,789

$0 $0 $500 $0 $0 $19,366,055 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $14,147,526 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $173,676 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,683,828 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 -$2,537,400 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $165,972 $0 $0

$0 $0 $500 $0 $0 $32,999,657 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $787,654 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $32,558,720 $0 $0

$0 $0 $500 $0 $0 $66,346,031 $0 $0

$15,944 $0 $137,043 $0 $2,834 $67,660,638 $1,738,858 $25,789

$0 $0 $22,488 $0 $0 $185,897 $0 $1,408

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $50,472 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $59,518 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $16,120 $1,738,858 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$206 $0 $229 $0 $0 $374,419 $0 $0

$0 $0 $22,993 $0 $0 $2,770,056 $0 $24,381

$36,321 $0 $123,825 $0 $2,834 $3,610 $0 $0

$36,527 $0 $169,535 $0 $2,834 $3,460,092 $1,738,858 $25,789

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$36,527 $0 $169,535 $0 $2,834 $3,460,092 $1,738,858 $25,789

$0 $0 $500 $0 $0 $32,999,656 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $787,654 $0 $0

-$20,583 $0 -$32,992 $0 $0 $30,413,236 $0 $0

-$20,583 $0 -$32,492 $0 $0 $64,200,546 $0 $0

$15,944 $0 $137,043 $0 $2,834 $67,660,638 $1,738,858 $25,789

 513  Total Equity - Net Assets / Position $66,372,590

 600  Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Equity - Net $71,893,842

 508.4  Net Investment in Capital Assets $57,763,497

 511.4  Restricted Net Position $481,749

 512.4  Unrestricted Net Position $8,127,344

 357  Accrued Pension and OPEB Liabilities $0

 350  Total Non-Current Liabilities $1,596,593

 300  Total Liabilities $5,521,252

 310  Total Current Liabilities $3,924,659

 351  Long-term Debt, Net of Current - Capital Projects/Mortgage Revenue $1,596,593

 353  Non-current Liabilities - Other $0

 345  Other Current Liabilities $874,897

 346  Accrued Liabilities - Other $2,188,464

 347  Inter Program - Due To $0

 341  Tenant Security Deposits $222,041

 342  Unearned Revenue $2,904

 343  Current Portion of Long-term Debt - Capital Projects/Mortgage Revenue $122,363

 322  Accrued Compensated Absences - Current Portion $0

 324  Accrued Contingency Liability $0

 325  Accrued Interest Payable $28,614

 290  Total Assets and Deferred Outflow of Resources $71,893,842

 312  Accounts Payable <= 90 Days $485,376

 321  Accrued Wage/Payroll Taxes Payable $0

 171  Notes, Loans and Mortgages Receivable - Non-Current $481,750

 174  Other Assets $0

 180  Total Non-Current Assets $59,868,599

 166  Accumulated Depreciation -$93,154,926

 167  Construction in Progress $5,772,495

 160  Total Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation $59,386,849

 162  Buildings $96,431,701

 163  Furniture, Equipment & Machinery - Dwellings $22,359,462

 164  Furniture, Equipment & Machinery - Administration $200,946

 144  Inter Program Due From $0

 150  Total Current Assets $12,025,243

 161  Land $27,777,171

 120  Total Receivables, Net of Allowances for Doubtful Accounts $541,789

 131  Investments - Unrestricted $5,065,203

 142  Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets $22,395

 126  Accounts Receivable - Tenants $27,694

 126.1  Allowance for Doubtful Accounts -Tenants -$16,048

 126.2  Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Other -$42,658

 122  Accounts Receivable - HUD Other Projects $0

 124  Accounts Receivable - Other Government $0

 125  Accounts Receivable - Miscellaneous $572,801

 114  Cash - Tenant Security Deposits $222,041

 115  Cash - Restricted for Payment of Current Liabilities $95,599

 100  Total Cash $6,395,856

 111  Cash - Unrestricted $6,078,216

 112  Cash - Restricted - Modernization and Development $0

 113  Cash - Other Restricted $0

Project Total
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14.PHC Public 

Housing CARES 

Act Funding

1 Business 

Activities

14.CFP MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for Capital 

Fund

2 State/Local

14.OPS MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for Low 

Rent

8 Other Federal 

Program 1

6.2 Component Unit 

- Blended

14.871 Housing 

Choice Vouchers

14.EHV  

Emergency 

Housing Voucher 

COCC Subtotal ELIM Total

$0 $3,153,978 $0 $0 $0 $28,762,280 $4,854,734 $0 $80,800 $7,230 $43,744,144 $0 $43,744,144

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $3,933,625 $0 $0 $0 $0 $3,933,625 $0 $3,933,625

$0 $0 $0 $3,471,313 $0 $6,601,679 $160,723 $668,652 $353,500 $9,426 $13,010,674 $0 $13,010,674

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $222,041 $0 $222,041

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $121,388 $0 $121,388

$0 $3,153,978 $0 $3,471,313 $0 $39,297,584 $5,015,457 $668,652 $434,300 $16,656 $61,031,872 $0 $61,031,872

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $147,187 $0 $147,187

$0 $0 $0 $195,449 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $195,449 $0 $195,449

$0 $173,079 $0 $0 $0 $214,424 $78,951 $97,950 $0 $12,611 $2,037,070 $0 $2,037,070

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $27,694 $0 $27,694

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 -$16,048 $0 -$16,048

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 -$74,821 $0 $0 -$640,001 $0 -$640,001

$0 $173,079 $0 $195,449 $0 $214,424 $78,951 $23,129 $0 $12,611 $1,751,351 $0 $1,751,351

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $200,000 $0 $0 $0 $5,265,203 $0 $5,265,203

$0 $2,250 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,364 $0 $0 $1,388,646 $1,415,908 $0 $1,415,908

$0 $178 $0 $0 $0 $3,431 $480,311 $0 $0 $265,595 $893,842 -$893,842 $0

$0 $3,329,485 $0 $3,666,762 $0 $39,715,439 $5,577,083 $691,781 $434,300 $1,683,508 $70,358,176 -$893,842 $69,464,334

$0 $111,793 $0 $0 $0 $0 $38,597,209 $0 $0 $0 $85,852,728 $0 $85,852,728

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $16,127,663 $0 $0 $79,881 $126,786,771 $0 $126,786,771

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $4,088,305 $0 $0 $323,360 $26,944,803 $0 $26,944,803

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $8,188,663 $10,073,437 $0 $10,073,437

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 -$14,830,886 $0 $0 -$7,332,918 -$117,856,130 $0 -$117,856,130

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,492,906 $0 $0 $0 $7,431,373 $0 $7,431,373

$0 $111,793 $0 $0 $0 $0 $45,475,197 $0 $0 $1,258,986 $139,232,982 $0 $139,232,982

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $211,366,159 $0 $0 $0 $0 $212,635,563 $0 $212,635,563

$0 $12,224,040 $0 $0 $0 $69,518,176 $3,003,000 $0 $0 $0 $117,303,936 $0 $117,303,936

$0 $12,335,833 $0 $0 $0 $280,884,335 $48,478,197 $0 $0 $1,258,986 $469,172,481 $0 $469,172,481

$0 $15,665,318 $0 $3,666,762 $0 $320,599,774 $54,055,280 $691,781 $434,300 $2,942,494 $539,530,657 -$893,842 $538,636,815

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $292,650 $1,483 $0 $73,039 $1,062,341 $0 $1,062,341

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $36,643 $0 $0 $779,904 $816,547 $0 $816,547

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,620,273 $2,670,745 $0 $2,670,745

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $425,482 $485,000 $0 $485,000

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $28,614 $0 $28,614

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $222,041 $0 $222,041

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $110,492 $0 $1,228 $353,500 $0 $2,223,102 $0 $2,223,102

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $122,363 $0 $122,363

$0 $0 $0 $3,490,989 $0 $781,323 $310 $1,974 $0 $105,900 $5,630,247 $0 $5,630,247

$0 $21,499 $0 $51,000 $0 $0 $724,570 $0 $0 $1,052,087 $6,855,050 $0 $6,855,050

$0 $34,966 $0 $0 $0 $206,978 $5,000 $0 $0 $480,308 $893,842 -$893,842 $0

$0 $56,465 $0 $3,541,989 $0 $1,098,793 $1,059,173 $4,685 $353,500 $5,536,993 $21,009,892 -$893,842 $20,116,050

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,596,593 $0 $1,596,593

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $9,079,624 $0 $0 $0 $0 $9,079,624 $0 $9,079,624

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $200,000 $200,000 $0 $200,000

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $9,079,624 $0 $0 $0 $200,000 $10,876,217 $0 $10,876,217

$0 $56,465 $0 $3,541,989 $0 $10,178,417 $1,059,173 $4,685 $353,500 $5,736,993 $31,886,109 -$893,842 $30,992,267

$0 $111,793 $0 $0 $0 $0 $45,475,197 $0 $0 $1,258,986 $137,609,629 $0 $137,609,629

$0 $0 $0 $195,449 $0 $220,731,720 $160,723 $668,652 $0 $9,426 $223,035,373 $0 $223,035,373

$0 $15,497,060 $0 -$70,676 $0 $89,689,637 $7,360,187 $18,444 $80,800 -$4,062,911 $146,999,546 $0 $146,999,546

$0 $15,608,853 $0 $124,773 $0 $310,421,357 $52,996,107 $687,096 $80,800 -$2,794,499 $507,644,548 $0 $507,644,548

$0 $15,665,318 $0 $3,666,762 $0 $320,599,774 $54,055,280 $691,781 $434,300 $2,942,494 $539,530,657 -$893,842 $538,636,815
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Financial Data Schedule of Combining Program Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 

As of June 30, 2021 
 

 
 

14.879 Mainstream 

Vouchers

14.HCV MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for HCV 

program

14.889 Choice 

Neighborhoods 

Implementation 

Grants

14.MSC 

Mainstream 

CARES Act 

Funding

14.896 PIH Family 

Self-Sufficiency 

Program

14.881 Moving to 

Work 

Demonstration 

Program

14.HCC HCV 

CARES Act 

Funding

14.CMT CARES 

Act Funding 

Transferred to MTW

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$977,035 $237,908,444 $634,153 $22,533 $296,719 $0 $4,563,687 $0

$0 $0 $268,928 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $271,985 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $51 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$977,035 $237,908,444 $903,081 $22,533 $296,719 $272,036 $4,563,687 $0

$0 $0 $135,074 $0 $0 $640,736 $0 $2,075,605

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$59,673 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $41,757 $0 $0

$0 $0 $34,137 $0 $0 $160,302 $0 $99

$0 $0 $539 $0 $0 $16,765 $0 $682,376

$0 $0 $43,273 $0 $0 $369,578 $0 $29,564

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $44

$0 $0 $442,793 $0 $0 $2,284,828 $0 $11,003

$59,673 $0 $655,816 $0 $0 $3,513,966 $0 $2,798,691

$0 $0 $0 $0 $205,486 $0 $0 $355,412

$0 $0 $1,330 $0 $0 $1,800 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $91,233 $0 $0 $114,085

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,361,038

$0 $0 $1,330 $0 $296,719 $1,800 $0 $1,830,535

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $331 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $119,644 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $4,380 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $467 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $124,822 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $7,792 $0 $50,255

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $505,860 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $513,652 $0 $50,255

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $586,333 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $11,291 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $597,624 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,108 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,108 $0 $0

$1,872 $0 $0 $0 $0 $907,142 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $11,934 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$1,872 $0 $0 $0 $0 $919,076 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$61,545 $0 $657,146 $0 $296,719 $5,673,048 $0 $4,679,481

$915,490 $237,908,444 $245,935 $22,533 $0 -$5,401,012 $4,563,687 -$4,679,481

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $499,317 $0 $0

$931,866 $0 $0 $22,533 $0 $163,046,066 $7,884 $1,038,566

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $482,286 $0 $0

$993,411 $0 $657,146 $22,533 $296,719 $169,700,717 $7,884 $5,718,047

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $250,713,847 $0 $5,718,047

$0 -$237,908,444 -$278,928 $0 $0 -$51,325,012 -$4,555,803 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 -$26,353,960 $0 $0

$0 -$237,908,444 -$278,928 $0 $0 $173,034,875 -$4,555,803 $5,718,047

-$16,376 $0 -$32,993 $0 $0 $3,606,194 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

-$4,207 $0 $501 $0 $0 $60,594,352 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

876 0 0 0 0 241350 0 0

839 0 0 0 0 202476 0 0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Project Total

 70600  HUD PHA Operating Grants $0 

 70610  Capital Grants $0 

 70710  Management Fee $0 

 70300  Net Tenant Rental Revenue $4,120,286

 70400  Tenant Revenue - Other $47,129

 70500  Total Tenant Revenue $4,167,415

 71100  Investment Income - Unrestricted $0

 71500  Other Revenue $564,728

 71600  Gain or Loss on Sale of Capital Assets -$99,677

 70750  Other Fees $0 

 70700  Total Fee Revenue $0 

 70800  Other Government Grants $0

 91200  Auditing Fees $0 

 91300  Management Fee $908,686

 91400  Advertising and Marketing $20,018

 72000  Investment Income - Restricted $0

 70000  Total Revenue $4,632,466

 91100  Administrative Salaries $0 

 91800  Travel $742

 91900  Other $1,418,793

 91000  Total Operating - Administrative $2,719,519

 91500  Employee Benefit contributions - Administrative $0

 91600  Office Expenses $347,282

 91700  Legal Expense $23,998

 92400  Tenant Services - Other $0 

 92500  Total Tenant Services $0

 93100  Water $286,803

 92100  Tenant Services - Salaries $0 

 92200  Relocation Costs $0 

 92300  Employee Benefit Contributions - Tenant Services $0 

 93000  Total Utilities $2,289,371

 94200  Ordinary Maintenance and Operations - Materials and Other $272,304

 94300  Ordinary Maintenance and Operations Contracts $3,335,863

 93200  Electricity $1,154,509

 93300  Gas $155,619

 93600  Sewer $692,440

 95000  Total Protective Services $948,841

 96110  Property Insurance $156,216

 96120  Liability Insurance $0

 94000  Total Maintenance $3,608,167

 95200  Protective Services - Other Contract Costs $921,657

 95300  Protective Services - Other $27,184

 96200  Other General Expenses $10,885,832

 96210  Compensated Absences $0

 96300  Payments in Lieu of Taxes $687,106

 96130  Workmen's Compensation $91,689

 96140  All Other Insurance $0

 96100  Total insurance Premiums $247,905

 96720  Interest on Notes Payable (Short and Long Term) $154,176

 96700  Total Interest Expense and Amortization Cost $154,176

 96900  Total Operating Expenses $21,567,873

 96400  Bad debt - Tenant Rents $26,956

 96500  Bad debt - Mortgages $0

 96000  Total Other General Expenses $11,599,894

 97400  Depreciation Expense $4,936,780

 90000  Total Expenses $26,924,972

 10010  Operating Transfer In $0

 97000  Excess of Operating Revenue over Operating Expenses -$16,935,407

 97100  Extraordinary Maintenance $420,319

 97300  Housing Assistance Payments $0

 10093  Transfers between Program and Project - In $26,271,537

 10094  Transfers between Project and Program - Out -$2,550

 10100  Total Other financing Sources (Uses) $26,268,987

 10020  Operating transfer Out $0

 10091  Inter Project Excess Cash Transfer In $24,187

 10092  Inter Project Excess Cash Transfer Out -$24,187

 11170  Administrative Fee Equity $0 

 11180  Housing Assistance Payments Equity $0 

 11190  Unit Months Available 33528

 10000  Excess (Deficiency) of Total Revenue Over (Under) Total Expenses $3,976,481

 11020  Required Annual Debt Principal Payments $100,510

 11030  Beginning Equity $62,396,109

 11660  Infrastructure Purchases $442,005

 11620  Building Purchases $590,511

 11630  Furniture & Equipment - Dwelling Purchases $2,113,236

 11640  Furniture & Equipment - Administrative Purchases $0

 11210  Number of Unit Months Leased 32355

 11270  Excess Cash $7,133,739

 11610  Land Purchases $81,618
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14.PHC Public 

Housing CARES 

Act Funding

1 Business 

Activities

14.CFP MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for Capital 

Fund

2 State/Local

14.OPS MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for Low 

Rent

8 Other Federal 

Program 1

6.2 Component Unit 

- Blended

14.871 Housing 

Choice Vouchers

14.EHV  

Emergency 

Housing Voucher 

COCC Subtotal ELIM Total

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $4,120,286 $0 $4,120,286

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $47,129 $0 $47,129

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $4,167,415 $0 $4,167,415

$1,963,336 $0 $0 $0 $12,474,867 $0 $0 $9,502,230 $80,800 $268,423,804 $0 $268,423,804

$0 $0 $330,537 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $599,465 $0 $599,465

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,249,790 $1,249,790 -$1,249,790 $0

$0 $30,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $30,000 $0 $30,000

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,249,790 $1,249,790 -$1,249,790 $0

$0 $0 $0 $195,449 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $195,449 $0 $195,449

$0 $145,521 $0 $0 $0 $951,729 $78,397 $0 $0 $0 $1,447,632 $0 $1,447,632

$0 $1,873,710 $0 $0 $0 $2,758,482 $2,222,577 $0 $0 $1,576,387 $8,995,935 -$2,119,455 $6,876,480

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $856,613 -$5,720 $0 $0 $10,892 $762,108 $0 $762,108

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,498,177 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,498,177 $0 $2,498,177

$1,963,336 $2,049,231 $330,537 $195,449 $12,474,867 $7,065,001 $2,295,254 $9,502,230 $80,800 $2,837,069 $288,369,775 -$3,369,245 $285,000,530

$0 $637,727 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $24,037,834 $27,526,976 $0 $27,526,976

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $164,000 $164,000 $0 $164,000

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $5,813 $43,750 $1,062,124 $0 $0 $2,080,046 -$1,249,790 $830,256

$0 $17,537 $0 $0 $0 $0 $3,496 $0 $0 $41,157 $123,965 $0 $123,965

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $6,835,631 $7,030,169 $0 $7,030,169

$0 $55,707 $0 $37,578 $0 $21,945 $15,563 $0 $0 $3,516,475 $4,694,230 $0 $4,694,230

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $654,634 $1,121,047 $0 $1,121,047

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $18,209 $18,995 $0 $18,995

$0 $313,100 $0 $0 $2,764 $185,584 $0 $0 $4,731,264 $9,390,129 -$2,119,455 $7,270,674

$0 $1,024,071 $0 $37,578 $0 $30,522 $248,393 $1,062,124 $0 $39,999,204 $52,149,557 -$3,369,245 $48,780,312

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $560,898 $0 $560,898

$38,384 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $41,514 $0 $41,514

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $205,318 $0 $205,318

$746,466 $244,902 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $55,810 $2,408,216 $0 $2,408,216

$784,850 $244,902 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $55,810 $3,215,946 $0 $3,215,946

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $8,329 $0 $0 $0 $295,463 $0 $295,463

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $169,672 $0 $0 $0 $1,443,825 $0 $1,443,825

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $9,060 $0 $0 $0 $169,059 $0 $169,059

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $14,515 $0 $0 $0 $707,422 $0 $707,422

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $201,576 $0 $0 $0 $2,615,769 $0 $2,615,769

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $141,034 $0 $0 $58,347 $529,732 $0 $529,732

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $388,903 $0 $0 $47,717 $4,278,343 $0 $4,278,343

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $529,937 $0 $0 $106,064 $4,808,075 $0 $4,808,075

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $179,863 $0 $0 $0 $1,687,853 $0 $1,687,853

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $23,422 $0 $0 $0 $61,897 $0 $61,897

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $203,285 $0 $0 $0 $1,749,750 $0 $1,749,750

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $139 $27,720 $0 $0 $0 $186,183 $0 $186,183

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $5,595 $0 $0 $186,260 $191,855 $0 $191,855

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,059 $0 $0 $176,071 $269,819 $0 $269,819

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,599 $0 $0 $240,902 $242,501 $0 $242,501

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $139 $36,973 $0 $0 $603,233 $890,358 $0 $890,358

$0 $60,202 $0 $0 $0 $6,002 $5,333 $17,762 $0 $7,643 $11,891,788 $0 $11,891,788

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,057,231 $1,069,165 $0 $1,069,165

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $687,106 $0 $687,106

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $26,956 $0 $26,956

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $5,003,719 $0 $0 $0 $0 $5,003,719 $0 $5,003,719

$0 $60,202 $0 $0 $0 $5,009,721 $5,333 $17,762 $0 $1,064,874 $18,678,734 $0 $18,678,734

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $154,176 $0 $154,176

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $154,176 $0 $154,176

$784,850 $1,329,175 $0 $37,578 $0 $5,040,382 $1,225,497 $1,079,886 $0 $41,829,185 $84,262,365 -$3,369,245 $80,893,120

$1,178,486 $720,056 $330,537 $157,871 $12,474,867 $2,024,619 $1,069,757 $8,422,344 $80,800 -$38,992,116 $204,107,410 $0 $204,107,410

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $128,251 $0 $0 $0 $1,047,887 $0 $1,047,887

$16,242 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $8,931,590 $0 $0 $173,994,747 $0 $173,994,747

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $765,506 $0 $0 $430,723 $6,615,295 $0 $6,615,295

$801,092 $1,329,175 $0 $37,578 $0 $5,040,382 $2,119,254 $10,011,476 $0 $42,259,908 $265,920,294 -$3,369,245 $262,551,049

$768,470 $0 $0 $175,773 $0 $12,012,609 $0 $0 $0 $39,415,559 $308,804,305 -$308,804,305 $0

-$1,930,714 $0 -$330,537 $0 -$12,474,867 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 -$308,804,305 $308,804,305 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $24,187 -$24,187 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 -$24,187 $24,187 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $331,422 $0 $0 $0 $0 $26,602,959 -$26,602,959 $0

$0 $0 $0 -$246,449 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 -$26,602,959 $26,602,959 $0

-$1,162,244 $0 -$330,537 -$70,676 -$12,474,867 $12,344,031 $0 $0 $0 $39,415,559 $0 $0 $0

$0 $720,056 $0 $87,195 $0 $14,368,650 $176,000 -$509,246 $80,800 -$7,280 $22,449,481 $0 $22,449,481

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $100,510 $0 $100,510

$0 $14,888,797 $0 $37,578 $0 $296,052,707 $52,820,107 $1,196,342 $0 -$2,787,219 $485,195,067 $0 $485,195,067

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 -$11,442 $0 $0 -$11,442 $0 -$11,442

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $698,538 $0 $0 $698,538 $0 $698,538

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8940 0 0 284694 0 284694

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8523 0 0 244193 0 244193

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $7,133,739 $0 $7,133,739

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $81,618 $0 $81,618

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $590,511 $0 $590,511

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,113,236 $0 $2,113,236

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $643,179 $643,179 $0 $643,179

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $442,005 $0 $442,005
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NOTE A — BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

 
The accompanying financial data schedules of Combining Program Net Position and Combining 
Program Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position have been prepared using the basis of 
accounting required by HUD’s Real Estate Assessment Center (“REAC”), as modified in accordance 
with the provisions, policies and requirements contained in AH’s MTW Agreement. 
 
REAC requires certain items on the Schedule of Combining Net Position to be classified entirely as 
short- or long-term. These items, however, are allocated between short- and long-term in the 
financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. In addition, REAC does not provide for 
presenting items on the Financial Data Schedule of Combining Program Revenues, Expenses and 
Changes in Net Position as operating or non-operating. Therefore, there are differences in 
classifications and presentation between these schedules and the financial statements. Total assets 
and deferred outflows, total liabilities and deferred inflows, and net position and changes in net 
position reported in these schedules, however, agree with the financial statements prepared in 
accordance with GAAP. 
 
The financial data schedules are presented by program in accordance with HUD requirements. 
Below are definitions of the main programs under which AH conducts its operations. 
 
Project Total 

Primarily represents, in aggregate, operating and modernization expenditures and tenant rental 
revenues, where applicable, associated with the properties and communities, either directly owned 
by AH or in partnership with Owner Entities of MIXED rental communities, including all related 
assets and liabilities thereof. This program also includes funds drawn from the RHF grant primarily 
for reimbursement of development and revitalization expenditures. It also includes liabilities and 
interest expense associated with the EPC capital lease. 
 
14.881 Moving to Work Demonstration Program (MTW Single Fund) 

As defined under Note A.2 of the Financial Statements, this program essentially includes MTW-
eligible activity other than those reported under Project Total, which is described above. 

Additionally, the programs below were created for MTW Agencies to report grant and subsidy 
revenues received from HUD. The grant and subsidy revenues are then transferred to the MTW 
Single Fund. Therefore, these programs are exclusively used as pass-through programs and allow a 
separate reporting of each of the HUD program funds included in the MTW Single Fund. 

a. 14. OPS MTW Demonstration Program for Low Rent includes all funds drawn under 
the Section 9 Public Housing Operating fund. 

b. 14. CFP MTW Demonstration Program for Capital Fund includes funds drawn under 
CFP. 

c. 14. HCV MTW Demonstration Program for HCV Program includes funds received 
under the Section 8 HCV program (MTW vouchers and RAD vouchers). 
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NOTE A — BASIS OF PRESENTATION — continued 
 

14.871 Housing Choice Vouchers 

Includes the subsidy received, housing assistance payments and an administrative fee allocated from 
the COCC program in connection with the VASH program, Family Unification Program (“FUP”) 
and Non-elderly Disabled including Mainstream 1-year vouchers. These vouchers are not part of the 
MTW Single Fund. 
 
14.879 Mainstream Vouchers 

Includes the subsidy received, housing assistance payments and an administrative fee allocated from 
the COCC program in connection with the Mainstream 5-year vouchers. These vouchers are not part 
of the MTW Single Fund. 
 
2 State/Local 

Primarily includes funds received from the City of Atlanta and related agencies in connection with 
public improvement work to be carried out on development projects, as well as other development 
grants provided or fees paid by the City of Atlanta and related agencies, where applicable. 
 

8 Other Federal 

Primarily includes development and revitalization activities resulting from AH’s role as sponsor and 
co-developer of MIXED rental communities. Those activities primarily include predevelopment and 
development loans to Owner Entities of the MIXED rental communities, developer and other fees 
earned from the deals as well as interest revenue on the loans. For further information, refer to Note F 
of the Notes to the Financial Statements. 

This program also includes unrestricted and restricted cash and investments associated with program 
income received over the years from repayments of loans and other receivables as well as from 
disposals of assets. 
 

1 Business Activities 

Includes entrepreneurial activities that generate non-federal funds. Primarily, as a member of 
National Housing Compliance, Inc., AH receives contributions, which are included in this program 
as unrestricted (non-federal) cash and investments. It also includes expenses (not allowable under 
HUD regulations) paid with non-federal funds. For further information, refer to Note G of the Notes 

to the Financial Statements. 
 
COCC 

Comprised of operating and administrative expenses incurred by the operating and administrative 
departments overseeing and/or supporting AH’s various projects and programs, net of management 
fees allocated. 
 
6.2 Component Unit — Blended 

Includes all activities of AH’s blended component units as described in Note A.3 of the Financial 

Statements. See Note T of the Notes to the Financial Statements for balances and activity for 
FY 2021 and 2020.
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NOTE A — BASIS OF PRESENTATION — continued 
 

14. PHC — Public Housing CARES Act Funding 

Includes supplemental Operating Funds received under the CARES Act for all projects as restricted 
cash, cash restricted for payments of current liabilities and project-associated COVID-19 expenses 
and accrued expenses, if any. 
 
14. HCC — HCV CARES Act Funding 

Includes supplemental HCV administrative fees received under the CARES Act as restricted cash, 
cash restricted for payments of current liabilities, unearned revenue for fees not yet recognized, non-
MTW voucher supplemental rent and other COVID-19-related expenses, accrued expenses, if any, 
and funds transferred out to cover expenses in other CARES Act programs such as PHC and MTC. 
 
14. MSC — Mainstream CARES Act Funding 

Includes supplemental Mainstream voucher administrative fees received under the CARES Act as 
restricted cash, cash restricted for payments of current liabilities, unearned revenue for fees not yet 
recognized, Mainstream voucher supplemental rent, and other COVID-19-related expenses and 
accrued expenses, if any. 
 

14. CMT — CARES Act Funding Transferred to MTW 

Includes supplemental funds transferred in from other CARES Act programs used to support AH’s 
MTW Program expenses, incurred either directly or indirectly for COVID-19-related expenses. 
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Owner Entity:

Effective

Date

Interest 

Rate

Maturity

Date

Outstanding 

Balance

as of

June 30, 2021

Outstanding 

Balance

as of

June 30, 2020

Capitol Gateway Partnership I, L.P. 9/15/2008 1.000% 12/31/2072 10,084,861$           10,084,861$      

Capitol Gateway Partnership II, L.P. 11/29/2006 4.890% 11/1/2058 1,434,211               1,436,874          

Capitol Gateway Partnership II, L.P. 11/29/2006 1.000% 11/1/2072 2,405,708               2,405,708          

Carver Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. 9/1/2006 1.000% 7/20/2060 7,700,000               7,700,000          

Carver Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. 7/21/2000 0.500% 1/1/2059 500,000                  500,000             

Carver Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. 9/1/2006 5.210% 12/31/2055 874,250                  874,250             

Carver Redevelopment Partnership II, L.P. 12/2/2002 4.920% 7/20/2060 740,000                  740,000             

Carver Redevelopment Partnership III, L.P. 3/31/2006 1.000% 7/20/2060 8,430,000               8,430,000          

Carver Redevelopment Partnership V, L.P. 8/15/2009 0.500% 7/20/2060 6,240,000               6,240,000          

CCH John Eagan I Homes, L.P. 8/12/1998 1.000% 8/12/2055 5,896,000               5,896,000          

CCH John Eagan II Homes, L.P. 11/17/2000 1.000% 11/30/2057 4,536,000               4,536,000          

Centennial Place Partnership I, LP 6/11/2015 0.500% 6/11/2070 4,044,270               4,044,270          

Centennial Place Partnership II, LP 12/4/2015 0.500% 12/4/2070 4,098,304               4,150,000          

Centennial Place Partnership III, LP 12/29/2016 0.500% 12/28/2071 4,266,771               4,266,771          

Centennial Place Partnership IV, LP 12/28/2018 1.000% 12/28/2075 4,235,060               4,235,060          

Centennial Place Partnership IV, LP 12/28/2018 0.500% 12/28/2075 2,560,438               2,560,438          

Columbia at Mechanicsville Apartments, L.P. 12/19/2006 0.000% 12/31/2063 5,115,000               5,115,000          

Columbia at Mechanicsville Apartments, L.P. 2/19/2020 0.000% 2/19/2060 88,287                    88,287               

Columbia Commons, L.P. 3/30/2007 5.010% 12/30/2059 2,800,000               2,800,000          

Columbia Commons, L.P. 3/30/2007 5.010% 10/30/2059 625,221                  625,221             

Columbia Commons, L.P. 2/19/2020 0.000% 2/19/2060 73,345                    73,345               

Columbia Creste, L.P. 8/7/2007 5.210% 10/30/2059 4,900,000               4,900,000          

Columbia Creste, L.P. 8/7/2007 5.210% 10/30/2059 346,290                  346,290             

Columbia Estates, L.P. 3/30/2007 5.010% 10/30/2059 3,750,000               3,750,000          

Columbia Estates, L.P. 3/30/2007 5.010% 10/30/2059 816,413                  816,413             

Columbia Estates, L.P. 2/26/2020 0.000% 2/26/2060 76,410                    76,410               

Columbia Grove, L.P. 7/23/2008 4.600% 7/31/2055 4,303,896               4,303,896          

Columbia Grove, L.P. 7/23/2008 4.600% 7/31/2055 162,773                  162,773             

Columbia Park Citi Residences, L.P. 10/5/2006 5.210% 10/30/2059 4,575,000               4,575,000          

Columbia Park Citi Residences, L.P. 10/5/2006 5.210% 10/30/2059 253,164                  253,164             

Columbia Park Citi Residences, L.P. 3/11/2020 0.000% 3/11/2060 94,704                    94,704               

Columbia Senior Residences at Mechanicsville, L.P. 12/20/2006 4.900% 12/31/2063 4,349,852               4,349,852          

Columbia Village, L.P. 8/14/1998 6.504% 6/12/2040 2,250,000               2,250,000          

East Lake Redevelopment II, L.P. 7/29/1999 0.000% 7/29/2039 -                         -                     

East Lake Redevelopment, L.P. 12/13/1996 0.000% 12/12/2036 -                         -                     

Grady Multifamily I, LP 12/18/2009 0.500% 12/1/2067 6,248,181               6,423,179          

Grady Multifamily II, L.P. 12/18/2012 2.000% 12/17/2067 5,394,541               5,432,980          

Grady Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. 9/20/2007 1.000% 9/1/2067 2,559,025               2,577,376          

Grady Senior Partnership II, LP 3/12/2010 0.500% 12/1/2067 1,967,744               2,106,132          

Harris Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. 1/1/2006 1.000% 10/31/2063 7,925,000               7,925,000          

Harris Redevelopment Partnership V, LP 12/18/2009 0.500% 10/1/2063 8,459,085               8,528,879          

Herndon Homes Phase I, LLC 3/13/2019 3.000% 12/18/2094 4,113,000               4,113,000          

Herndon Homes Phase I, LLC 12/18/2019 3.000% 12/18/2059 7,060,688               2,537,003          

John Hope Community Partnership I, L.P. 6/1/2018 0.000% 5/31/2075 875,152                  875,152             

John Hope Community Partnership II, L.P. 5/12/1999 1.000% 5/11/2054 7,980,000               7,980,000          

Juniper and Tenth, LP 11/22/2016 0.500% 11/21/2066 3,662,500               3,662,500          

Kimberly Associates I, L.P. 12/30/1999 6.470% 12/30/2054 2,605,000               2,605,000          

Kimberly Associates II, L.P. 8/29/2001 5.720% 12/30/2054 1,507,000               1,507,000          

Kimberly Associates III, L.P. 11/15/2002 5.340% 12/30/2054 1,305,000               1,305,000          

Marietta Road Senior Tower, LLC 1/30/2020 3.000% 1/30/2051 2,600,000               2,600,000          

Marietta Road Senior Tower, LLC 1/30/2020 3.000% 10/31/2061 6,200,000               6,200,000          

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 3, L.P. 12/14/2007 4.720% 12/31/2059 5,965,395               5,965,395          

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 4, L.P. 12/21/2007 0.000% 12/31/2059 5,494,000               5,494,000          

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 6, L.P. 1/14/2011 2.500% 12/31/2063 5,158,796               5,158,796          

Mercy Housing Georgia VI, L.P. 7/20/2007 1.000% 10/1/2063 5,600,000               5,600,000          

Peachtree Road Senior Tower, LLC 4/15/2020 3.000% 5/1/2052 3,100,000               3,100,000          

Peachtree Road Senior Tower, LLC 4/15/2020 3.000% 1/31/2062 7,200,000               7,200,000          

Piedmont Senior Tower, LLC 11/29/2017 2.600% 5/1/2034 1,912,025               2,034,077          

Piedmont Senior Tower, LLC 11/29/2017 2.600% 11/29/2067 8,901,096               9,000,000          

Piedmont Senior Tower, LLC 11/29/2017 2.600% 5/1/2020 3,300,000               3,300,000          

TBG London Townhomes, L.P. 8/1/2020 3.000% N/A 237,701                  -                     

TBG London Townhomes, L.P. 8/1/2020 2.500% 11/1/2067 1,094,065               -                     

The New Villages of Castleberry Hill I, LP 6/1/2018 1.000% 5/31/2075 3,744,848               3,744,848          

UH Scholars Partnership III, LP 9/25/2018 0.500% 9/25/2060 8,393,500               8,168,529          

UH Senior Partnership II, LP 12/24/2013 1.000% 12/17/2066 1,500,000               1,500,000          

UH Senior Partnership II, LP 2/27/2015 0.000% 2/27/2065 450,000                  450,000             

UH Senior Partnership II, LP 12/23/2019 2.000% 12/31/2059 3,027,280               3,083,074          

Villages of East Lake Redevelopment, L.P. 11/22/2019 0.000% 11/22/2061 18,269,103             18,269,103        

West End Phase III Redevelopment Partnership, L.P. 5/19/2000 6.200% 5/31/2034 1,298,400               1,298,400          
257,734,352           252,425,010      

Valuation allowance (59,014,758)           (59,014,758)       

198,719,594$         193,410,252$    
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SCHEDULE OF RELATED-PARTY OTHER LOANS AND FEES RECEIVABLE 

As of June 30, 2021

 

 
 

Owner Entity: Other Loans

Developer and 

Other Fees Long 

Term

Predevelopment 

Loans 

Long Term

Investment In 

Partnership

Adamsville Green, L.P. 1,614,792$          -$                     -$                     -$                     

Brock Built Homes, LLC 8,558,000            -                       -                       -                       

Campbell Stone, L.P. 1,500,000            -                       -                       -                       

Capitol Gateway Partnership I, L.P. 181,236               97,836                 -                       -                       

Capitol Gateway Partnership II, L.P. -                       54,207                 -                       -                       

Carver Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. 225,792               64,187                 -                       -                       

Carver Redevelopment Partnership II, L.P. -                       87,718                 -                       -                       

Carver Redevelopment Partnership III, L.P. 111,500               67,708                 -                       -                       

Carver Redevelopment Partnership V, L.P. -                       119,160               -                       -                       

Carver Senior Building, L.P. -                       -                       -                       -                       

CCH John Eagan I Homes, L.P. 46,565                 -                       -                       -                       

CCH John Eagan II Homes, L.P. -                       -                       -                       -                       

Centennial Park North II, LLC -                       -                       -                       -                       

Centennial Place Developer, LLC -                       59,582                 -                       -                       

Centennial Place Partnership I, L.P. -                       68,204                 -                       -                       

Centennial Place Partnership II, L.P. 42,274                 

Centennial Place Partnership III, L.P. -                       65,647                 -                       -                       

Columbia at Mechanicsville Apartments, L.P. -                       8,469                   -                       -                       

Columbia Commons, L.P. -                       -                       -                       82,580                 

Columbia Creste, L.P. 148,009               121,414               -                       -                       

Columbia Estates, L.P. 168,791               35,507                 -                       -                       

Columbia Grove, L.P. 227,999               64,855                 -                       -                       

Columbia Heritage Senior Residences, L.P. -                       119,373               -                       -                       

Columbia Park Citi Residences, L.P. 117,687               30,754                 -                       -                       

Columbia Senior Residences at Edgewood, L.P. 862,477               -                       -                       -                       

Columbia Senior Residences at Mechanicsville, L.P. -                       21,252                 -                       -                       

Columbia Village, L.P. -                       -                       -                       111,914               

Cosby Spear, L.P. -                       -                       -                       -                       

East Lake Redevelopment II, L.P. -                       -                       -                       -                       

East Lake Redevelopment, L.P. -                       -                       -                       -                       

Gates Park Crossing HFOP Apartments, L.P. 1,203,535            250,054               -                       -                       

Gates Park Crossing HFS Apartments, L.P. 1,074,078            249,875               -                       -                       

Grady Multifamily I, L.P. -                       61,040                 -                       -                       

Grady Multifamily II, L.P. -                       58,817                 -                       -                       

Grady Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. -                       38,538                 -                       -                       

Grady Senior Partnership II, L.P. -                       66,875                 -                       -                       

Grady Senior Partnership III, L.P. -                       -                       -                       -                       

Harmony at Bakers Ferry, LP -                       -                       90,818                 -                       

Harris Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. 351,060               88,083                 -                       -                       

Harris Redevelopment Partnership II, L.P. 97,544                 28,541                 -                       -                       

Harris Redevelopment Partnership Phase V, L.P. -                       63,903                 -                       -                       

Harris Redevelopment Partnership Phase VI, L.P. -                       18,136                 -                       220,000               

Harris Redevelopment, LLC -                       -                       8,468                   -                       

Herndon Homes Phase I, LLC -                       186,118               -                       -                       

Hightower Manor Redevelopment, L.P. -                       -                       275,000               -                       

John Hope Community Partnership I, L.P. -                       -                       -                       -                       

John Hope Community Partnership II, L.P. -                       -                       -                       -                       

Juniper and Tenth, L.P. -                       35,255                 -                       -                       

Kimberly Associates I, L.P. 152,484               -                       -                       -                       

Kimberly Associates II, L.P. 70,335                 7,833                   -                       -                       

Kimberly Associates III, L.P. 22,080                 92,567                 -                       -                       

Legacy Partnership III, L.P. -                       -                       -                       -                       

Legacy Partnership IV, L.P. -                       -                       -                       -                       

Marietta Road Senior Tower, LLC -                       705,046               -                       -                       

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 3, L.P. -                       34,627                 -                       -                       

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 4, L.P. -                       73,668                 -                       -                       

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 6, L.P. -                       73,659                 -                       -                       

Mechanicsville I Homeownership -                       -                       -                       -                       

Mercy Housing Georgia VI, L.P. 111,296               7,799                   -                       -                       

Peachtree Road Senior Tower, LLC -                       970,200               -                       -                       

Piedmont Senior Tower, LLC -                       56,744                 -                       -                       

Quest Community Development Organization, Inc. -                       10,000                 -                       -                       

RVG Reynoldstown II, LP -                       -                       402,777               -                       

TBG Englewood Multifamily, LP -                       10,000                 -                       -                       

TBG Englewood Senior, LP -                       10,000                 -                       -                       

TBG London Townhomes, L.P. -                       631,893               -                       -                       

UH Scholars Partnership III, L.P. -                       92,207                 -                       -                       

UH Scholars Partnership IV, L.P. -                       -                       69,341                 -                       

UH Scholars Partnership Vine Street, L.P. -                       -                       423,000               -                       

UH Senior Partnership I, L.P. -                       26,820                 -                       -                       

UH Senior Partnership II, L.P. -                       -                       -                       -                       

West End Phase III Redevelopment Partnership, L.P. 97,805                 -                       -                       -                       

16,943,065          5,076,447            1,269,404            414,494               

Valuation allowance (4,296,500)           (1,198,821)           -                       (414,494)              

12,646,565$        3,877,626$          1,269,404$          -$                     
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SCHEDULE OF RELATED-PARTY OTHER LOANS AND FEES RECEIVABLE 

As of June 30, 2020 

 

 

 

Owner Entity: Other Loans

Developer and 

Other Fees Long 

Term

Predevelopment 

Loans 

Long Term

Investment In 

Partnership

Adamsville Green, L.P. 1,643,109$          3,500$                 -$                    -$                    

Brock Built Homes, LLC 10,018,000          -                      -                      -                      

Campbell Stone, L.P. 1,500,000            -                      -                      -                      

Capitol Gateway Partnership I, L.P. 181,236               -                      -                      -                      

Carver Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. 225,792               28,129                 -                      -                      

Carver Redevelopment Partnership II, L.P. -                      52,448                 -                      -                      

Carver Redevelopment Partnership III, L.P. 111,500               -                      -                      -                      

Carver Redevelopment Partnership V, L.P. -                      75,324                 -                      -                      

CCH John Eagan I Homes, L.P. 46,565                 -                      -                      -                      

Centennial Place Partnership I, L.P. -                      59,582                 -                      -                      

Columbia at Mechanicsville Apartments, L.P. -                      8,469                   -                      -                      

Columbia Commons, L.P. -                      -                      -                      82,580                 

Columbia Creste, L.P. 148,009               121,414               -                      -                      

Columbia Estates, L.P. 168,791               35,518                 -                      -                      

Columbia Grove, L.P. 227,999               64,855                 -                      -                      

Columbia Heritage Senior Residences, L.P. -                      91,899                 -                      -                      

Columbia Park Citi Residences, L.P. 117,687               44,312                 -                      -                      

Columbia Senior Residences at Edgewood, L.P. 889,829               -                      -                      -                      

Columbia Senior Residences at Mechanicsville, L.P. -                      8,034                   -                      -                      

Columbia Village, L.P. -                      -                      -                      111,914               

Cosby Spear, L.P. -                      8,250                   -                      -                      

Gates Park Crossing HFOP Apartments, L.P. 1,203,535            250,054               -                      -                      

Gates Park Crossing HFS Apartments, L.P. 1,066,578            257,375               -                      -                      

Grady Multifamily II, L.P. -                      2,203                   -                      -                      

Harris Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. 351,060               17,069                 -                      -                      

Harris Redevelopment Partnership II, L.P. 84,800                 -                      -                      -                      

Harris Redevelopment Partnership Phase VI, L.P. -                      18,136                 -                      220,000               

Harris Redevelopment, LLC -                      -                      8,468                   -                      

Herndon Homes Phase I, LLC -                      474,053               -                      -                      

Hightower Manor Redevelopment, L.P. -                      -                      275,000               -                      

Kimberly Associates I, L.P. 152,484               -                      -                      -                      

Kimberly Associates II, L.P. 70,335                 7,833                   -                      -                      

Kimberly Associates III, L.P. 22,080                 92,567                 -                      -                      

Marietta Road Senior Tower, LLC -                      697,396               -                      -                      

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 3, L.P. -                      34,627                 -                      -                      

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 4, L.P. -                      73,668                 -                      -                      

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 6, L.P. -                      73,659                 -                      -                      

Mechanicsville I Homeownership -                      3,250                   -                      -                      

Mercy Housing Georgia VI, L.P. 111,296               20,732                 -                      -                      

Peachtree Road Senior Tower, LLC -                      970,200               -                      -                      

Piedmont Senior Tower, LLC -                      77,406                 -                      -                      

TBG London Townhomes, L.P. -                      -                      869,746               -                      

UH Scholars Partnership III, L.P. -                      144,302               -                      -                      

UH Scholars Partnership IV, L.P. -                      10,000                 -                      -                      

UH Scholars Partnership Vine Street, L.P. -                      262,856               -                      

West End Phase III Redevelopment Partnership, L.P. 97,805                 -                      -                      -                      

18,438,490          3,826,264            1,416,070            414,494               

Valuation allowance (4,276,256)           (1,250,613)           -                      (414,494)              

14,162,234$        2,575,651$          1,416,070$          -$                     
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SCHEDULE OF RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Year ended June 30, 2021 

 

 

Owner Entity:

Interest Income 

received on 

Loans

Development

Related

Income

Operating

Subsidy HomeFlex 
1

834 Thurmond Street, LLC -$                      10,000$                 -$                      -$                      

Adamsville Green, L.P. 48,939                   -                        -                        572,413                 

ASL Homeownership, LLC -                        10,000                   -                        -                        

Atlanta Housing Opportunity Inc. -                        30,000                   -                        -                        

Brock Built Homes, LLC -                        490,883                 -                        -                        

Campbell Stone, L.P. 113,224                 -                        -                        1,509,581              

Capitol Gateway Partnership I, L.P. 91,678                   104,308                 334,841                 -                        

Capitol Gateway Partnership II, L.P. 75,977                   54,207                   195,592                 162,249                 

Carnegie Library, LLC -                        15,628                   -                        -                        

Carver Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. 12,192                   36,058                   550,582                 -                        

Carver Redevelopment Partnership II, L.P. 18,865                   35,270                   69,273                   -                        

Carver Redevelopment Partnership III, L.P. 36,266                   67,708                   465,122                 -                        

Carver Redevelopment Partnership V, L.P. 31,496                   59,999                   200,045                 -                        

Carver Senior Building, L.P. -                        40,809                   -                        546,517                 

CCH John Eagan I Homes, L.P. -                        -                        476,557                 -                        

CCH John Eagan II Homes, L.P. -                        -                        204,753                 -                        

Centennial Place Partnership I, L.P. -                        42,681                   -                        422,514                 

Centennial Place Partnership II, L.P. 67,207                   36,774                   -                        377,764                 

Centennial Place Partnership III, L.P. -                        42,375                   -                        455,319                 

Centennial Place Partnership IV, L.P. -                        23,272                   -                        509,551                 

Columbia at Mechanicsville Apartments, L.P. -                        -                        20,830                   670,472                 

Columbia Commons, L.P. 80,408                   -                        17,941                   333,162                 

Columbia Creste, L.P. -                        -                        430,787                 -                        

Columbia Estates, L.P. 160,394                 14,383                   7,501                     318,006                 

Columbia Grove, L.P. -                        -                        260,902                 -                        

Columbia Heritage Senior Residences, LP -                        35,966                   -                        1,047,045              

Columbia Park Citi Residences, L.P. 55,787                   16,568                   -                        349,404                 

Columbia Senior Residences at Edgewood, L.P. 33,358                   44,145                   -                        1,171,140              

Columbia Senior Residences at Mechanicsville, L.P. -                        13,218                   9,679                     880,922                 

Columbia Village, L.P. -                        -                        141,220                 -                        

East Lake Redevelopment II, L.P. -                        84,162                   661,192                 

East Lake Redevelopment, L.P. -                        -                        319,216                 

Gates Park Crossing HFOP Apartments, L.P. -                        -                        -                        1,135,052              

Gates Park Crossing HFS Apartments, L.P. -                        -                        -                        816,727                 

Grady Multifamily I, L.P. 33,114                   61,040                   165,103                 71,606                   

Grady Multifamily II, L.P. 108,966                 58,817                   193,259                 -                        

Grady Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. 26,361                   38,538                   166,001                 625,067                 

Grady Senior Partnership II, L.P. 10,557                   34,715                   -                        838,933                 

Grady Senior Partnership III, L.P. -                        87,042                   -                        899,246                 

Harmony at Bakers Ferry, L.P. -                        5,000                     -                        -                        

Harris Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. 5,034                     71,014                   264,835                 -                        

Harris Redevelopment Partnership II, L.P. -                        61,419                   -                        704,043                 

Harris Redevelopment Partnership Phase V, L.P. 43,023                   63,903                   490,741                 -                        

Harris Redevelopment Partnership Phase VI, L.P. -                        7,800                     179,291                 -                        

Harris VII Homeownership Offsite -                        38,957                   -                        -                        

Herndon Homes Phase I, LLC 133,953                 -                        -                        97,696                   

Juniper and Tenth, L.P. -                        35,255                   -                        899,176                 

Kimberly Associates I, L.P. -                        -                        377,220                 -                        

Kimberly Associates II, L.P. -                        -                        217,754                 -                        

Kimberly Associates III, L.P. -                        -                        183,791                 -                        

Marietta Road Senior Tower, LLC 30,600                   -                        888,228                 

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 3, L.P. 3,761                     15,662                   545,392                 223,742                 

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 4, L.P. -                        -                        485,731                 273,572                 

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 6, L.P. -                        -                        17,623                   527,069                 

Mercy Housing Georgia VI, L.P. 41,650                   -                        607,983                 979,173                 

Peachtree Road Senior Tower, LLC -                        10,200                   -                        1,368,208              

Piedmont Senior Tower, LLC 1,073,263              48,631                   -                        1,354,306              

RVG Reynoldstown II, L.P. -                        5,000                     -                        -                        

TBG Englewood Multifamily, LP -                        10,000                   -                        -                        

TBG Englewood Senior, LP -                        10,000                   -                        -                        

TBG London Townhomes, L.P. 9,708                     851,772                 -                        -                        

The New Villages of Castleberry Hills I, L.P. 4,317                     -                        487,948                 

The New Villages of Castleberry Hills II, LP -                        -                        478,218                 -                        

UH Senior Partnership I, L.P. -                        44,052                   -                        728,919                 

UH Senior Partnership II, L.P. 66,244                   -                        -                        488,151                 

UH Scholars Partnership III, L.P. -                        9,462                     -                        557,116                 

Villages of East Lake Redevelopment, L.P. -                        -                        -                        977,436                 

West End Phase III Redevelopment Partnership, L.P. 25,807                   -                        72,038                   -                        

2,407,232$            2,827,449$            7,914,767$            25,247,881$          
1

 HomeFlex payments listed are related-party only and, as a result, are not all-inclusive. However, inclusive of payments for RAD converted units.

Housing Assistance

Payments
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The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia 
SCHEDULE OF RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Year ended June 30, 2020 

 

Owner Entity:

Interest Income 

received on 

Loans

Development

Related

Income

Operating

Subsidy HomeFlex 
1

Adamsville Green, L.P. 49,709$                 7,000$                   -$                       578,368$               

Brock Built Homes, LLC -                         710,499                 -                         -                         

Campbell Stone, L.P. 29,591                   -                         -                         1,480,854              

Capitol Gateway Partnership I, L.P. -                         22,939                   297,931                 -                         

Capitol Gateway Partnership II, L.P. -                         -                         257,024                 143,268                 

Carver Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. -                         -                         631,433                 -                         

Carver Redevelopment Partnership II, L.P. -                         -                         115,307                 -                         

Carver Redevelopment Partnership III, L.P. -                         -                         366,961                 -                         

Carver Redevelopment Partnership V, L.P. -                         -                         259,883                 -                         

Carver Senior Building, L.P. -                         -                         -                         555,286                 

CCH John Eagan I Homes, L.P. -                         -                         504,512                 -                         

CCH John Eagan II Homes, L.P. -                         -                         561,003                 -                         

Centennial Park North II, LLC -                         419,457                 -                         -                         

Centennial Place Partnership I, L.P. -                         -                         -                         373,528                 

Centennial Place Partnership II, L.P. -                         -                         -                         362,672                 

Centennial Place Partnership III, L.P. -                         -                         -                         387,418                 

Centennial Place Partnership IV, L.P. -                         -                         -                         233,937                 

Columbia at Mechanicsville Apartments, L.P. -                         -                         360,388                 335,104                 

Columbia Commons, L.P. -                         -                         203,086                 97,357                   

Columbia Creste, L.P. -                         -                         337,756                 -                         

Columbia Estates, L.P. -                         14,394                   284,544                 55,293                   

Columbia Grove, L.P. -                         -                         179,675                 -                         

Columbia Heritage Senior Residences, LP -                         8,492                     -                         1,037,600              

Columbia Mechanicsville Scattered Sites, L.P. -                         3,250                     -                         -                         

Columbia Park Citi Residences, L.P. -                         30,126                   340,084                 65,444                   

Columbia Senior Residences at Edgewood, L.P. -                         11,229                   -                         1,163,691              

Columbia Senior Residences at Mechanicsville, L.P. -                         -                         250,149                 611,249                 

Columbia Village, L.P. -                         -                         144,126                 -                         

East Lake Redevelopment II, L.P. 15,441                   -                         642,302                 676,503                 

East Lake Redevelopment, L.P. 9,726                     -                         422,321                 328,467                 

Gates Park Crossing HFOP Apartments, L.P. -                         -                         -                         1,128,236              

Gates Park Crossing HFS Apartments, L.P. -                         -                         -                         792,735                 

Grady Multifamily I, L.P. -                         -                         287,757                 80,823                   

Grady Multifamily II, L.P. -                         -                         233,388                 -                         

Grady Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. -                         -                         159,910                 639,163                 

Grady Senior Partnership II, L.P. -                         -                         -                         858,520                 

Grady Senior Partnership III, L.P. -                         -                         -                         907,274                 

Harris Redevelopment Partnership I, L.P. -                         -                         364,550                 -                         

Harris Redevelopment Partnership II, L.P. -                         -                         -                         694,735                 

Harris Redevelopment Partnership Phase V, LP -                         -                         511,241                 -                         

Harris Redevelopment Partnership Phase VI, LP -                         -                         179,164                 -                         

Harris VII Homeownership Offsite -                         23,015                   -                         -                         

Herndon Homes Phase I, LLC 13,350                   698,155                 -                         -                         

John Hope Community Partnership II, L.P. -                         -                         318,465                 -                         

Juniper and Tenth, L.P. -                         -                         -                         870,669                 

Kimberly Associates I, L.P. -                         -                         368,904                 -                         

Kimberly Associates II, L.P. -                         -                         203,396                 3,341                     

Kimberly Associates III, L.P. -                         -                         175,505                 4,947                     

Marietta Road Senior Tower, LLC 758,046                 -                         377,205                 

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 3, L.P. -                         15,662                   438,593                 196,112                 

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 4, L.P. -                         -                         400,753                 249,478                 

Mechanicsville Apartments Phase 6, L.P. -                         -                         231,912                 304,028                 

Mercy Housing Georgia VI, L.P. 73,899                   42,624                   730,530                 950,140                 

Peachtree Road Senior Tower, LLC -                         1,010,850              -                         -                         

Piedmont Senior Tower, LLC 144,272                 39,079                   -                         1,315,681              

TBG London Townhomes, L.P. -                         5,000                     -                         -                         

The New Villages of Castleberry Hills I, LP 25,124                   38,549                   51,436                   387,482                 

UH Senior Partnership I, L.P. -                         -                         -                         733,509                 

UH Senior Partnership II, L.P. 20,624                   -                         -                         414,281                 

UH Scholars Partnership III, L.P. -                         347,501                 -                         218,242                 

Villages of East Lake Redevelopment, L.P. -                         271,750                 -                         -                         

West End Phase III Redevelopment Partnership, L.P. -                         -                         100,437                 -                         

381,737$               4,477,616$            10,914,426$          19,612,640$          
1
 HomeFlex payments listed are related-party only and, as a result, are not all-inclusive. However, inclusive of payments for RAD converted units.

Housing Assistance

Payments
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The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia 

SCHEDULE OF HUD-FUNDED GRANTS 

As of and Year Ended June 30, 2021 

 

 

Original HUD Remaining

Grant Receivable/ Grant

Award (Payable) Award

Cumulative Cumulative Cumulative Cumulative Balance Unexpended

Authorized as of Year ended as of as of Year ended as of as of Balance as of

Program June 30, 2020 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2021

Capital Fund Program Grants:

GA06P006501-17   Capital Fund Program  2017 10,408,220$           1,005,965$           330,537$              1,336,502$           1,005,965$           330,537$              1,336,502$           -                         9,071,718$              

GA06P006501-18   Capital Fund Program  2018 16,140,505               -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                         16,140,505              

GA06P006501-19   Capital Fund Program  2019 16,398,914               287,472                 -                          287,472                 287,472                 -                          287,472                 -                         16,111,442                

GA01E006501-19   Capital Fund Program  2019 247,000                   -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                         247,000                  

GA06P006501-20   Capital Fund Program  2020 16,689,508              -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                         16,689,508             

GA06P006501-21   Capital Fund Program  2021 14,130,801                -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                         14,130,801               

Total Capital Fund Program Grants 74,014,948     1,293,437      330,537        1,623,974      1,293,437      330,537        1,623,974      -                         72,390,974    

HOPE VI Grants:

GA4A006CNG114 2014/2015 Choice Neighborhood Implementation Grant 30,000,000             12,945,946            1,029,767              13,975,714             13,207,564            768,150                  13,975,714             -                         16,024,286             

GA4A006CNP120 2020 Choice Neighborhood Implementation Grant 450,000                   -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                         450,000                  

Total HOPE VI Grants 30,450,000     12,945,946    1,029,767      13,975,714    13,207,564    768,150         13,975,714    -               16,474,286     

Replacement Housing Factor Grants:

* GA01R006502-17   RHF 2017-2 1,272,118                   708,286                 563,832                 1,272,118                1,272,118                -                          1,272,118                -                         -                 

Total Replacement Housing Factor Grants 1,272,118         708,286        563,831         1,272,118       1,272,118       -                1,272,118       -               -                 

Resident Opportunity & Self Sufficiency Grants:

* FSS20GA3292   ROSS 2020 276,021                    133,309                  142,712                   276,021                  160,274                  115,747                   276,021                  -                         -                                 

FSS21GA3965   ROSS 2021 276,021                    -                          178,138                   178,138                   -                          178,138                   178,138                   -                         97,883                     

Total Resident Opportunity & Self Sufficiency Grants 552,042          133,309         320,850        454,159         160,274         293,885        454,159         -                   97,883           

Total HUD-Funded Grants 106,289,108$  15,080,978$  2,244,986$   17,325,965$  15,933,393$  1,392,572$   17,325,965$  -$                 88,963,143$  

* Grants completed in year ended June 30, 2021

Grant Drawdown Expenditures
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GRANT NAME RHF Year 2017-2

PROJECT NUMBER GA01R006502-17

GRANT AWARD EFFECTIVE DATE* July 6, 2017

CONTRACT COMPLETION DATE July 1, 2020

BUDGET 1,272,118$               

ADVANCES 1,272,118$               

COSTS 1,272,118

EXCESS/(DEFICIENCY) OF ADVANCES DUE

TO/(FROM) HUD -$                           

AMOUNT TO BE RECAPTURED BY HUD -$                           

*Represents the LOCCS effective date.

The actual CFRG Cost Certificate is in agreement with AHA records.

The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia

SCHEDULE OF RHF PROGRAM COMPLETION

COSTS AND ADVANCES PROGRAM CERTIFICATION

Contract completed during the year ended June 30, 2021

All amounts due have been received and all liabilities have been paid and there are no 

undischarged liens (mechanics, laborers, contractors, or material-means) against the 

Project on file in any public office where the same should be filed in order to be valid. 

The time in which such liens could be filed has expired.
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GRANT NAME ROSS 2020

PROJECT NUMBER FSS20GA3292

GRANT AWARD EFFECTIVE DATE* March 2, 2020

CONTRACT COMPLETION DATE November 17, 2020

BUDGET 276,021$                  

ADVANCES 276,021$                  

COSTS 276,021

EXCESS/(DEFICIENCY) OF ADVANCES DUE

TO/(FROM) HUD -$                           

AMOUNT TO BE RECAPTURED BY HUD -$                           

*Represents the LOCCS effective date.

The actual CFRG Cost Certificate is in agreement with AHA records.

The Housing Authority of the City of Atlanta, Georgia

SCHEDULE OF ROSS PROGRAM COMPLETION

COSTS AND ADVANCES PROGRAM CERTIFICATION

Contract completed during the year ended June 30, 2021

All amounts due have been received and all liabilities have been paid and there are no 

undischarged liens (mechanics, laborers, contractors, or material-means) against the 

Project on file in any public office where the same should be filed in order to be valid. 

The time in which such liens could be filed has expired.
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STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 
As of June 30, 2012 to June 30, 2021 

 
 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 

CURRENT ASSETS           

Cash           

Unrestricted $   44,772,819 $   17,991,298 $   16,587,120 $   12,244,484 $   27,181,054 $   65,220,665 $   69,105,488 $   75,430,713 $   57,173,407 $   60,542,870 

Restricted 16,259,053 11,953,891 18,483,792 36,561,259 43,505,358 56,655,221 53,126,304 51,739,171 41,376,473 40,800,144 

Total cash 61,031,872 29,945,189 35,070,912 48,805,743 70,686,412 121,875,886 122,231,792 127,169,884 98,549,880 101,343,014 

Investments, short-term 5,265,200 78,639,957 71,827,395 73,195,197 18,999,225 – – – – 2,395,868 

Receivables, net of allowance 1,751,351 2,203,766 2,786,958 2,694,220 1,532,293 2,139,916 2,613,931 2,025,560 2,943,202 4,350,989 

Prepaid expense 1,415,908 1,360,389 860,114 1,079,981 992,051 1,166,983 1,065,152 1,072,733 988,049 2,311,642 

Total current assets 69,464,331 112,149,301 110,545,379 125,775,141 92,209,981 125,182,785 125,910,875 130,268,177 102,481,131 110,401,513 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS           

Investments, long-term 113,426,310 60,749,411 46,794,723 29,648,338 20,814,071 8,824,307 9,694,557 9,328,012 9,341,052 9,359,926 

Related-party development and other loans, 

development receivables and investments in 
partnerships, net of allowances 216,513,189 211,564,207 186,972,191 179,278,993 176,307,994 177,946,199 176,075,137 173,640,209 174,908,333 167,930,497 

Capital assets, net of accumulated 

depreciation 139,232,986 132,393,548 143,451,697 146,876,898 124,966,922 136,284,103 145,264,440 151,038,298 158,435,819 151,092,159 

Other non-current assets, net of allowance – – – – – 14,248,743 9,444,402 5,838,576 25,409,850 25,065,563 

Total non-current assets 469,172,485 404,707,166 377,218,611 355,804,229 322,088,987 337,303,352 340,478,536 339,845,095 368,095,054 353,448,145 

TOTAL ASSETS 538,636,815 516,856,467 487,763,990 481,579,370 414,298,968 462,486,137 466,389,411 470,113,272 470,576,185 463,849,658 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS – – 1,948,541 1,445,335 5,398,551 5,267,381 901,516 193,549 – – 

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED 

OUTFLOWS $   538,636,815  $ 516,856,467 $ 489,712,531 $ 483,024,705 $ 419,697,519 $ 467,753,518 $ 467,290,927 $ 470,306,821 $ 470,576,185 $ 463,849,658 

           
CURRENT LIABILITIES           

Accounts payable $     1,062,341 $        386,582 $        399,066 $        405,614 $        354,209 $        597,901 $        398,835 $        684,617 $     3,395,211 $     1,102,938 

Accrued liabilities 12,286,527 10,414,547 10,160,851 7,239,316 8,194,323 9,281,521 10,079,969 9,923,312 8,212,829 11,158,326 

Other current liabilities 6,644,820 6,847,809 6,607,108 7,354,440 7,460,174 7,743,869 8,281,552 8,058,007 7,989,674 7,713,304 

Current portion of long-term debt 122,363 137,763 115,057 244,371 238,685 254,268 223,177 198,878 463,396 – 

Total current liabilities 20,116,050 17,786,701 17,282,081 15,243,741 16,247,391 17,877,559 18,983,533 18,864,814 20,061,110 19,974,568 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES           

Long-term debt, net of current portion 1,596,593 3,152,290 3,290,053 5,616,792 5,861,163 8,312,280 8,566,548 8,789,725 8,988,602 9,293,862 

Other non-current liabilities 9,079,624 9,917,478 8,983,495 – 22,486 2,983,741 2,438,836 2,506,290 1,489,305 1,341,235 

Net pension plan liability 200,000 804,937 900,623 605,757 486,051 4,418,902 1,672,594 2,237,859 – – 

Total non-current liabilities 10,876,217 13,874,705 13,174,171 6,222,549 6,369,700 15,714,923 12,677,978 13,533,874 10,477,907 10,635,097 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 30,992,267 31,661,406 30,456,252 21,466,290 22,617,091 33,592,482 31,661,511 32,398,688 30,539,017 30,609,665 

DEFERRED INFLOWS – – 129,773 461,122 855,229 923,653 1,006,989 550,153 – – 

NET POSITION           

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 137,609,629 129,230,309 140,167,742 141,220,763 118,867,074 127,717,556 136,474,715 142,049,69  148,983,821 141,798,296 

Restricted–Notes receivable, HUD, 

program reserves 

 

223,035,374 

 

215,068,526 

 

252,458,484 

 

246,932,485 

 

241,011,264 

 

232,858,440 

 

228,405,882 

 

224,622,010 

 

215,762,032 

 

214,894,907 

Unrestricted 146,999,545 140,896,226 66,500,280 72,944,045 36,346,861 72,661,387 69,741,830 70,686,275 75,291,315 76,546,790 

Total net position 507,644,548 485,195,061 459,126,506 461,097,293 396,225,199 433,237,383 434,622,427 437,357,980 440,037,168 433,239,993 

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED 

INFLOWS AND NET POSITION $  538,636,815 $ 516,856,467 $ 489,712,531 $ 483,024,705 $ 419,697,519 $ 467,753,518 $ 467,290,927 $ 470,306,821 $ 470,576,185 $ 463,849,658 
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STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

Years ended June 30, 2012 to June 30, 2021 

 
 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 

OPERATING REVENUES           

MTW Single Fund used for operations $ 242,340,065 $ 230,786,504 $ 199,546,087 $ 234,207,383 $ 170,343,418 $ 183,182,507 $ 181,358,237 $ 198,835,971 $ 194,538,496 $ 196,943,569 

ARRA grant used for operations - – – – – – – – – 235,428 

Tenant dwelling revenue 4,167,416 4,831,385 5,099,216 5,364,571 5,834,563 6,065,683 5,876,474 5,794,940 5,595,112 5,435,556 

Development grants used for operations 930,873 3,370,670 4,600,841 2,733,981 1,603,084 3,364,537 1,779,653 1,360,826 1,871,668 3,302,837 

Fees earned from NHC 1,394,909 1,294,909 1,194,909 1,132,909 1,135,749 1,018,345 630,872 845,317 820,022 1,302,261 

Other operating revenues 5,494,486 7,429,967 3,241,820 3,414,887 3,465,853 2,824,867 1,558,848 3,486,292 4,068,455 2,715,078 

Total operating revenues 254,327,748 247,713,435 213,682,873 246,853,731 182,382,667 196,455,939 191,204,084 210,323,346 206,893,753 209,934,729 

OPERATING EXPENSES           

Housing assistance and operating subsidy 

payments 184,886,843 171,172,558 158,690,971 144,374,146 140,105,876 136,313,227 135,920,454 139,600,411 138,884,767 140,645,448 

Administration including direct operating 

divisions 50,770,769 53,145,313 43,182,736 44,933,456 40,840,372 35,245,986 35,469,507 42,153,856 49,021,007 47,326,831 

Utilities, maintenance and protective services 9,294,776 9,974,604 9,538,984 9,929,308 10,462,840 11,034,296 12,495,604 12,855,476 13,095,127 13,809,507 

Resident and participant services 3,212,816 3,082,812 3,177,038 3,253,123 3,443,628 3,161,177 3,214,506 2,888,452 3,614,930 4,033,862 

Revitalization, demolition and remediation 637,198 525,928 1,915,253 3,646,297 3,885,063 3,474,924 1,788,284 1,741,887 1,005,036 3,040,768 

General expenses 1,995,446 3,036,830 2,442,020 2,388,563 2,298,988 2,922,669 1,896,019 2,460,498 1,497,724 1,589,610 

Depreciation and amortization 6,615,296 5,995,576 7,014,817 7,189,426 8,706,718 9,579,660 11,905,128 14,769,400 11,252,920 7,724,701 

Total operating expenses 257,393,144 246,933,621 225,961,819 215,714,319 209,743,485 201,731,939 202,689,502 216,469,980 218,371,511 218,170,727 

NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (3,065,396) 779,814 (12,278,946) 31,139,412 (27,360,818) (5,276,000) (11,485,418) (6,146,634) (11,477,758) (8,235,998) 

NON-OPERATING REVENUES 

(EXPENSES) 

          

Interest Income on development and other 

loans 2,402,617 381,737 1,368,559 491,925 1,577,873 1,332,490 917,974 516,285 685,019 1,153,962 

Interest Income on investments 1,560,273 3,521,145 2,061,351 640,270 42,390 – – – – – 

Gain/(loss) on sale of assets 762,108 1,958,970 770,955 (8,895) (1,021,986) 555,253 (1,610,978) 3,073,744 (22,645) 7,570 

Valuation Allowance (5,003,720) (11,393,067) (10,532,612) (6,502,265) (16,748,120) (1,728,240) – (1,310,053) (367,413) (845,009) 

Interest expense (154,176) (216,750) (267,897) (315,422) (428,455) (434,013) (444,322) (461,699) (232,730) (713,807) 

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (432,898) (5,747,965) (6,599,644) (5,694,387) (16,578,298) (274,510) (1,137,326) 1,818,277 62,231 (397,284) 

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE CAPITAL 

CONTRIBUTIONS (3,498,293) (4,968,151) (18,878,590) 25,445,025 (43,939,116) (5,550,510) (12,622,744) (4,328,357) (11,415,527) (8,633,282) 

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS           

MTW Single Fund used for modernization of 

AH-Owned properties and capital 

expenditures 25,483,404 12,073,374 7,877,163 39,427,069 3,096,412 3,579,449 5,935,592 4,537,078 12,186,023 4,492,985 

Development grants used for development 

capital expenditures and loans 464,377 18,963,332 9,030,640 – 3,830,520 586,017 3,951,599 1,838,783 6,026,678 1,572,218 

Total capital contributions 25,947,781 31,036,706 16,907,803 39,427,069 6,926,932 4,165,466 9,887,191 6,375,861 18,212,701 6,065,203 

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET 

POSITION 22,449,488 26,068,555 (1,907,787) 64,872,094 (37,012,184) (1,385,044) (2,735,553) 2,047,504 6,797,174 (2,568,079) 

NET POSITION — beginning of year 485,195,061 459,126,506 461,097,293 396,225,199 433,237,383 434,622,427 437,357,980 440,037,168 433,239,993 435,808,072 

Change in accounting policy* – – – – – – – (4,726,691) – – 

NET POSITION — end of year $ 507,644,548  $ 485,195,061 $ 459,126,506 $ 461,097,293 $ 396,225,199 $ 433,237,383 $ 434,622,427 $ 437,357,981 $ 440,037,167 $ 433,239,993 

* During FY 2015, AH adopted the accounting standard under GASB No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pension and, accordingly, changed its accounting policy for its defined benefit pension plan, which was previously 

accounted for on a cash basis. Although the new pension accounting standard was adopted during FY 2015, amounts previously reported in FY 2014 financial statements were restated as if the standard had been adopted on July 1, 2013. 
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Families Served by Community & Program Type 
As of June 30, 2012 to June 30, 2021 

 

 

 

Community & Program Type Type of Assistance 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

AH-Owned Communities Public  Housing 1,261      1,261              1,586         1,586         1,793         1,932         1,942         1,942         1,942         1,943 

MIXED Communities 

(AH-Sponsored Communities) Public  Housing 1,562      1,562              2,155         2,155         2,221         2,221         2,221         2,522         2,471         2,471 

HomeFlex 1,521      1,358              1,521         1,543         1,543         1,780         1,748         1,387         1,409         1,327 

LIHTC-only 1,081      1,088              1,084         1,131         1,171         1,138         1,167         1,176         1,112         1,055 

RAD PBV 1,340      1,503                 423            423            149 

HomeFlex  Communities

(Stand Alone Communities) HomeFlex 4,841      4,803              4,230         4,012         3,447         3,271         3,244         3,040         2,949         2,953 

LIHTC-only 1,588      1,585              1,589         1,595         1,525         1,482         1,494         1,644         1,644         1,670 

Housing Choice Tenant-Based * Housing Choice Voucher 9,597      9,393              9,094         8,608         8,381         8,009         7,526         7,292         7,043         6,878 

Housing Choice Port-out Housing Choice Voucher 1,745      1,711              1,860         2,029         2,086         1,973         2,016         2,303         2,265         2,399 

Housing Choice Homeownership- 

Mortgage Assistance Housing Choice Voucher 17            18                          19               23               25               30               37               59               62               83 

Homeownership - Downpayment 

Assistance MTW 1,659      1,225                 993            724            553            472            384            315            277            246 

Short-Term Housing Assistance MTW 295          244                     380            215            199               26                -   

TOTAL      26,507      25,751      24,934      24,044      23,093      22,334      21,779      21,680      21,174      21,025 

* Included in this number are 531 participants searching for a unit.
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Number of Households by Income Group (percent of Area Median Income (“AMI”)) 
As of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 

 

 
The total number of  households in 2021 that were earning 50% or less than Area Median Income (AMI) was 20,584 or 96% of  total households. 
The 854 remaining households, or 4% of  total households, were earning more than 50% of  AMI. 
 
NOTE: 

* AH does not capture household characteristics for LIHTC-only units within MIXED and HomeFlex communities. 

 

 

 

 

≤ 30% 
AMI

31 - 50% 
AMI

51 - 80% 
AMI

> 80% 
AMI

Total
≤ 30% 
AMI

31 - 50% 
AMI

51 - 80% 
AMI

> 80% 
AMI

Total # Change % Change

AH-Owned Communities 1,099 117 11 3 1,230 1,100 89 12 4 1,205 -25 -2.0%

MIXED Communities* 1,978 683 155 16 2,832 2,260 617 127 13 3,017 185 6.5%

RAD PBV Conversions 963 248 67 9 1,287 1,017 202 38 6 1,263 -24 -1.9%

HomeFlex Communities* 3,424 1,012 135 4 4,575 3,710 787 92 5 4,594 19 0.4%

Housing Choice: Tenant-Based 6,489 2,230 620 54 9,393 7,032 2,025 523 34 9,614 221 2.4%

Housing Choice Port Out 1,459 212 39 1 1,711 1,745 0 0 0 1,745 34 2.0%

Totals:     15,412       4,502       1,027             87        21,028     16,864       3,720          792             62        21,438 410            1.9%

Community & Program Type

FY 2020 Households by Income Group FY 2021 Households by Income Group 2020 vs 2021
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Number of Households by Family Size 

As of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 

 

 
 

NOTE: 

* AH does not capture household characteristics for LIHTC-only units within MIXED and HomeFlex communities. 

 

1 

Member

2 

Member

3 

Member

4 

Member

5+ 

Member
Total

1 

Member

2 

Member

3 

Member

4 

Member

5+ 

Member
Total

# 

Change

% 
Change

AH-Owned Communities 1,099 78 15 14 24 1,230 1,081 75 12 14 23 1,205 -25 -2.0%

MIXED Communities* 1,617 559 355 183 118 2,832 1,723 601 369 195 129 3,017 185 6.5%

RAD PBV Conversions 797 234 146 64 46 1,287 819 215 141 52 36 1,263 -24 -1.9%

HomeFlex 

Communities*
3,353 823 241 104 54 4,575 3,344 844 249 104 53 4,594 19 0.4%

Housing Choice: Tenant-

Based
2,955 2,372 1,747 1,179 1,140 9,393 3,091 2,387 1,804 1,190 1,142 9,614 221 2.4%

Housing Choice Port 

Out
337 309 327 362 376 1,711 350 311 334 370 380 1,745 34 2.0%

Totals: 10,158 4,375 2,831 1,906 1,758 21,028 10,408 4,433 2,909 1,925 1,763 21,438 410 1.9%

Community & Program 

Type

FY 2020 Households by Family Size FY 2021 Households by Family Size 2020 vs 2021
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Number of Households by Unit Size 

As of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 

 

 
 

NOTE: 

* AH does not capture household characteristics for LIHTC-only units within MIXED and HomeFlex communities. 

 
 

0/1 BRs 2 BRs 3 BRs 4 BRs 5+ BRs Total 0/1 BRs 2 BRs 3 BRs 4 BRs 5+ BRs Total
# 

Change

% 
Change

AH-Owned 1,137 45 19 29 0 1,230 1,114 45 20 26 0 1,205 -25 -2.0%

MIXED 1,276 1,153 377 27 0 2,833 1,368 1,209 413 27 0 3,017 184 6.5%

RAD PBV 

Conversions
736 354 177 19 0 1,286 776 317 153 17 0 1,263 -23 -1.8%

HomeFlex 2,985 1,387 199 4 0 4,575 3,009 1,381 199 5 0 4,594 19 0.4%

Housing Choice: 

Tenant-Based
2,323 3,423 2,770 758 119 9,393 2,470 3,449 2,788 907 0 9,614 221 2.4%

Housing Choice: 

Ports
329 563 604 184 31 1,711 1,745 0 0 0 0 1,745 34 2.0%

Totals: 8,786 6,925 4,146 1,021 150 21,028 10,482 6,401 3,573 982 0 21,438 410 1.9%

FY 2020 Households by Unit Size FY 2021 Households by Unit Size 2020 vs 2021
Community & 

Program Type
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Full-Time Employees by Department 

As of June 30, 2019 to June 30, 2021 

 

 

Personnel Summary* 2021 2020 2019

Operating Divisions

Housing Choice Administration 17 12 11

Housing Services 51 60 63

Inspections Services 29 24 24

Real Estate Operations 2 4 1

Real Estate Asset & Property Management 19 19 8

Real Estate Planning & Development 16 14 15

Real Estate Transactions Management & Capital Markets 9 8 12

Construction and Facilities Management** 17 11 11

Total Operating Divisions 160 152 145

Corporate Support

Executive Office 2 2 2

Office of Chief Operating Officer 2 1 2

Office of General Counsel 14 12 13

Corporate Finance 21 16 15

Information Technology, Record & Information Management** 43 46 39

Office of Strategy, Policy & Regulatory Affairs 13 12 20

Government, External Affairs & Human Development 23 22 21

Communications, Marketing & Public Engagement 8 8 6

Contracts & Procurement 16 14 12

Human Resources 8 9 5

Total Corporate Support 150 142 135

Choice Neighborhoods 11 12 12

Grand Total 321 306 292

** Transfer of employees between these departments in 2021 while prior year information was unadjusted.

*  Information reflects full-time regular headcount in payroll system on the last day of each fiscal year. 
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Metro Atlanta Key Economic Indicators 

Years 2011 to 2019* 

 

 
 

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

 

Population1 5,366,462 5,444,473 5,510,530 5,593,204 5,686,048 5,787,965 5,872,432 5,945,303 6,020,364 

Annual Net Population Gain 63,864 78,011 66,057 82,674 92,844 101,917 84,467 72,871 75,061 

Annual Growth Rate 1.2% 1.5% 1.2% 1.5% 1.7% 1.8% 1.5% 1.2% 1.3% 

 

Labor Force2 2,760,194 2,791,002 2,789,870 2,800,382 2,835,028 2,936,885 3,029,401 3,056,740 3,090,100 

Employment2 2,486,895 2,545,474 2,572,589 2,611,988 2,672,682 2,786,479 2,892,848 2,941,061 2,989,672 

Unemployment Rate2 9.9% 8.8% 7.8% 6.7% 5.7% 5.1% 4.5% 3.8% 3.2% 

Nonagricu ltu ra l Employment 2 2,312,100 2,354,900 2,415,100 2,503,900 2,582,700 2,665,300 2,727,800 2,785,600 2,849,400 

Annual Net Job Creation 2 35,900 42,800 60,200 88,800 78,800 82,600 62,500 57,800 63,800 

Annual Growth Rate 1.6% 1.9% 2.6% 3.7% 3.1% 3.2% 2.3% 2.1% 2.3% 

 
Gross Domestic Product (billions, current dollars)3 $277.4 $287.6 $299.9 $319.9 $340.3 $361.2 $380.2 $397.3 TBD 

Total Personal Income (billions)3 $219.1 $226.6 $230.5 $250.3 $266.0 $278.2 $295.3 $312.2 TBD 

Per Capita Persona l Income3 $40,825 $41,625 $41,817 $44,744 $46,757 $48,052 $50,269 $52,473 TBD 

 
Total Housing Units Authorized by Building Permits4 8,634 14,380 24,297 26,683 30,342 36,357 33,832 39,441 32,729 

Single Family 6,214 9,167 14,824 16,984 19,995 23,100 24,973 26,506 26,166 

Multifamily & Apartments 2,420 5,213 9,473 9,699 10,347 13,257 8,859 12,935 6,563 

 

Hartsfield -Jackson Atlanta International Airport 5  

Total Operations (takeoffs & landings) 923,996 930,310 911,074 868,359 882,497 898,356 880,342 895,682 904,301 

Total Passengers 92,389,023 95,513,828 94,431,224 96,178,899 101,491,106 104,171,935 103,934,717 107,394 ,029 110,531,300 

Internationa l Passengers 9,856,954 9,854,343 10,258,133 10,784,219 11,233,303 11,475,615 12,065,290 12,501,023 12,655,294 

Total Freight (metric tons) 663,162 654,013 616,365 601,270 626,201 648,595 691,269 693,790 639,276 

 

*Note: No data available for 2020 or 2021 

 
Sources: 

1: Population figures for 2011–2019 are July 1 annual estimates by the U.S. Census Bureau; April 1, 2010 Census count was 5,286,728; all population figures based on 29-county Atlanta MSA delineation 

2: Georgia Department of Labor; U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, not seasonally adjusted 

3: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, current dollars 

4: U.S. Census Bureau, Manufacturing & Construction Division 

5: Hartsfield-Jackson Atlanta International Airport 
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Metro Atlanta Top Twenty Employers 

Years 2018–2019* 

 

 

*Note: No data available for 2020 or 2021 

Source: https://www.metroatlantachamber.com/assets/top_employers_2018_2019_1_23_19_6a7P4J4.pdf 
 

 

https://www.metroatlantachamber.com/assets/top_employers_2018_2019_1_23_19_6a7P4J4.pdf
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